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1  Average total monthly audience 29.6 million. Source IBM (Digital) and Matrix (Print). Internal Johnston Press analytic tools.
2  Source Matrix (Print).
3  Source IBM (Digital).

Johnston Press is one of the largest local 
and regional multimedia organisations in 
the UK. We provide news and information 
services to local and regional communities 
through our extensive portfolio of 
hundreds of publications and websites. 

1.1bn 
web page views

29.6m 
Average  
total monthly 
audience

20.8m 
Monthly digital 
audience1

Digital 
The Group has 186 
news sites and 17 
other sites, including 
entertainment site 
WOW247 and 
Jobstoday.

Our average 
monthly digital 
audience is 20.8 
million1. Our 
average monthly 
print audience is 
8.8 million1.

Nationally
We sold 106 million 
paid for copies  
and distributed  
39 million free 
copies2. 

Our digital 
products had 
over 1.1 billion 
page views3. 

236 
Publications  
in total

Print
Our portfolio 
contains 185 paid for 
weekly newspapers, 
13 paid for daily 
newspapers, 28  
free titles and ten 
lifestyle magazines.

145m 
Copies 
distributed

203 
Websites  
in total

The Scotsman refresh - page 13

1XL - page 15

New websites - page 12 Acquisition of i - page 8
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Our titles span Scotland, the 
North East, West Yorkshire, 
the North West & Isle of Man, 
South Yorkshire, the South, 
Midlands and Northern 
Ireland – delivering extensive 
coverage of local news, 
events and information.

JOHNSTON PRESS 
TITLE PRESENCE
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TOTAL REVENUE

£245.1m
-8.8%

PROFIT/(LOSS) BEFORE TAX

£2.9m
+112.1%

NET DEBT

£146.1m
-20.9%

2014  £268.8m 2014  -£23.9m 2014  £184.6m

2015  £245.1m 2015  £146.1m2015  £2.9m

As one of the UK’s largest media companies we have kept pace  
in an ever-changing industry, transforming and adapting to meet 
the needs of our audiences whilst delivering a consistent and 
effective strategy. 

With an average monthly audience of nearly 30 million2 people, 
quality has never been more important. We have executed  
a number of initiatives this year, and will continue to develop  
our product portfolio as a priority.

We simplified our print portfolio this year to enable greater focus 
on those brands with a strong digital presence in their markets. 

Our local news teams, reorganised under the Newsroom of the 
Future initiative, are working together like never before to ensure 
we are sharing ideas, content and best practice to meet the 
demands of the constantly-changing media landscape.

While the new digital-first world means news is published  
instantly, something audiences already take for granted, it also 
enables a more sophisticated approach to delivering the most 
engaging news. We are now using real-time analytics to enable 
journalists to immediately identify the popular most read  
stories and adapt accordingly. 

In September, The Scotsman was refreshed across all platforms 
and The Yorkshire Post website followed suit towards the end of 
the year. Both sites are now fully responsive and give users a better, 
faster experience on whatever device they are using. Additional 
improved websites, including those of The Star in Sheffield and  
The News in Portsmouth, were introduced at the start of 2016  
and a rolling programme of further website enhancements  
is underway.

Our entertainment platform WOW247 – targeting the all-important 
millennial audience – also relaunched on a fully-responsive website 
and hit a significant milestone just three months after launch.

We simplified our advertising product range to help customers 
more easily choose what service best helps their business – and 
ensured our teams were armed with the right tools and training  
to fully support our customers’ needs. Our local display, features 
and entertainment sales teams came together for the first time in 
October to identify the opportunities for growth heading into 2016.

We are reaping the rewards through our innovative, collaborative 
digital advertising platform 1XL, which is already outperforming 
expectations just one year after its launch (see case study on page 15) 
and further bolstering our position as a truly multi-media business.

The statutory highlights include closed titles and businesses, week 53 (in 2014), 
exceptional items and mark-to-market gains on the bond. A reconciliation of the 
statutory to adjusted figures is provided on page 110.

At a Glance

2015 Statutory Highlights

Throughout 2015 we delivered compelling content across our media portfolio 
and offered relevant advertising opportunities to our business customers. 

 Our audiences have never been 
 greater. Our print titles are read by 
 9.3 million readers and our website 
 audiences continue to grow – now 
 boasting 22.6 million unique users.1 

1 December 2015 print audience (Source: Matrix), December 2015 digital audience (Source: IBM).
2 Average total monthly audience 29.6 million. (Source: IBM (Digital) and Matrix (Print). Internal Johnston Press analytic tools).
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TOTAL REVENUE

£242.3m
-6.8%

PRINT ADVERTISING REVENUE

£118.1m
-11.9%

 
DIGITAL REVENUE

£30.6m
+12.4%

 
OPERATING MARGIN

20.9%
-0.7%

 
DIGITAL % OF REVENUE

12.6%
+20.6%

 
PROFIT BEFORE TAX

£31.5m
+22.7%

EBITDA

£57.3m
-4.8%

OPERATING PROFIT

£50.6m
-7.5%

TOTAL AUDIENCE

29.6m
+10.0%

NET DEBT  
EXCLUDING MARK-TO-MARKET1

£179.4m
-7.6%

 
PENSION DEFICIT

£27.0m
-70%

PROFORMA BASIC EARNINGS  
PER SHARE

23.7p
+30.4%

2014  £260.0m

2014  £134.0m

2014  £27.2m 2014  21.0%

2014  10.5% 2014  £25.7m

2014  £60.2m

2014  £54.7m 2014  £194.2m

2014  26.8m

2014  £90.0m

2014  18.2p

2015  £242.3m

2015  £118.1m

2015  £30.6m 2015  20.9%

2015  12.6% 2015  £31.5m

2015  £57.3m

2015  £50.6m 2015  £179.4m

2015  29.6m

2015  £27.0m

2015  23.7p

Profit before tax of £31.5 million (22.7% year-on-year improvement).  
Net debt, excluding mark-to-market, reduced by £14.8 million to £179.4 million. 

Unless otherwise stated all figures and growth rates presented are adjusted. A reconciliation of the statutory to adjusted figures  
is provided on page 110. 

2015 Adjusted Highlights

1 Refer to Financial Review (page 27) for a reconciliation between statutory net debt and net debt excluding mark-to-market.
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STRATEGY
Digital growth (audiences and revenues) remains key to our 
long-term future. 2015 saw further growth in digital revenues, up 
12.4% year-on-year, underpinned by a 99% increase in national 
digital revenues following the launch of 1XL, our national digital 
advertising network, operated in collaboration with other media 
owners. Our focus on audience growth has seen an 24% increase  
in our average unique browsers year-on-year – with particularly 
strong growth amongst mobile users. Our continued progress  
in driving the digital transformation has been achieved against  
a backdrop of a further shift (part structural, part economic) away 
from print advertising from spring 2015 onwards. 

2016 will see us focus on and invest in our primary brands, 
operating in growth markets with attractive audiences, with  
an emphasis being put on national and local display advertising.  
The review and refocus of our portfolio has led us to close or  
merge some titles and exit low marginal digital products. Our 
‘Newsroom of the Future’ project in 2015 saw the realignment  
of our newsrooms to better serve their communities and digital 
audiences, and we are currently undertaking a reorganisation  
of our sales organisation to improve customer service to key 
accounts and reduce cost to serve for low spending accounts.

RESULTS
The Group saw improving revenue trends in 2014 and in quarter 
one of 2015. The run up to the General Election saw trading  
slow down and the anticipated post-election recovery did not 
materialise, with print revenues remaining soft through the year. 
Action was taken to cut costs and maintain profit as it became 
clear that the UK’s economic performance remains uneven  
outside London. 

Revenues were down 6.8% from £260.0 million in 2014, to £242.3 
million. Total advertising revenue (combined print and digital) was 
down 7.8% to £148.7 million in 2015. Print advertising was down 
11.9% from £134.1 million to £118.1 million, while digital revenues 
grew 12.4% year-on-year from £27.2 million to £30.6 million.

Newspaper sales revenue, was down 7.0% from £77.8 million  
to £72.4 million. 

Once again the Group delivered an effective cost performance with 
operating costs (including depreciation and amortisation) reducing 
to £191.7 million from £205.3 million in 2014, reflecting our ongoing 
cost control while also making strategic investments, particularly  
in our digital business. 

Operating profit was £50.6 million, a £4.1 million decrease on the 
prior year. EBITDA of £57.3 million was achieved in 2015, compared 
to £60.2 million in 2014. The Group’s strong operating margin has 
been maintained, decreasing slightly from 21.0% to 20.9% 
year-on-year. 

Proforma adjusted basic earnings per share, was 23.7 pence, 
compared to 18.2 pence in 2014 (refer to the Financial Review  
on page 26 for further detail). 

Net debt, excluding bond mark-to-market, was £179.4 million, 
compared to £194.2 million at the end of 2014.

More information on the adjusted items can be found in the 
Financial Review section of this report and the reconciliation  
of statutory to adjusted items on page 110.

Chairman’s Statement

The industry faced continued downward pressure on its print advertising 
revenue. The relentless pace of change continues and we have worked 
hard to remain at the forefront of digital development in our markets. 
We have restructured our business, removing a layer of regional 
management, and reshaped how our regional newsrooms operate  
to prepare them for the future in which digital will be ever-more 
prominent. We will now do the same to our sales operations.

 In 2015 the Group has delivered  
 adjusted operating profit of  
 £50.6 million, restructured its 
 business and reduced its debt 
 and pension liabilities. 
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PENSIONS LIABILITIES
The Group conducted a pension study to understand better its 
long-term pension liability. The study looked at the proportion  
of males and female members, the number of members with 
spouses and the age and health of the members surveyed.  
As a result of the study, at 2 January 2016, the IAS 19 accounting 
pension deficit stood at £27.0 million, a reduction of £63.0 million.

DIVIDEND
The provisions of our bonds restrict the Company’s ability to pay 
ordinary dividends until certain conditions are met. The Board 
wishes to resume ordinary dividend payments as soon as is 
appropriate, but no ordinary dividend is proposed for the year.

INDUSTRY ISSUES
The Independent Press Standards Organisation (IPSO), which  
we joined on launch in 2014, has operated throughout the year. We 
believe it has offered an effective and economic system to address 
complaints in our industry – accessible for complainants and 
proportionate to local newspapers. We are as yet unconvinced by 
proposals to extend IPSO’s remit to the provision of arbitration 
services. 2015 has also seen the start of the process to renew the 
BBC’s charter. Through the News Media Association we are making 
the case for a co-operative relationship which sees the local press 
recognised and rewarded for the quality local content that it is 
uniquely well placed to provide. 

BOARD
During a period of enormous change it has been a great benefit  
to have the guidance of a stable and experienced Board and  
I would like to thank my Board colleagues for their work 
throughout the year. We have indicated previously that, following 
the Company’s refinancing, we would look at the process of 
renewing Board membership and we are pursuing this process 
during 2016. Stephen van Rooyen will step down from the Board  
at the end of our forthcoming Annual General Meeting. He has 
made an enormous contribution to the Group over the past three 
years and, on behalf of the Board, I would like to thank him for this.

The Board has now recommenced the process for renewal of  
its membership and anticipates the appointment of at least one 
new Non-Executive Director during 2016 following the decision of 
Mr van Rooyen not to seek re-election at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting. In considering candidates to fill Board vacancies, 
the Nomination Committee has regard to the benefits of, and the 
need to encourage, diversity (including gender) within the Board’s 
membership and this is a specific consideration of the recruitment 
process and is included in the Committee’s terms of reference.

The Board regularly reviews both the balance of its membership 
and the issues it considers when it meets. The agenda for the 
Board’s meetings continue to be structured in such a way as to 
scrutinise both strategic and operational matters in an atmosphere 
of constructive challenge and debate. I am satisfied that the Board 
remains effective.

EMPLOYEES
We are exceptionally well served by our colleagues across the 
locations where we operate. 2015 has seen significant change  
and we are well aware of the commitment and hard work of our 
employees. Once again, the Board wishes to thank them for their 
efforts. They are essential to our future and to the central role that 
we wish to continue to play in communities across the country.

OUTLOOK
The sector experienced tough trading conditions in the second  
half of 2015 and this has continued into the early part of 2016.  
The outlook for 2016 remains challenging, and we are maintaining 
our focus on those areas which can deliver the greatest benefits 
while continuing to innovate our product portfolio and our editorial 
and sales processes. Total revenues for the eight week period to 
27 February 2016 were down 13% against strong year-on-year 
comparatives in the first quarter of 2015, which in line with the 
sector weakened substantially during the second half of 2015.  
We remain focused on driving increased audiences and providing 
creative solutions for our advertisers. We will also continue to 
explore opportunities for the disposal of assets, with a view to 
deleveraging the balance sheet and further cutting financing costs.

On 12 February 2016, we announced the proposed acquisition  
of the i newspaper, a business which has a growing circulation 
income and an attractive audience and customer base. The 
acquisition, which was approved by shareholders on 21 March 2016, 
will provide the Group with significantly increased scale, a national 
footprint, and add a major brand to its portfolio.

Ian Russell
Chairman

Digital growth (audiences and revenues) 
remains key to our long-term future. 
2015 saw further growth in digital 
revenues, up 12.4% year-on-year.
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Not only did we see significant change  
across the press and media industry but we 
implemented one of the biggest structural 
changes within our own business to allow us  
to be better positioned for growth heading  
into 2016. 

Chief Executive Officer’s Report

 Johnston Press is now 
 a more agile business, 
 with digital at its heart. 
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TOTAL AUDIENCE

29.6m
+10.0%

REVIEW OF THE YEAR
Throughout last year our core purpose and strategy remained on 
track in the challenging environment. 

We sharpened our focus on our growth strategy and cost reduction 
programmes that, whilst delivering part benefit in 2015, will only be 
fully realised throughout 2016. We carefully managed costs, paid off 
more of our debt and invested in our key markets. 

Signs of improving advertising trends in the early part of 2015 were 
halted by an unexpected downturn in spring – with property and 
jobs particularly affected. 

However, certain business sectors are worthy of mention for 
delivering growth. The performance of 1XL – the digital advertising 
exchange partnership – is particularly pleasing. Our National display 
revenues (print and digital) were up 11.8% year-on-year driven by  
a 99% increase in revenue from 1XL, which has gained real traction 
in its first full year of trading. Overall, digital revenue grew by 12.4% 
following significant investment throughout 2015. 

Our Media Sales Centre (MSC) delivered strong results in  
2015 – achieving growth for the second year in a row. The MSC 
covers the increasingly important tele-sales operations for the  
company, and includes such areas as Births, Marriages & Deaths 
announcements, Public Notices & other classified advertisements 
across print and online.

Against declining market trends, BMD and Public Notice revenue 
saw gains of 11% and 8% respectively. In Other Classified our 
commitment to engage customers with JP’s growing digital 
portfolio saw year-on-year growth of almost 100% – with mobile 
and desktop display being the main drivers. 

Underpinned by focused productivity and a real service level 
efficiency drive (introduced by the management team), both the 
Sheffield and Edinburgh MSC teams entered 2016 well placed  
to continue the success of the last two years. This will be further 
enhanced by the restructuring of the Digital Kitbag team and  
the absorption of transactional display business.

Our Printing Division continues to flourish, winning £12.8 million 
worth of new contracts to print the Daily Express, Daily Star, Daily 
Star Sunday and Sunday Express at Dinnington, near Sheffield. 

In addition new business was secured with Tindle Newspapers  
to print their flagship title, The Farnham Herald, all of which 
contributed to growing external contract print revenues by 11.4% 
year-on-year.

The Company has also renegotiated a number of key contracts, 
including the outsourcing of its in-house advertising creation team 
and its advertising production and software development contract.

DIGITAL PRODUCT DEVELOPMENT
We launched a number of new digital products and repositioned 
some of our largest sites to respond to the growth of our mobile and 
social audiences. We relaunched Scotsman.com to coincide with  
a print redesign on a responsive platform which automatically 
optimises for mobile, tablet and computer screens. At the same time, 
we launched new native apps for mobile and tablet devices that offer 
advanced capabilities, targeting and messaging to our readers.

These new products have seen strong growth of users and revenue 
offered by these more modern and mobile-oriented products. The 
rollout of this platform and apps continues in 2016, with new sites 
introduced at The Star (Sheffield), The News (Portsmouth), The 
Yorkshire Post and a further 15 totally responsive sites and apps  
due to be in place by the end of April 2016, and a rollout that will 
continue to our titles with the best audience and commercial 
potential in 2016. 

Across Johnston Press, we have also launched a number of new 
commercial products aimed at offering new opportunities for 
advertisers to reach their customers, including through VoiceLocal, 
a native advertising offering that leverages our content-creation 
capabilities and integrates commercial content into our offerings. 

In Q4, we also launched an automated program, BoostLocal, which 
allows an advertiser to digitise its print advertising and publish it for 
local discovery on our sites, as well as to contribute to the business’ 
search engine optimisation efforts. 

Our WOW247 entertainment platform was re-developed and 
launched in May, now with more than 300 contributors across  
the UK in 13 city editions who created 7,500 articles, reached  
by 750,000 unique users in January 2016.

DIGITAL % OF REVENUE

12.6% 
+20.6%

PROFORMA  
BASIC EARNINGS  
PER SHARE

23.7p 
+30.4%

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

£31.5m
+22.7%

TOTAL REVENUE

£242.3m
-6.8%

DIGITAL REVENUE 

£30.6m
+12.4%
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Chief Executive Officer’s Report continued

BUSINESS CHANGE PROJECTS
During 2015, we also saw significant change within our editorial 
function – following the implementation of our Newsroom of the 
Future initiative to help us to respond to the rapidly-changing 
audience demands for the information we provide them.

Our ‘Salesforce of the Future’ initiative is now also gaining traction, 
with deployment expected to start in the first half of 2016. We are 
restructuring the sales teams based on high and low value 
customer segments and transferring low value, highly infrequent 
transactional customers into a new team in the MSC to allow our 
sales teams to fully focus on the higher yield customers. 

The pilot for the Salesforce of the Future project is currently 
underway and is testing:
• the performance benefits of aligning salespeople to the  

high and medium-value customer segments;
• the ability of the MSC to service the low value/infrequent 

transactional customer segment and the business  
performance benefit; and

• the performance benefit of creating a new customer  
acquisition team.

EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT
In January the introduction of our ‘One JP’ engagement initiative 
signalled a step-change in our culture and, throughout the first  
half of the year, every team member in every part of the business 
had the chance to share the Company values and vision through 
dozens of workshops.

I’m delighted to report that over 80% of our employees took part  
in these sessions and, as a result, we are working together like never 
before – putting quality, innovation, creativity and outstanding 
service at the heart of this business.

We simplified our leadership structure to ensure we work more 
effectively as one team with a single vision. These changes are 
helping us create and share content better across the organisation 
and speed up how we take advertising products to customers in  
a more consistent way, in order to deliver overall revenue growth. 

PRIORITIES FOR 2016
Our focus this year is to develop our primary news brands,  
stabilise circulation revenues and build both our national display 
advertising and our local display, features and entertainment 
(LDFE) advertising revenue income, in integrated ‘print plus online’ 
offerings to our advertisers. 

We will, therefore, concentrate on attractive geographies, serving 
more defined audience groups that represent the best opportunities 
for growth, both digitally and in print, and target higher value 
display advertising customers. 

We intend to continue to invest in both digital and print products, 
though we will focus resources on brands and markets where we 
believe the best returns will be derived. 

We have identified a number of news brands that are now 
considered non-core and such will be either divested or run with 
less costs, reflecting the medium-term outlook for the identified 
assets that fall into this category. 

The Company will run a formal process, with advisers, to market 
defined asset groups for sale during 2016. Interest by third parties, 
enquiring about assets, has been encouraging so far.

i ACQUISITION
As this Annual Report went to press we were poised to take 
ownership of our first national newspaper the i – a transformational 
acquisition for Johnston Press and an important step towards 
delivering our long-term strategy. The acquisition of the i was 
approved by shareholders, with 99.85% of those votes cast being  
in favour of the transaction, on 21 March 2016.

The i is a highly regarded newspaper with a clear market position 
and a loyal readership. By joining with Johnston Press the 
combined circulation will be equal to 9% of national daily 
circulation, making us the fourth-largest player in the national 
newspaper market. 

With our considerable digital experience, the combination  
of Johnston Press and the i will also allow us to grow digital 
audiences and revenues through the creation of inews.co.uk.

The acquisition will offer: 
• Increased scale: Greater reach improves ability to gain greater 

share of national advertising market.
• Growing revenues: the i has growing circulation revenues,  

and new opportunities arise from the proposed digital product, 
new geographic markets and from cross-selling JP to the i’s 
advertiser base and vice-versa.

• Accelerated digital transformation: Leveraging JP’s digital 
expertise to fully realise the i brand across digital platforms;  
the extensive JP network enables cross-promotion to  
grow audiences at minimal cost; the regionally-oriented  
digital display network 1XL is enhanced by the addition  
of a national brand.

The key financial benefits: 
• Earnings enhancing.
• Strong cash generation.
• Cost savings and revenue synergies.

SUMMARY
Four years ago, when I joined Johnston Press, I set out to create the 
right team and culture to transform this business and I truly believe 
that the Company is now where it needs to be, with attractive 
news brands and commercial products, loyal audiences across 
print and online, and structured in the right way to take market 
share and return to overall growth. 

Ashley Highfield
Chief Executive Officer



09JOHNSTON PRESS PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2015

D
irecto

rs’ G
o

vern
an

ce
Fin

an
cial S

tatem
en

ts
S

trateg
ic R

ep
o

rt

MARKET TRENDS
Our strategy ensures that we can remain competitive and 
responsive to the needs of our market; we are well positioned to 
benefit from an improving economic environment and to provide 
innovative new products to both existing and new customers.  
We have identified six key market trends that are changing  
our marketplace. 

• Mobile is continuing to grow and is becoming the first screen  
of use for most people and represented 42% of our total page 
views, in December 2015. Mobile will cease to be the preserve  
of the young, as the older ‘wealth generation’ catches up with 
the benefits of the smartphone and tablet. This emerging 
change in behaviour is consistent with our priority audience 
focus. Monetising this growth is a key priority.

• Publishers are innovating through better contextual and native 
digital advertising formats in order to offer an alternative (and 
charge a premium) to programmatic networks. We have invested 
in our capability in this area and are continuing to do so.

• As Google and Facebook enhance their localisation capability 
this gives us an opportunity to sell these services into our SME 
(small and medium enterprise) customers.

• Content marketing will continue to be a strong trend and we 
are well positioned to capitalise on this opportunity given our 
heritage of journalistic quality.

• Newsrooms have been transformed to better cater for audience 
groups by enabling real-time digital journalism and quality ‘User 
Generated Content’, which will continue to grow substantially  
in the coming years.

• The UK’s newspaper market is entering a new era. Whilst The 
Independent and Independent on Sunday have closed as print 
titles, the i which we have purchased increased its circulation 
revenue by 24.2%1. Nikkei bought the FT Group from Pearson 
and Trinity Mirror acquired Local World. Trinity also launched  
a new daily newspaper, New Day. Johnston Press’ acquisition  
of i was hailed as a bold potentially transformational step.  
This new landscape of press ownership shows how media 
companies need to start thinking more about consumers and 
their needs and cater for them in the format in which they want 
to consume their news. Print is certainly not dead, but it does  
need to adapt. According to research and advisory firm Enders, 
content publishers will increasingly experiment with vertical 
models and membership models for a range of services.

Market Trends

 Media consumption is changing.  
 Life’s local focus isn’t. 

1  Source: The i Circular to the Shareholders. Newspaper sales revenue September 2015 vs September 2014.

Gavin Francis wins his Pancake Race, at the annual Shrove Tuesday 
Celebrations at Leeds Minster, Simon Hulme, The Yorkshire Post.
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Audience

Advertisers

Multimedia 
platform

Local focus National coverage

Audience Strategy
Grow digital engagement and slow print 
decline through: 
• Insight: Audience-centric proposition  

for each priority brand.
• Content: Better multi-platform content 

strategy for each brand. Focus on local. 
Focus on quality. Focus on sharing ideas 
and content.

• Products: Simpler, flexible, device 
responsive, real-time web and mobile.

Commercial Strategy
To develop new products and services or 
leverage third party product and services  
that meet the needs of the markets we  
serve through:
• Insight: Develop ever greater understanding 

of our markets, customer needs and 
opportunities and align our sales force  
to customer needs.

• Service: Reduce customer  
churn through improved end to end 
customer service.

• Scale: Grow national business through 
through acquisition, partnership and by 
leveraging our mass localisation capability 
and design solutions for major brands.

• Digital: Offer digital and mobile  
solutions that meet the changing  
needs of our customers.

EXTERNAL 
MARKET 
FACTORS 
AFFECTING 
OUR FUTURE

OUR CUSTOMER  
PROPOSITION

How We Achieve This

To be the best, most engaging platform for 
local news and information in our markets, to 
be the best advertising and marketing partner 
for small and medium enterprises (SMEs),  
and to enable ‘Mass Localisation’ across all  
our communities for national brands.

Increased  
use of digital  
versus print

Economic 
environment

Increasing 
materials  
cost

Life is local

Societal 
change

Transforming Local Media

Business Model & Strategy

 Our strategy is focused on  
 developing a sustainable  
 business model. 
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products
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Growth Cities
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Higher Yield,
National & 

Digital
Advertisers

Circulation Revenues 
Our audiences continue to 
consume our content through 
either our daily or weekly printed 
products, the majority of which 
are actively purchased.

Advertising Revenues 
Local and national businesses  
who want to reach our local 
audiences buy advertising space  
in print and online. 

SME Marketing  
Services Revenues 
We are leveraging our existing 
SME relationships to deliver  
new digital products and  
services to our customers.  
SME marketing services are  
a growing revenue stream. 

Leveraging our Business 
Model to return business  
to profitable growth

Revenue

HOW WE GENERATE 
REVENUE

OUR STRATEGIC 
PRIORITIES

01
Building Audiences

02 
Grow Digital

03 
Focus on Return to  
Growth Opportunities

04 
Manage Costs 

05
Grow Profitability

06
Pay Down our Debt

OUR AIM

In an environment of rapid digital and 
societal change and the growing role  
of ‘local’ in people’s lives, our purpose  
and mission remain constant: To be  
the fabric that binds people to their 
communities, and to businesses,  
both local and national.
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2014  £16.7m   £10.1m

2015  £20.8m  £8.8m

2014  £16.1m  £10.6m

2015  £22.6m  £9.3m

Our Strategy in Action

01
 Build  
 Audiences 
We’ve implemented new systems 
and practices to generate better 
content across our websites, which 
are increasingly being consumed 
via mobile devices and connected 
to through social media.

By the end of 2015, we served more readers 
on mobile and tablet devices than through 
desktop computers. Our mobile phone 
page views grew by by 32.4% year-on-year 
to 36.6 million views.

At the same time, we saw the top source of 
digital traffic shift from Google to Facebook, 
and journalists are increasingly connecting 
with our readers via social media, 
developing new skills in distributing our 
content across those platforms. 

Redesigns of our sites and optimisation  
to speed up our pages have helped to  
serve the mobile reader better, while teams 
of journalists, equipped with the latest 
technology and tools, are able to have time 
to get out into their communities, sending 
back material to newly-formed news and 
community content hubs. 

02
 Growing  
 Digital 
As digital audiences have grown,  
so have our digital revenues. In 2015 
we grew our adjusted digital 
revenues by 12.4%, with our national 
and local digital display advertising 
growing 26.7% year-on-year.

We introduced new advertising offerings, 
including native advertising solutions that 
give our advertisers the opportunity to 
reach their customers with content-led 
solutions, integrated across our sites. 

To support this growth we also have 
launched improved platforms for our 
Jobstoday.co.uk business and refreshed  
the Scotsman and other sites (including 
Yorkshire Post, Sheffield Star and 
Portsmouth News) with multi-platform 
redesigns. Our WOW247.co.uk entertainment 
platform continued to grow and now has 
more than 200 contributors.

03
 Focus on  
 Return to  
 Growth  
 Opportunities  
Our titles have been segmented and 
management structure reorganised 
to focus on growth areas.

During 2015 we have continued to focus  
on transforming our advertising salesforce 
to meet customer needs and increase our 
share of advertising spend as we seek to 
return to overall revenue growth. We have 
changed our organisational structure to 
focus on growing markets.

Total adjusted advertising revenue was 
down 7.8% year-on-year. Advertising 
revenue expenditure slowed at the time  
of the United Kingdom General Election  
in May and remained very challenging 
during the rest of 2015. The business 
remains focused on the challenge of 
offsetting print revenue decline through 
digital and mobile revenue growth.

YEAR-ON-YEAR DECEMBER  
TOTAL AUDIENCE1

+19.8%

AVERAGE TOTAL MONTHLY AUDIENCE1 

+10.0%

A
ud

ie
nc

e

G
eography

Advertisers/
products

Flourishing
Families &
Midlifers

Growth Cities
& Towns

Higher Yield,
National & 

Digital
Advertisers

ADJUSTED DIGITAL REVENUE 

+12.4%
2014  £27.2m

2015  £30.6m
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e

G
eography

Advertisers/
products

Flourishing
Families &
Midlifers

Growth Cities
& Towns

Higher Yield,
National & 

Digital
Advertisers

A
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ie
nc

e

G
eography

Advertisers/
products

Flourishing
Families &
Midlifers

Growth Cities
& Towns

Higher Yield,
National & 

Digital
Advertisers

  Digital    Print

1 Print audience (source: Matrix), digital audience 
(source: IBM)

2 Revenue per thousand impressions (RPM).

FY 2014 v 
FY 2015

+26.7%

DIGITAL 
DISPLAY 

REVENUE

£12.4m

Dec 2014 v 
Dec 2015

+19.6%

DESKTOP 
RPM2

£17.70

Dec 2014 v 
Dec 2015

+110%

MOBILE 
RPM2

£9.44

FY 2014 v 
FY 2015

+201%

MOBILES 
REVENUES

£3.2m
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The Scotsman cemented its position as Scotland’s national 
newspaper in September, unveiling a new look in print, 
online and on mobile.

The 199-year-old title’s new design – and that of its website 
– was refreshed as part of the on-going evolution of our 
priority brands to keep pace with an ever-changing industry.

A comprehensive blend of news and sport, expert insight 
and debate-driving commentary on the issues that matter 
most across the country was introduced as part of the new 
look and layout – and the iconic brand’s masthead was also 
tweaked as part of the redesign.

The Scotsman’s website – Scotsman.com – is now where 
visitors see significant changes.

Up-to-the-minute news and information are available on  
a fully-responsive site built to give users a better experience 
no matter what device they are using.

There are streamlined article and topic pages, faster-
loading pages and easier navigation to allow browsers to 
find the content of most interest to them, and a new app 
for iOS and Android tablets and phones was introduced.

These significant changes were supported by a creative 
consumer campaign, designed to capture Scotland’s 
dynamism whilst heralding the brand’s new look and feel. 

A specially commissioned poem, ‘Louder’ (by Scottish poet 
Billy Letford) and beautifully-shot accompanying video 
formed the campaign across print, digital and radio. The 
social tag #CanYouHearIt was adopted and garnered 177k 
launch day impressions.

There was also three-week out-of-home advertising burst 
with the poem wrapped around the body of 100 taxis in 
Edinburgh and Glasgow.

The refresh proved a winner post launch with average daily 
print sales up 1.4% in the six-weeks following the refresh. 
Traffic to the website grew by 2.64%1 with ‘Louder’ being 
viewed 77k times on YouTube. 

1  Source: IBM Digital Analytics, Six weeks post refresh  
(weeks 38 to 42 compared to previous six week).

CASE STUDY: THE SCOTSMAN RELAUNCH

Fuelling passion and driving debate  
on refreshed platforms.
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Our Strategy in Action continued

04
 Manage 
 Costs 
2015 was another year of effective 
cost base management. Costs were 
reduced by a further £13.6 million 
(net of investment in digital) on the 
back of significant costs savings in 
2013 and 2014. 

Faced with declining revenues, the Group 
has managed its cost base and refocused 
the business while continuing to invest in 
digital and products to transform the 
business and build an audience over time. 
Our adjusted operating profit margin 
remains strong at 20.9%, compared to 
21.0% in the prior year. We will continue 
with our cost-saving initiatives in 2016; 
however, we are aware of the substantial 
rate of change that has taken place across 
the Group in the last few years, and will 
ensure we manage further change carefully 
whilst executing on our planned initiatives.

05
 Grow 
 Profitability 
In 2015 we recorded an operating 
profit of £50.6 million.

In 2016, top line growth will continue to  
be a top priority as the Group continues to 
focus on delivering profit growth. Further 
efficiency opportunities within our editorial, 
sales and back-office functions remain key 
projects for 2016 to offset decline in print 
revenue streams. Refer to the Financial 
Review for further detail.

06
 Pay Down 
 our Debt 
Reducing debt remains a key 
management priority.

Our net debt has reduced from over £476.8 
million in 2008 to £179.4 million at the end 
of 2015.

The debt structure, introduced as part  
of the 2014 refinancing, has allowed us  
to significantly reduce the interest we pay 
on our debt allowing us to further reduce 
our debt. In August 2015, the Group 
repurchased £5.0 million of bonds. 

ADJUSTED NET DEBT  
(EXCLUDING MARK-TO-MARKET)

-7.6%
2014  £194.2m

2015  £179.4m

ADJUSTED OPERATING COSTS 

-6.6%
2014  £205.3m

2015  £191.7m

ADJUSTED OPERATING PROFIT 

-7.5%
2014  £54.6m

2015  £50.6m
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In late 2014 1XL was launched, bringing together the  
digital inventory of 30 of the UK’s established news 
publishers. The innovative digital advertising platform  
was created to harness the aggregated strength and scale 
of local media to give advertisers UK-wide digital reach.

Throughout 2015 1XL has proved to be a highly attractive  
option for advertisers and its growth has exceeded 
expectation, delivering revenue growth for Johnston Press 
of 99% year-on-year and boasting 36% audience growth 
since its launch. 

With a comScore unique audience reach exceeding  
22.9 million1, 1XL remains the third largest source of 
premium news media inventory in the UK reaching  
47% of the UK internet population, with over 300 million  
page views per month and over one billion display  
ad impressions.

Through its recent deal with web publishing company 
Polar, 1XL can now deliver high-quality native advertising 
content that communicates brand messaging effectively, 
while providing the same engagement and value to 
readers as quality editorial.

1 Source: comScore using Iconic digital media entity. (September 2014  
to January 2016.)

1XL exceeding expectations

CASE STUDY: 1XL
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Key Performance Indicators

To measure performance against our strategic objectives, we monitor 
key performance indicators (KPIs). Our performance in 2015 measured 
against 2014 is shown below:

A reconciliation of the statutory to adjusted figures is provided on  
page 110. Unless otherwise stated all figures and growth rates presented 
are adjusted.

Financial KPIs

 Measuring our  
 performance 

TOTAL REVENUE

Reason for choice:
This metric is an output measure of our three 
key revenues lines namely print advertising, 
digital and newspaper sales revenues. 

Performance:
• The 6.8% year-on-year decline in total 

revenues reflects the tough advertising 
market that continued throughout 2015.

• In our national display category the growth 
in digital revenue outweighed the print 
advertising revenue decline to achieve overall 
growth of 11.8% in this category. 

£242.3m
-6.8%

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 

FOCUS ON RETURN TO 

GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES

3

DIGITAL REVENUE

£30.6m
+12.4%

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

GROW DIGITAL 

2

Reason for choice:
Growing the digital revenues stream is a key 
focus for the business as it invests in new  
digital products and creates growth in revenue 
to replace declining print revenues.

Performance:
• Digital revenues grew by 12.4% in 2015.
• The key digital categories showed significant 

growth with online motors growing by 9.5%, 
other classifieds growing 17.1% and total 
display growing by 26.7% year-on-year.

• Revenue from 1XL, our digital advertising 
exchange partnership grew 99%  
year-on-year.

PRINT ADVERTISING REVENUE

£118.1m
-11.9%

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

FOCUS ON RETURN TO 

GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES

Reason for choice:
Stemming the decline in print advertising, 
which represents 48% of revenues, remains  
a focus for the business.

Performance:
• Following a relatively positive start to 2015, 

April to December saw continued downward 
pressure on print advertising revenue, as part 
of continuing structural change.

3
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£72.4m
-7.0%

CIRCULATION REVENUE

3STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 

FOCUS ON RETURN TO 

GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES

Reason for choice:
This measure reflects the net effect of our 
pricing, sales volumes and customer offer  
for printed newspapers. 

Performance:
• Print circulation continues to decline as 

alternative sources of content continue  
to expand.

• Circulation volume decline rates improved 
by 1.5% for daily titles and 2.6% for weekly 
titles from the start of 2015 to the end.

OPERATING PROFIT

£50.6m
-7.5%

Reason for choice:
Measuring operating profit growth ensures  
our continuing focus on returning to top line 
growth and ensuring strong cost disciplines  
as the business is managed to the right size 
during our transformation from a print to  
a predominately digital business. 

Performance: 
• In 2015 the Group reported an operating 

profit of £50.6 million, a decline of £4.1 million 
on the prior year. Cost savings of £13.6 million 
were unable to mitigate the revenue 
shortfalls seen in 2015, as well as additional 
investment in digital of £6.0 million.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

GROW PROFITABILITY 

5

OPERATING COSTS

£191.7m
-6.6%

Reason for choice:
This measure brings together the combined effects 
of cost saving initiatives and identification and 
implementation of best practice across the Group.

Performance:
• Operating costs (including depreciation and 

amortisation) were reduced by £13.6 million 
in 2015, a 6.6% year-on-year reduction. The 
cost reduction was achieved after continued 
investment in the digital business.

• Operating profit margins have remained 
relatively flat year-on-year at 20.9% in 2015 
(21.0% in 2014).

• We will continue to seek efficiency 
opportunities throughout the business. 

• A number of new cost-saving workstreams 
were executed in late 2014 and this work 
continued throughout 2015 to identify and 
implement best practice across the Group, 
for example, in our sales transformation 
programme and our newsrooms.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 

MANAGE COSTS

4

EBITDA

Reason for choice:
EBITDA is a key internal performance  
measure as often used externally  
as a measure of cash generation. 

Performance: 
• EBITDA of £57.3 million was achieved in 2015, 

in line with market expectations. 
£57.3m
-4.8%

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE  

GROW PROFITABILITY

5

NET DEBT EXCLUDING MARK-TO-MARKET

£179.4m
-7.6%

Reason for choice:
Reducing debt remains a priority. Deleveraging 
reduces risk, and over time lower levels of debt 
should allow the Group to return to paying 
dividends to ordinary shareholders.

Performance:
• Debt reduced by £14.9 million over  

the period.
• The Company repurchased £5.0 million  

of its bond in August 2015.

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE

PAY DOWN OUR DEBT 

6
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Key Performance Indicators continued

EMPLOYEE HEALTH AND SAFETY – ACCIDENTS

YEAR-ON-YEAR DECEMBER PRINT AND DIGITAL AUDIENCE (MILLION UNIQUE USERS)1

0.9%
-0.5pp

Reason for choice:
This KPI measures the number of employees 
involved in accidents within our printing and 
publishing operation. This statistic measures the 
effectiveness of our health and safety procedure 
and is a key part of our control environment.

Performance:
• For the fifth year in succession, we have 

reduced the number of total accidents.
• The number of employees involved in 

accidents in the Group’s printing and 
publishing operations in 2015 was 0.9%, 
compared to 1.4% in 2014.

Reason for choice:
Growing audience volumes ensures we 
continue to deliver high quality content that 
resonates with our audiences, and underpins 
our digital revenue growth plans.  

Performance:
• Our overall audience growth was driven  

by our digital platforms, where we have 
continued the re-launch of our news 
websites and delivering high quality content 
online that resonates with our audiences.

• Our monthly digital audience growth in 2015 
more than offset the print audience decline 
giving us an overall net audience growth  
of 19.8% year-on-year from December 2014 
to December 2015.

• Digital audiences reached 22.6 million 
unique users in December 2015, up 24.3% 
year-on-year.

• Our print titles are read by 9.3 million 
readers, a year-on-year decline of 13.0%.

Non-Financial KPIs2

1 Total December audience. Source: Webtrends (2014 Digital) IBM (2015 Digital) and Matrix (Print). Internal Johnston Press analytic tools.
2 Non-financial KPI’s are not independently assured.

31.9m
+19.8%

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 

BUILDING AUDIENCES

1

STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE 

N/A

Libby Lane and her fellow Bishops on the steps of York Minster after her consecration  
ceremony as the first female Bishop. James Hardisty, Yorkshire Evening Post
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Principal Risks and Uncertainties

The principal risks and uncertainties described are not a complete 
list of all those risks identified but those that the Directors feel 
could have a significant impact on the Group and the general 
economic conditions in the markets in which we operate. By 
including risks within this section the Directors make no prediction 
as to the particular likelihood of any event or set of events 
occurring. The business could also be affected by other risks not 
currently identified or considered to be significant. Other risks that 
remain the most important in terms of the overall performance  
of the Group, but also relate to issues over which the Group has  
no control, namely:

• change in Gross Domestic Product;
• change in the unemployment rate;
• levels of property transactions;
• levels of new car sales;
• levels of consumer confidence; 
• Facebook and other global digital market entrants;
• public sector spending; and
• impact of uncertainty surrounding the outcome  

of the Europe Referendum.

Description of risk Impact Mitigation

FURTHER REDUCTIONS IN PRINT ADVERTISING

Print advertising revenues could decline at a 
faster rate due to further migration of customer 
spending to online media and weak consumer 
confidence in some of the markets in which  
we operate.

Consumer confidence remains low in some  
of the markets in which we operate, and  
both national and local businesses spend on 
advertising may remain constrained, while 
others may choose to move advertising spend 
into digital media.

The Group continues to develop its digital 
advertising offering through partnerships, 
mobile apps and products such as Digital 
Kitbag, The Smartlist and Voice Local, and the 
rollout of a new suite of websites. It also 
continues to invest in its sales expertise to ensure 
both a more proactive and effective approach 
and that the sales offering is fully understood by 
sales staff and appropriate for customers’ needs. 

NEWSPRINT PRICE AND SUPPLY RISK

Although paper prices have fallen over the 
course of the past 12 months future price rises 
represent a risk to the Group in terms of both 
supply and pricing of newsprint that, after staff 
costs, is the largest single expense incurred by 
the business.

In 2015 newsprint represented approximately 
9% of the Group’s cost base. A significant 
increase in price would impact the Group’s 
profitability and a reduction in supply could 
impact the quantity of newspapers we distribute 
in the market, which could in turn have an 
impact on advertising revenues.

The Group carefully manages its consumption  
of newsprint through waste management, 
recycling, pagination and distribution of free 
titles. The Group also has some of the most 
efficient printing presses in the industry. 
Contracts are put in place with key suppliers to 
ensure security of supply and optimum pricing.

FAILURE TO MONETISE INCREASED READERSHIP OF OUR NEWS WEBSITES

This is an industry issue. Online and mobile 
advertising rates are lower than print and it is 
difficult to charge for accessing news online 
because free alternatives exist.

Readership continues to migrate to a digital 
environment where the advertising rates per 
reader are significantly lower. Much greater 
audiences are therefore needed to retain  
an equivalent level of income.

Our digital strategy focuses on building digital 
audiences and revenues through new platforms 
and enhancing the content available to readers 
and advertisers. There is considerable effort to 
maximise the advertising rates attained for 
digital inventory, and to sell more inventory at 
premium rates through services such as 1XL. 

PENSION DEFICIT FUNDING

The Group’s defined benefit pension scheme is 
currently in deficit leaving the Group responsible 
for potential shortfalls, in particular driven by 
sustained low interest rates.

Cash contributions to the pension deficit  
reduce the Group’s capacity to pay down  
debt and invest in growth.

The Group entered into a revised arrangement 
with the scheme trustees during 2014 with 
increased contribution levels which are designed 
to address the deficit over time. These were 
agreed with the trustees concurrently with the 
refinancing and take account of Group cashflow 
forecasts. The scheme is closed to future accrual 
and pension exchange exercises have taken 
place to limit the level of pension increases, 
reducing the liability further. 

The Group is also working with the trustees  
and actuarial advisors to manage all controllable 
items, most recently conducting a survey of 
scheme members with a view to reducing 
future contributions.

There are a number of potential risks and uncertainties which have been identified by  
the Company that could have a material impact on the Group’s long-term performance. 

KPI measure: Print Advertising Revenue

KPI measure: Operating costs

KPI measure: Digital Revenue

KPI measure: n/a
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Description of risk Impact Mitigation

BUSINESS OPPORTUNITIES CONSTRAINED BY DEBT

The Group continues to operate with greater 
than optimal levels of gearing, hence reduction 
of debt over time remains a priority. However, 
this focus could lead to missed revenue 
opportunities if insufficient funds are left 
available for investment.

The Group may be unable to take advantage  
of opportunities to substantially invest in its core 
business or new revenue streams thus impacting 
its long-term growth prospects.

The refinancing completed in 2014 provided 
greater financial stability for the Group. Cash  
on balance sheet and access to revolving credit 
facilities to permit a degree of investment  
in its core business or new revenue streams.

BUSINESS CHANGE

The Group is implementing two major projects 
to revise the organisation of its sales and editorial 
models which may cause disruption during  
the transition.

The implementation of this key change initiative 
could lead to disruption in our business which 
could affect quality of output and staff morale 
and industrial relations and impact advertising 
and circulation revenue.

The Group has developed a planned phased 
approach to implementing the changes 
including full communications with staff  
and unions. The business has also updated its 
business continuity plan to cater for the changes.

ADEQUACY OF HUMAN RESOURCES

As with most most organisations there  
is an element of dependency on certain  
key individuals in the Group.

Should some of these key people leave the 
organisation there could be the loss of industry 
knowledge, supplier relationships, technical 
expertise and leadership.

The Group has put in place succession planning 
across the organisation and this is reviewed  
at least annually by the Executive Directors and  
by the Board.

LIFESTYLE AND TECHNOLOGY CHANGES AFFECT NEWSPAPER CIRCULATIONS

Newspaper circulations continue to decline  
due to increased availability of news through 
alternative media channels and reductions in 
the regularity of purchase. This change is in part 
driven by demographic and societal change.

The reduction in circulations can lead to  
reduced newspaper sales revenues as well  
as reduced audience for our advertisers.

The Group continues to promote loyalty 
schemes to encourage increased frequency of 
newspaper purchase. In response to changing 
reader habits we are in the process of rolling  
out responsive news websites that auto adjust  
to the mobile device, while also increasing the 
frequency of content updates.

SLOWDOWN IN RATE OF DIGITAL GROWTH AND REDUCTION IN ADVERTISING RATES FOR MOBILE

The Group has experienced strong growth  
in its digital income streams in recent years.  
The rate of growth could slow if customers seek 
alternative routes to audiences served. The 
industry as a whole has seen a shift towards 
accessing digital content through mobile 
devices which generally attract lower advertising 
rates than the rates achieved for desktop devices.
In particular the Group has seen increased 
competition from Facebook in display and 
Indeed in Employment.

A slowdown in digital revenue growth and/or 
reduction in advertising rates achieved could 
impact profitability and the carrying value of 
assets. In addition, the Group adopts a long-term 
growth rate of 1% from year three in assessing the 
valuation of publishing titles. In order to achieve 
this growth rate continued levels of growth in 
digital is required for the foreseeable future.

The Group continues to invest in improving its 
understanding of its audience and in growing  
its overall audience, as well as developing new 
products to enable customers to reach their 
targeted audience and enable the Group to 
continue to participate in growth in digital 
advertising spend. 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties continued

KPI measure: Net debt Excluding Mark-to-Market

KPI measure: n/a

KPI measure: n/a

KPI measure: Circulation Revenue

KPI measure:  Digital Revenue, Operating Profit, 
EBITDA
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Operational Review

DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY
During 2015, despite challenging market conditions, we continued 
to simplify and transform our business in line with the strategic 
priorities initially set out in 2012. We deliver compelling content 
across our media portfolio, keeping pace with the changing needs 
of our audience and providing a range of new products to our 
advertisers. Our National platform has performed well and the 
addition of the i provides opportunities to accelerate the delivery  
of our strategy. 

AUDIENCE DEVELOPMENT
Our audience strategies concentrated on content improvement  
in print and improved digital engagement and differentiation,  
has led to overall average monthly audience growth of 10.0%  
from 26.8 million to 29.6 million. The 2015 average audience of  
29.6 million comprises 20.8 million digital unique users (2014:  
16.7 million), and 8.8 million print circulation (2014: 10.1 million).

Our digital audience grew by 40.7% to 22.6 million unique users  
in December 2015 (2014 16.1 million) while our total audience in 
December 2015 of 31.9 million (across print and digital), up 19.8% 
year on year. The fourth quarter saw us launch redesigned websites 
for the Scotsman, Yorkshire Post, Sheffield Star and Portsmouth 
News, with significant audience uplift, with the rollout of the new 
design to other large brands happening during 2016.

DIGITAL PRODUCT AND MARKET DEVELOPMENT
In 2015, we updated and upgraded our digital presence across all 
platforms in order to reach readers on all screens and to deliver  

the right customers to our advertisers. This took the form of a new 
responsive web platform beginning on our largest site, Scotsman.
com, launching with new native apps across smartphones and 
tablets in Apple and Android platforms. The rollout of that 
platform, which is faster and a better experience for readers  
and advertisers, continues in 2016. 

We also have implemented new underlying digital technology 
platforms to allow us to develop products more quickly, as the  
web moves more mobile and onto the social platforms. We have 
introduced new sources of data to inform our newsrooms and our 
product development. We have launched new content verticals  
in key markets to generate new digital revenue streams, including 
sections around food and drink in Yorkshire and Scotland, and  
a lifestyle site in Belfast. 

With our commercial products, we have introduced innovative  
new solutions for local advertisers in Digital Kitbag (DKB) and 
introduced the UK’s first local native advertising program to  
bring content-led marketing solutions to our advertisers. 

COMMERCIAL DEVELOPMENT
1XL was a big success in 2015, with year-on-year revenue growth  
of 99%, following its online advertising network launch in 
November 2014. Working with other regional media companies  
the Group was able to optimise the fast-growing online 
newsbrands audience. Year-on-year this helped provide growth 
overall in National Display advertising.

Eyes to the sky for the solar eclipse in Northumberland. 
Jane Coltman, Northumberland Gazette
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The Media Sales Centre, our high volume transaction business, 
continued to provide excellent levels of customer service to 
advertisers enabling the business to achieve year-on-year growth 
across its Public Notices, BMDs and Other Classified customer 
segments boosted by a strong performance in online mobile sales.

Our DKB marketing services group of products offered the SME 
businesses new opportunities to reach their customers, in their 
local markets. Following a very strong 2014 for employment, 2015 
was a challenging year. The team responded through innovation 
and built out the SmartList proposition, created new affiliate and 
partnership opportunities and entered into the e-commerce by 
offering recruitment candidates training courses and other 
specialised services.

OPERATIONS AND PRODUCTION
The Group’s printing business operates out of three sites in 
Portsmouth, Dinnington and Carn. The sites are well located to 
meet various publisher distribution requirements and can provide 
integrated logistics services. They are, therefore, well placed to play 
an integral part in the future consolidation of the print industry. 

In 2015 the Group has strengthened its position in the contract 
print market by securing a significant long-term contract with the 
Express Group. Other major customers include News UK, Guardian 
Media Group, Local World and Tindle Newspapers, as well as many 
niche publications. Printing revenue rose, but were offset by 
reduction in newsprint supply revenue.

PROPERTY AND ESTATE
We have continued to review our property portfolio to identify 
markets and centres that have an accommodation which no longer 
meets the requirements of the business. During 2015 we disposed  
of seven freehold properties and exited five leases (net of relocations). 
Overall we have reduced the total number of properties within the 
portfolio from 188 at the start of the review in 2012 to 125 at the end 
of 2015, with nearly half of all staff either having relocated or having 
seen investment in their work environment. Continued progress will 
be made during 2016 on rationalising the Group’s property portfolio. 

Operational Review continued

Pontefract’s Leah Evans with her gold 
medal from the under-25 wheelchair 
basketball championships. 
John Clifton, Pontefract and  
Castleford Express
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Financial Review

 In 2015 we delivered adjusted 
 operating profit of £50.6 million; 
 EBITDA of £57.3 million and reduced 
 net debt (excluding mark-to-market) 
 to £179.4 million. 
INTRODUCTION
This Financial Review provides commentary on the Group’s adjusted performance during the 52-week period ended 2 January 2016 
(adjusted 2014: 52 weeks). Unless otherwise stated, all figures and growth rates presented as adjusted. A reconciliation of statutory to 
adjusted figures is detailed on page 110.

Adjusted

2015
£m

2014
£m

change
£m

change3

 %

Advertising revenue
Print advertising  118.1  134.1 (16.0) (11.9%)
Digital advertising 30.6  27.2 3.4 12.4%

Total advertising revenue  148.7  161.3 (12.6) (7.8%)

Non-advertising revenue
Newspaper sales 72.4  77.8 (5.4) (7.0%)
Contract printing  12.6  12.6 0.0 0.1%
Leaflet, sundry and other revenue  8.6  8.3 0.3 3.8%

Total other revenues 93.6  98.7 (5.1) (5.2%)

Total continuing revenues 242.3 260.0 (17.7) (6.8%)

Operating costs1 (185.0) (199.8) 14.8 7.4%

EBITDA2 57.3 60.2 (2.9) (4.8%)

Depreciation and amortisation (6.7) (5.5) (1.2) (22.1%)

Operating profit 50.6 54.7 (4.1) (7.5%)

Operating profit margin 20.9% 21.0%

1  Operating costs include cost of sales and are stated before depreciation and amortisation.
2  EBITDA is earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation.
3  The % change variance has been calculated based on unrounded numbers.

David King
Chief Financial Officer
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REVENUE
Following a relatively positive first half of the year with advertising 
down 4.4% year-on-year, the second half of the year saw significant 
year-on-year deterioration across former classified categories 
(property, motors and employment) contributing to an 11.6% 
decline overall.

Both motors and employment grew in the second half of 2014 
making the period on period comparison more challenging. 
Entering 2016 off the back of difficult trading in the second half  
of 2015 and against a relatively strong first half (and in particular 
first quarter performance) in 2015, will see challenging trading 
comparatives during the first half of 2016.

ADVERTISING REVENUE 
Total advertising revenues in 2015 were £148.7 million, a decline  
of 7.8% from the previous year (2014: £161.3 million) with continued 
growth in the digital business. 

DISPLAY
Display advertising remains our core advertising category and helps 
to build brand awareness for our local and national advertisers. 
Overall display advertising generated £62.8 million in 2015, an 
annual decline of 5.6%. This category benefited from the launch  
of 1XL our national advertising network with other local media 
businesses. 1XL offers advertisers access to one of the largest 
networks of quality audience and saw revenue growth of 99% 
year-on-year, offsetting decline in print.

PROPERTY
2015 remained a difficult year for our property category. Property 
prices grew in most of the regions in which we operate, however, 
transaction volumes meant the market remained challenging for 
Estate Agents, our core advertising base, with volumes and sales 
commissions not matching the pace of price rises. The property 
category decline was 16.4% year-on-year in 2015. 

EMPLOYMENT
Following growth in this category in 2014, with digital growth 
exceeding print decline, 2015 saw increased competition from 
Indeed, a new entrant, causing digital growth to slow, while a fall  
in inbound calls, particularly in Scotland, saw print revenues fall 
sharply ending the year 12.5% down. 

MOTORS
Following growth in the second half of 2014 in motors category, 
2015 saw a decline of 10.6% on prior year despite growth of 9.5%  
in digital. 

OTHER 
The ‘Other’ category includes Digital Kitbag, Entertainment,  
Public Notices, Birth, Marriages and Deaths (BMDs), Other Classified 
and other digital income. This combined category generated  
£37.0 million in revenue, with print declining 6.7% and digital 
growing by 17.1%.

Financial Review continued

Print and Digital Advertising Revenue Analysis

Full year Print Digital

2015
£m

2014
£m % change1

2015
£m

2014
£m % change1

2015
£m

2014
£m % change1

Display2 62.8 66.5 (5.6%) 50.4  56.7 (11.0%)  12.4  9.8 26.7%
Property 18.5  22.0 (16.4%) 17.2 20.7 (16.9%)  1.3  1.3 (1.4%)
Employment 17.7 20.3 (12.5%) 9.5  11.8 (19.4%)  8.2  8.5 (4.0%)
Motors 12.7 14.2 (10.6%) 10.8  12.5 (13.4%)  1.9  1.7 9.5%
Other3,4 37.0 38.3 (3.3%) 30.2  32.4 (6.7%)  6.8  5.9 17.1%

Total advertising revenue 148.7 161.3 (7.8%) 118.1 134.1 (11.9%) 30.6 27.2 12.4%

1 The % change variance has been calculated based on unrounded numbers.
2 Display includes National, Local and Features revenue.
3 Other print revenue includes Birth, Marriage, Deaths, Public Notices, Other classified and entertainment.
4 Other digital revenue includes iannounce, Digital Kitbag, Enterprise, public notices, entertainment, other paid content and other internet.

Print and Digital Advertising Half-Yearly Revenue Analysis

Full year First half Second half

2015 
£m

2014 
£m % change1

2015 
£m

2014 
£m % change1

2015 
£m

2014 
£m % change1

Display 62.8 66.5 (5.6%)  32.0  33.4 (4.4%)  30.8  33.1 (6.9%)
Property  18.5  22.0 (16.4%)  10.7  11.8 (9.7%)  7.8  10.2 (24.2%)
Employment 17.7 20.3 (12.5%)  10.2 10.8 (5.5%)  7.5  9.5 (21.8%)
Motors 12.7 14.2 (10.6%)  6.8  7.2 (6.1%)  5.9  7.0 (15.7%)
Other 37.0 38.3 (3.3%)  19.3  19.3 0.0%  17.7  19.0 (6.7%)

Total 148.7 161.3 (7.8%)  79.0  82.5 (4.4%)  69.7  78.8 (11.6%)

1 The % change variance has been calculated based on unrounded numbers.
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AUDIENCE GROWTH
Our aggregate audiences have continued to grow year-on-year,  
our average monthly audience for the year was 29.6 million up 
from 26.8 million in 2014, a growth of 10.0%. A key driver for  
this growth was our digital audience which grew by 24.3% with 
average monthly audiences growing from 16.7 million in 2014  
to 20.8 million in 2015.

NON-ADVERTISING REVENUE
Newspaper sales generated adjusted revenues of £72.4 million in 
the year against £77.8 million in 2014, a decline of 7.0%. Circulation 
volumes were down 13.0%. Daily titles in economically challenged 
markets continued to see volume declines above Group averages, 
and above weekly titles, reflecting local conditions.

Contract printing revenue of £12.6 million was flat year-on-year. 
Printing revenue grew year-on-year to £9.8m while newspaper 
supply fell to £2.9m as a result of price and volume reduction  
of customer titles.

OPERATING COSTS
Operating costs (including depreciation and amortisation) were 
reduced to £191.7 million from £205.3 million in 2014, a £13.6 million 
year-on-year reduction, net of £6.0m investment in digital. The 
depreciation charge rose by £1.2 million to £6.7 million in 2015  

off the back of digital investment in 2013 and onwards, having 
reached the low point in the depreciation cycle in 2014. Savings 
were made across all parts of the business including production, 
editorial, sales and overheads.

OPERATING PROFIT 
In 2015 the Group operating profit was £50.6 million, a 7.5% decline 
on the prior year. The trading environment was challenging in 2015. 
Total Group revenues were down £17.7 million to £242.3 million,  
a decline of 6.8%, largely mitigated by cost reductions, with operating 
costs reducing to £191.7 million from £205.3 million, a year-on-year 
reduction of £13.6 million. Operating margin remains flat at 20.9% 
compared to 21.0% in the prior year.

FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS
Net finance costs were £19.1 million2, a decrease of £9.9 million 
year-on-year. The reduction in finance costs of £11.2 million is due  
to the lower interest rate on the bond following the May 2014 
refinancing which also saw gross debt fall from £323 million to 
£220 million. Investment income includes dividends received  
from the Press Association.

Refer to Note 2 – Significant accounting policies and Note 20 – 
Borrowings for further information.

Net financing costs2
Adjusted

 Full year 
2015 

£m

Full year 
2014

£m
Change

£m

Interest on bond (19.3) (12.3) (7.0)
Interest on bank overdrafts, loans (PIK), RCF3 (0.4) (16.5) 16.1
Amortisation of term debt issue costs/RCF (0.3) (2.4) 2.1

Total operating finance costs (20.0) (31.2) 11.2

Investment income 0.9 2.2 (1.3)

Total net financing costs (19.1) (29.0) 9.9

1 The % change variance has been calculated based on unrounded numbers.
2 Adjusted net financing costs exclude the mark-to-market fair value gain on the bond of £23.0 million (2014: £5.0 million gain), pension finance expense and change  

in fair value of hedges and foreign borrowings.
3 2014 includes interest on bank overdrafts and loans of £11.6 million, PIK interest of £5.3 million, RCF interest fee £0.2 million partially offset by overpayment refund  

£0.6 million.

Revenue streams 

Full year

2015  
£m

2014  
£m % change1

Print revenues
Circulation 72.4 77.8 (7.0%)
Advertising (JP owned titles) 114.0 129.2 (11.8%)
Leaflets, syndication & other print related revenues 7.6 7.7 (1.3%)

Total Print Revenues 194.0 214.7 (9.6%)

Digital 30.6 27.2 12.4%

Contract revenues
Printing 9.8 8.8 11.4%
Newsprint supply 2.8 3.8 (26.3%)
Rent & other services 1.0 0.6 66.6%
Advertising (third party titles) 4.1 4.9 (16.3%)

Total contract revenues 17.7 18.1 (2.2%)

Total revenues 242.3 260.0 (6.8%)
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PROFIT BEFORE TAX
The Group’s profit before tax was £31.5 million (2014: £25.7 million). 
Operating cost savings and reduced finance costs compared to the 
prior year have mitigated the decline in total revenues, to deliver  
an improved year-on-year profit before tax for the Group. 

TAX RATE
The statutory tax credit of £8.5 million (2014: £8.6 million tax credit) 
comprises a current tax credit of £0.5 million (2014: £0.7 million 
credit) and a deferred tax credit of £8.1 million (2014: £7.9 million  
tax credit). 

The tax credit of £8.5 million for the period was primarily 
attributable to the change in deferred tax rate of £9.2 million, 
recognition of the tax benefit arising on the impairment write 
down on intangible publishing title assets of £7.0 million, deferred 
tax liability of £6.0 million on the bond (including the £1.0 million 
adjustment in respect of prior periods) and the deferred tax 
liability of £1.2 million arising on the pension deficit reduction. 

The Group’s effective tax rate was 295.2% for the 2015 financial 
year (2014: 35.9%). The effective rate in the period is significantly 
affected by the corporate tax rate change and adjustment in 
respect of prior year bond accounting. The 20.25% basic tax rate 
applied for the 2015 period was a blended rate due to the tax rate 
of 21.0% in effect for the first quarter of 2015, changing to 20.0% 
from 1 April 2015 under section 6 of the Finance Act 2013. Refer  
to Note 9 in the financial statements for further detail.

EARNINGS PER SHARE AND DIVIDENDS
Statutory Basic earnings per share (EPS) was 10.71 pence, 
compared with a loss per share of 0.44 pence in 2014. 

In the prior year, the rights issue and subsequent share 
consolidation have distorted the EPS metrics. A table presenting 
the adjusted and proforma earnings per share calculations are 
presented below.

Proforma underlying earnings equate to net underlying profit  
of £25.1 million (3 January 2015: £19.2 million) less preference  
share dividends of £0.15 million (2014: £0.15 million).

Proforma Basic EPS has been calculated based on the closing 
number of shares in issue of 105.9 million (refer to Note 24) and 
deducting the number of shares held by the Company’s Employee 
Benefit Trust of 0.6 million. Proforma fully diluted EPS assumes the 
maximum potential dilutive impact and the maximum number  
of shares the Group could be called upon to issue to satisfy the full 
vesting of VCP and employee share and deferred bonus schemes. 
The proforma position has been included for prior year figures  
to provide a comparable basis to see how the earning potential  
has moved.
 
No interim dividend was paid on the Company’s ordinary shares 
and the Directors recommend no final dividend for the period.  
The 13.75% preference share dividend was paid in June 2015 and 
December 2015 following the completion of the Court approved 
share premium conversion and creation of distributable reserves 
(the “Capital Reduction”).

Financial Review continued

Earnings per share
Adjusted Adjusted Proforma

Basic EPS Basic EPS Fully diluted

2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014

Earnings (£m) less preference dividend 25.0 19.1 25.0 19.1 25.0 19.1

Number of ordinary shares (m) 105.3 3,519.3 105.3 105.3 117.5 117.5

EPS (pence) 23.7 0.5 23.7 18.2 21.2 16.3

Running through Cherry Blossom in Harrogate.  
Simon Hulme, The Yorkshire Post
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SHARE CAPITAL REDUCTION
At the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 27 June 2014,  
a special resolution was approved to initiate a process to reduce  
the Company’s share premium account by £275 million. The 
completion of the capital reduction was confirmed by an Order  
of the Court of Session, Scotland on 29 April 2015 and registered  
at Companies House on 5 May 2015. The capital reduction 
eliminates the opening accumulated deficit of £179.9 million  
on the Company’s profit and loss account. This will enable the 
Company to make distributions and provide loans to the Johnston 
Press plc Employee Share Trust (“JP EST”) to satisfy options under 
the Group’s share ownership schemes. 

RECONCILIATION OF STATUTORY  
AND ADJUSTED RESULTS
Adjusted operating profit of £50.6 million (2014: £54.7 million) has 
been calculated after adjusting for revenue and cost of sales for 
closed titles and digital brands. Adjustments made to operating 
costs include restructuring, impairment and other non-trading 
related costs. The prior year includes adjustments to remove Week 
53 trading and Letterbox which was outsourced in the prior year.  
A reconciliation of statutory to adjusted numbers is shown below 
and on page 110.

CASHFLOW AND NET DEBT
Net cash flow generated from operating activities was £40.0 million 
(2014: £7.8 million), after £6.5 million of annual pension contribution, 
a £2.4 million one-off pension contribution, as a result of successfully 
reducing the pension levy contribution from £3.2 million to £0.7 million, 
and careful management of working capital. Refer to Note 26 for 
further details.

Investment in capital expenditure was £7.8 million (refer to Capital 
expenditure section on page 28 for further details) while proceeds 
received from the disposal of surplus assets (primarily property 
sales, surplus press equipment) were £2.3 million.

The Group’s net debt was £179.4 million at 2 January 2016 (2014: 
£194.2 million), excluding the mark-to-market on the bond and 
bond discounts (totalling £33.4 million (including £29.0 million 
mark-to-market on Bond and £4.4 million Bond discount)).  
The principal £5.0 million bond buy back in August 2015 was 
purchased at 98% (£4.9 million cash). 

NET ASSET POSITION
At the period end, the Group had net assets of £259.1 million, an 
increase of £59.1 million on the prior year. The movement in the net 
asset position from the prior year includes: £63.0 million reduction 
in the pension deficit, £28.8 million reduction in borrowings and 
impairment write-down of £35.2 million on intangible assets 
(discussed further below). The reduction in the pension deficit is 
attributed to the pension study conducted in the period (discussed 
further below). The £28.8 million reduction in borrowings is due to 
the fair value gain of £23.9 million recorded in the period and bond 
repurchase of £5.0 million. 

ASSET IMPAIRMENT
The Group conducts a review of the carrying value of assets every 
six months. In light of the tough trading conditions in the second 
half of 2015, running into 2016, and the resulting fall in operating 
profit of £4.1million, the Group has determined that it is prudent  
to write-down the carrying value of certain assets by £35.2 million, 
reducing the asset carrying value by 6.9%. Refer to Note 13 in the 
financial statements.

PENSIONS
At 2 January 2016, the Group’s defined benefit pension scheme 
had a deficit of £27.0 million as measured under IAS19 Employee 
Benefits (Revised). This compares to a deficit of £90.0 million  
as at 3 January 2015 (including £3.0 million IFRIC 14 liability). 

The Rules of the Plan were revised such that the Company has an 
unconditional right to any surplus on the eventual wind up of the 
Plan. As such the additional IFRIC 14 liability has been reversed. 

Reconciliation of Statutory and Adjusted Results
Revenue EBITDA Operating profit

 Full year 
2015 

£m

Full year 
2014

£m

 Full year 
2015 

£m

Full year 
2014

£m

 Full year 
2015 

£m

Full year 
2014

£m

Statutory 245.1 268.8 9.4 16.2 1.0 10.7

Adjustments
Closed titles (1.8) (3.1) 0.1 (0.8) 0.1 (0.8)
Closure of digital products (1.1) (1.6) 0.0 (0.1) 1.7 (0.1)
Week 53 – (2.9) – (1.4) – (1.4)
Outsourcing of Letterbox Direct – (1.3) – – – –
Pensions – – 1.5 4.1 1.5 4.1
Restructuring – – 9.4 10.9 9.4 10.9
Impairment – – 35.2 24.5 35.2 24.5
Other – – 1.7 6.7 1.7 6.7

Adjusted1 242.3 260.0 57.3 60.2 50.6 54.7

1 Adjusted figures are calculated based on unrounded numbers. 

Reconciliation of statutory net debt to net debt excluding mark-to-market

 Full year 
2015  

£m

Full year 
2014  

£m

Gross bond debt 225.0 225.0
Bond repurchase (5.0) –
Cash and cash equivalents (40.6) (30.8)

Net debt excluding mark-to-market 179.4 194.2
Mark-to-market on Bond1 (29.0) (5.1)
Bond discount (net) (4.4) (4.5)

Statutory net debt2 146.1 184.6

1 Mark-to-market on bond represents from inception. 
2 Statutory net debt is calculated on unrounded numbers.
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PENSIONS CONTINUED
During the period the Group commissioned a review of the IAS19 
assumptions used in determining the closing liability of the 
Johnston Press Pension Plan specifically focusing on demographic 
assumptions. A medically underwritten study was carried out by 
KPMG to identify the current health of a statistical sample group of 
existing Plan members, assessed via telephone interviews targeted 
towards members with the most significant liabilities in the Plan. 
The output was interpreted by underwriters and then analysed 
alongside the results from a postcode analysis performed in the 
prior year. This was translated into mortality assumptions for use  
in calculating the IAS19 scheme liabilities. The methodology used 
was compliant with the applicable Technical Actuarial Standards 
in force published by the Financial Reporting Council. 

The study of current mortality gives an age rating of +3.0 years  
to the standard Self-Administered Pension Scheme (SAPS) tables 
used for the IAS19 disclosure (previously this assumption had  
been set in line with 104% of SAPS tables). The future mortality 
improvement model has been updated to reflect the most recent 
Continuous Mortality Investigation (CMI) 2015 projections and the 
allowance long-term rates of improvement of 1.25% p.a. for males 
and 1.0% p.a. for females remains unchanged. This is equivalent  
to a life expectancy at 65 of 19.7 years (3 January 2015: 22.0 years)  
for males and 21.3 years (3 January 2015: 23.9 years) for females. The 
reduction in assumed life expectancy is equivalent to a reduction 
in liabilities of £53.0 million.

Agreed cash contributions based on the 2012 triennial valuation 
are £6.5 million in 2015 and £10.0 million in 2016 increasing by  
3% per annum with a final payment of £12.7 million in 2024.  
Refer to Note 21 ‘Retirement Benefit Obligation’ for further details. 
The triennial valuation at 2 January 2016 has now commenced  
and outcome will be known later in 2016.

The Group is also subject to the Pension Protection Fund Levy 
(PPF). The levy is charged annually and runs from 1 April to 
31 March. The amount payable for 2015/2016 is £0.7 million 

(2014/2015: £2.7 million). The Group entered into a flexible 
apportionment arrangement with the agreement of the  
Plan Trustees which resulted in the decrease in the 2015/2016  
PPF levy charge. The Group expects to see the full benefit of  
reduced levy charges in 2016/2017, when the increased pension 
contributions commence.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 
The Group capitalised £7.8 million of assets in the period  
(2014: £8.7 million). Of this, £4.5 million was spent on developing  
the digital platforms (2014: £3.5 million) and £3.3 million on 
infrastructure, including £0.5 million on leasehold improvements 
(2014: £5.2 million infrastructure spend including £1.9 million 
leasehold improvements). 

FINANCIAL REPORTING
The IFRS standard changes applicable in 2016 are not expected  
to have a material impact on the financial statements of the Group 
in future periods. Additional details on changes in the standards 
are included in Note 2 to the financial statements. 

FACTORS AFFECTING FUTURE GROUP PERFORMANCE 
The performance of the Group will continue to be affected by the 
economic conditions in our markets, cyclical conditions, structural 
and business-specific circumstances and trends in employment, 
property transactions, new car sales and the levels of consumer  
and SME confidence. However, the outlook for the Group will also 
depend on a number of other factors, including:
• growing new digital revenues in the Group’s existing  

market segments;
• ability to adapt to customer requirements through new sales 

propositions and advertising channels;
• continually improving existing efficient operations through 

technology infrastructure and improved processes;
• the impact of new entrants and competitors to the market; 
• further re-engineering of the cost base of the business;
• the implementation of salesforce initiatives; and
• acquisition of the i.

Financial Review continued

International unveiling of The Kelpies, near Falkirk. 
Michael Gillen, The Falkirk Herald
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 Sustainability and efficiency 
 continue to be key elements in the 
 business activities of Johnston Press. 

Corporate Social Responsibility

BUSINESS ETHICS 
As a major player in the regional press and digital media  
industry, we are ever-conscious of the importance of ensuring  
the development and implementation of ethical and non-
discriminatory policies and strategies when dealing with our 
employees, suppliers, subscribers, customers and shareholders.  
We operate our business in accordance with a code of ethics  
and have strict policies for dealing with a range of legal and other 
compliance issues, such as anti-bribery requirements, corruption 
and conflicts of interest. The interests of the environment as well  
as the future sustainability of the business also have an inevitable 
influence upon the ethical strategy adopted by the Group.

The Group operates an Internal Editorial Governance Committee 
with the remit of ensuring effective compliance with the Independent 
Press Standards Organisation (IPSO) guidance and adjudications  
as well as all other relevant legislation and editorial guidance.  
The Committee regularly reviews relevant policies and procedures; 
it also feeds back to IPSO on behalf of the Group following regular 
consultation with the Group’s Editorial Board. The editorial policies 
and procedures help to ensure that the business as a whole is able 
to effectively and consistently deal with relevant editorial issues. 
This continues to be an important objective for the business in 
addressing its commitment to responsible and ethical journalism. 
We believe that the relatively low numbers of adjudications upheld 
by IPSO in relation to the Group’s publications help to demonstrate 
the effectiveness of the Group’s policies and procedures. 

We are also focused on prioritising our digital rights and 
responsibilities, ethical conduct, as well as data security and 
privacy; and we strive to tackle challenging issues proactively  
by making our communications and processes simple, open  
and transparent.

BOARD RESPONSIBILITY 
The Executive Directors hold responsibility for ensuring that  
the business addresses all issues relating to corporate social 
responsibility. They set the tone of the ethical strategy and 
measures adopted by the business and are assisted and guided  
by the Company Secretary. In particular, the Directors review the 
Corporate Social Responsibility Statement for the business and 
monitor key developments in corporate environmental, social  
and governance issues with a view to responding to changes  
in legislation, regulation and best industry practices. Moreover, 
relevant ESG risks are also regularly assessed by the Board  
when conducting an ongoing risk analysis of the business.

Responsibility for the drafting, reviewing and compliance with the 
Group’s human resources policies sits with the Director of Human 
Resources who reports directly to the Chief Executive Office.

DIVERSITY
We believe in equal opportunity, fairness and respect for all 
employees and our Diversity Policy promotes this culture. We 
recognise and appreciate the differences of age, gender, gender 
reassignment, marital or family status, race, nationality, ethnic 
origin, disability, religion and belief and sexual orientation. Our 
approach to diversity benefits our employees, our business, our 
customers, our suppliers, our shareholders and the communities 
we operate in. We are proud to have a diverse workforce that 
ensures we remain relevant and engaging within the communities 
we serve. The age and gender profiles for our workforce can be 
seen in the table below:

Gender
2015  

%
2014  

%
2013 

 %

Female 50.52 50.43 51.60

Male 49.48 49.57 48.40

Age group

Under 30 19.08 20.17 18.40

30 to 39 28.06 28.02 28.40

40 to 49 26.02 26.19 26.20

50 to 59 21.34 20.72 20.90

Over 60 5.50 4.90 6.10

Our continued commitment to corporate social responsibility is evident in the  
approach we take to managing our business, assessed against key performance 
measures which continue to demonstrate our drive to generate value for our business.
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CAR FLEET 
Our car fleet is partly owned (11%) and partly leased (89%).  
We have continued with the transition towards a fully leased  
fleet. The leased cars are normally newer and greener in terms  
of fuel emissions and the transition to a leased fleet has a role  
to play in improving our environmental performance.

We have continued to implement our policy of utilising, where 
possible, vehicles with lower fuel emissions. 

We are also keen to pursue our strategy of providing training 
initiatives for our car drivers and aim to work with our car fleet 
insurers in order to support future training needs and objectives.

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT
Part of the raison d’être of our newsbrands is to champion local 
causes, support campaigns and raise awareness of community 
appeals. The way in which news is gathered and delivered has 
changed immeasurably over the years but the ability of our titles  
to get communities to pull together has remained constant. 

Whether it is rallying volunteers to pick up litter, holding public 
debates to allow readers to quiz key figures on important local 
issues or raising thousands of pounds for life-saving medical 
equipment, our titles are – as they have always been – an integral 
part of the communities they serve. 

The campaigns and initiatives we are involved in are diverse:

The Wigan Observer invited six-year-old Jack Johnson to edit their 
Christmas edition. Jack suffers from Duchenne muscular dystrophy 
and readers and the general community raised more than £1 million 
for research into the illness. He interviewed his favourite rugby 
player and his mother talked about living with the disease.

The Yorkshire Post Christmas appeal and online auction raised 
nearly £10,000 for the charity Support Dogs. A dog that will make  
a massive difference to a Yorkshire child with autism is now being 
trained thanks to Yorkshire Post readers.

The Doncaster Free Press ran a successful campaign to reduce  
the speed limit on a Dearne Valley accident blackspot. It also 
continued its Doncaster Royal Infirmary £1 million radiotherapy 
equipment installation fundraising campaign.

Readers of The Edinburgh Evening News rallied when 95-year-old 
legendary fundraiser Tom Gilzean needed £800 to repair his 
disability scooter. The paper featured Tom’s plight and a kind-
hearted taxi firm immediately came to his aid, donating the cash 
within hours of the story appearing. 

In Portsmouth, The News raised its Take Care Together campaign 
to raise awareness of dementia and support those affected by  
the condition. 

A campaign to officially recognise the women who kept Sheffield’s 
steelworks running through the war smashed its £150,000 target 
thanks to the support of The Star. The Women of Steel campaign 
launched in 2008 but it was only six years later when the Star 
picked up the story that community interest was really sparked.  
In early 2015, after events, concerts and donations, the target was 
smashed. Journalist Nancy Fielder (who first ran the rallying story  
in The Star), along with Women of Steel campaigners Kathleen 
Roberts and Kit Sollitt, were named Women of the Year in October 
2015. A statue in honour of the Women of Steel now stands in  
the city. 

EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT
We employ over 2,700 people in the UK and our aim is to attract, 
retain and engage the best people. The Company aims to be a 
great place to work and continued activity to embed our values, 
mission and purpose throughout 2015. This included taking over 
2,000 employees through engagement sessions, providing them 
with the opportunity to ask questions about our strategic priorities 
and ambitions, and gain clarity on areas of focus for the Company.

The YourSay employee surveys, which were originally launched  
in January 2013, continued and our senior leaders committed  
to making tangible improvements within their teams on the  
back of the survey findings, and we will build on this in 2016.  
We continued to take a more transparent approach to internal 
communications and engagement, including within our Editorial 

Corporate Social Responsibility continued

Kit Sollit with a maquette of the Women of Steel statue. Kit Sollit (90)  
is one of the last surviving members of Sheffield’s ‘Women of Steel’ 
campaign, set up to highlight and honour the role played by female 
workers who maintained steel production during the Second World War. 
Scott Merrylees, The Star, Sheffield
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Energy Consumption and Associated Greenhouse Gas Emissions (CO2 equivalent)

Consumption GHG emissions (CO2 equivalent tonnes)

2015
GHG Conversion 

Factor (2015)4 2015 20145 20135

SCOPE 11

Gas combustion (heating at Johnston Press premises)/(kWh) 3,597,392 0.18445 x 103 664 1,661 2,579
Oil combustion (heating at Johnston Press premises)/(litres) 18,276 2.53215 x 103 46 73 90
Commercial vehicles (all Johnston Press vehicles)/(km) 5,228,102 0.25839 x 103 1,351 1,782 2,487

Total SCOPE 1 2,061 3,516 5,156

Total SCOPE 1 – Per million pages printed 82.4 140.6 206.2

SCOPE 22

Generation of grid electricity used/(kWh) 18,348,002 0.46219 x 103 8,480 8,998 11,020

Total SCOPE 2 – Per million pages printed 339.2 359.9 440.8

SCOPE 33

Business travel (road not including Company vehicles)/(km) 2,741,952 0.10033 x 103 275 484 1,064
Business travel (air)/(km) 870,659 0.29795 x 103 259 207 119
Business travel (rail)/(km) 3,373,028 0.04506 x 103 152 115 113
Electricity for contracted printing  

(generation transmission and distribution)/(kWh) 1,525,357 0.46219 x 103 705 813 987
Gas for contracted printing/(kWh) 355,340 0.18445 x 103 66 76 95

Overall total SCOPE 1, 2 and 3 11,998 14,209 18,554

Overall total SCOPE 1, 2 and 3 per million pages printed 479.0 568.3 740.8

Notes:
1  Scope 1 covers the annual quantity of emissions in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent from activities for which Johnston Press is responsible. This means emissions 

from sources that are under the operational control of the Company.
2   Scope 2 covers the annual quantity of emissions in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent resulting from the purchase of electricity by Johnston Press for its own use.  

In line with the latest guidance from Defra emissions from the generation of electricity used are included in Scope 2, whilst emissions associated with the transmission 
and distribution of electricity used are included in Scope 3.

3   Scope 3 covers other indirect greenhouse gas emissions, i.e. where the emissions are from sources that are not owned by Johnston Press and where the Company 
does not have operational control.

4   UK Government Conversion Factors for Company Reporting have been used throughout.
5 Greenhouse gas emissions associated with electricity consumption have been restated for previous years to account for material changes to the conversion factors 

provided by the government for Company reporting purposes. 
 

and Commercial transformation programmes. Key priorities, as we 
continued to implement our new strategy, included identifying and 
developing leadership talent at all levels and succession planning.

Our expectations in terms of managers’ and employees’ behaviour 
and standards are set out in our Value Statements, Personnel 
Policies and Procedures, Employee Handbook, Codes of Conduct 
and Contracts of Employment. Our grievance and whistleblowing 
procedures allow any employee to report behaviour that is contrary 
to our policies or is in any way of concern to them and we 
communicated the support available around whistleblowing, 
including our relationship with whistleblowing charity Public 
Concern at Work, periodically throughout the year. 

We recognise a number of trade unions at an operating company 
level and remain committed to communication and consultation 
with our employees during times of change.

A diverse workforce adds clear value for our employees, customers, 
shareholders and the communities we serve and we fully support 
the principle of equal opportunity for all. Our Disability Access 
policy is included in our Personnel Policies and Procedures 
manual. As part of our ongoing health and safety audits and 
property maintenance programmes, we seek to provide suitable 
access and working environments to ensure that we do not 
discriminate against disabled employees or customers.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY 
We aim to continue to ensure that our Group’s activities accord 
with sound environmental practices. Accordingly, we have 
continually sought to review the Group’s operations with a view  
to minimising any impact upon the environment, including 
utilising technology resources for non-essential travel. 

ENERGY AND CLIMATE CHANGE
The overall reduction in the Group’s energy usage can be attributed 
to further consolidation of our business premises, including a number 
of office moves into more energy efficient buildings, as well as the 
implementation of other energy efficiency incentives. Refer to the 
Energy Consumption and Associated Greenhouse Gas Emissions 
table below.

CONSUMPTION OF ENERGY
In 2015, the Group reduced consumption of gas by approximately 
60% and grid electricity consumption by 6% demonstrating the 
effectiveness of our commitment towards reducing energy 
consumption as a long-term commitment.

The Group established its Carbon Footprint Taskforce in 2008  
and at the time this was instrumental in taking the lead in the 
development of our environmental policy and we anticipate  
that this body will again further boost the promotion of energy 
efficiency and recycling measures for the future.
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PAPER SUPPLY AND WASTE MANAGEMENT
During the year we conducted an audit for the new energy savings 
opportunity scheme. This has provided information for a large 
number of future energy efficiency initiatives.

The Group continues to buy all its newsprint from sustainable 
renewable sources, carrying Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) 
certification from the paper mills. 90% of paper consumed by  
our presses comes from 100% recycled newsprint with virgin fibre 
making up the balance.

60% of newsprint is supplied from UK-based paper mills, reducing 
the transportation paper and helping to ensure that we keep  
the carbon footprint of our printing business to a minimum. The 
balance of our newsprint supplies come from the near continent. 
All paper supplied from mills in the UK use 100% recycled fibre 
recovered from kerbside collection points and wholesaler returns.

As a member of the Newspaper Industry Materials Committee, 
which is part of the Newspaper Publisher Association (NPA), the 
Group also participates in both environmental and energy saving 
initiatives in the manufacture and supply of materials needed  
for the production of newspapers. It also supports the Two Sides 
campaign, a pan-European body responsible for the promotion 
and responsible use of paper products. This promotes the use of 
sustainable and reusable products in the newspaper industry.

The Group always strives to ensure that its actual supply of recycled 
paper is higher than the government guidelines and the industry-
wide statistics reported in this regard. The Group recycles all its 
paper and non-paper waste stream through audited environmental 
companies. These processes have been in place for several years 
and are in accordance with the Environmental Protection Act  
and Hazardous Waste Regulations and are ISO 14001 accredited. 
The Group also complies with the packaging waste regulations  
in the disposal of non-hazardous materials used in the packaging 
of its products.

Redundant IT equipment is collected for recycling in line with  
the relevant regulations. This process is carried out by our partners 
who are ISO 27001 and ISO 14001 compliant as well as being 
ADISA2 accredited. 
 
HEALTH AND SAFETY
The Group is committed to providing safe working conditions for all 
our employees, visitors and contractors, and we are proud to report 
that our safety performance continues to demonstrate one of the 
lowest reported accident figures in our industry. 

In 2015, we achieved an accident rate of 0.9%, compared to 1.4%  
in the prior year. Our continued efficiencies are also demonstrable 
through the significant reduction in time lost through accidents. 

We believe that our focus on addressing the causes of accidents – 
and our insistence on adhering to best practice and procedures – 
has played a significant part in our improved performance in recent 
years. Although we are proud of this achievement, our work will 
continue to ensure every effort is made to maintain this record. The 
company has Health and Safety Committee meetings throughout 
key operational areas and these are chaired by each area’s senior 
representative who ensures all actions are effectively completed.  
This is monitored by the Group Health and Safety Manager. 

The Board has overall responsibility for health and safety  
and receives regular reports in this regard with operational 
responsibility delegated to the Chief Executive Officer.

In addition, we have a Group Health and Safety Committee  
made up of representatives from key areas across the business.  
The Committee, in conjunction with the Group Health and Safety 
Manager, instructs and reviews audit visits, monitors compliance 
with Group policies, ensures those policies are kept up to date  
and encourages best practice.

The Group Health and Safety Manager coordinates independent 
audits of all our main sites and works closely with each of the site 
Health and Safety Officers to ensure effective performance, and 
this, once again, has helped all sites to improve their scores in our 
rolling programme of internal audit inspections. In 2015, additional 
audits were conducted at smaller sites confirming that the same 
standards were being employed. 

Our consistent reporting processes have now been in place  
for more than ten years allowing performance over time to be 
measured and ensuring that every accident is reported is a key  
part of our control environment.

APPROVAL
This strategic report was approved by the Board of Directors on 
22 March 2016 and signed on its behalf by: 

Ian Russell
Chairman
22 March 2016

Corporate Social Responsibility continued
2015 2014

Average FTE 2,840 3,242

No. of employees involved in accidents 26 48

Publishing 0.8% 1.1%
Printing 0.1% 0.5%

Total 0.9% 1.4%

 

Employees involved in RIDDOR1 reportable accidents 1 1

Publishing 0.04% 0.00%
Printing 0.00% 0.03%

Total 0.04% 0.03%

Total working days lost 7 21

1 RIDDOR is the Reporting of Injuries, Diseases and Dangerous Occurrences Regulations. 

2 The ADISA (Asset Disposal and Information Security Alliance) Industry standards have the primary objective of measuring a service providers capability for providing 
secure asset recovery and data sanitisation services to businesses.
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 2015 saw the Board maintain its 
 focus on the Company’s key strategic 
 priorities and the risks associated 
 with them. 

This report forms part of the Directors’ Report which can be found 
on pages 54 to 57. The Company has continued in its commitment 
to comply with the principles of the 2014 United Kingdom 
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) as published by the 
Financial Reporting Council (https://www.frc.org.uk/Our-Work/
Publications/Corporate-Governance/UK-Corporate-Governance-
Code-2014.pdf). The 2014 edition of the Code applies for financial 
years starting on or after 1 October 2014 and introduced further 
reporting requirements for premium listed companies. It is the 
Board’s view that throughout the period ending 2 January 2016  
the Company has been fully compliant with the relevant main and 
supporting principles set out in the Code. The Board and Executive 
Management monitor compliance with the Code and details of 
the Group’s internal controls can be found on page 39.

During 2015 the Board has maintained its focus on key strategic 
priorities and the risks associated with them during the current 
transformation of the Company and its provision of local media 
services. Although the Company was not required to undertake  
the complex capital restructuring exercises which were a feature  
of 2014, the Board has guided the transformation of Johnston Press 
during a time of ongoing structural change within the media and 
advertising sectors. Throughout this period the Company has 
continued to consult with its largest shareholders on a range of 
issues. The agreements governing the Group’s debt structure 
include various information requirements to holders of its bonds 
and lenders under its revolving credit facility which we complied 
with throughout the year. This report on corporate governance is 
intended to give shareholders some detail of the structures which 
the Company has operated under in the past year. We remain 
committed to the principles of good governance and, as a Board, 
seek to regularly review not only the effectiveness of our Board and 
committees but also the wider corporate governance framework 
within which we operate. We do so with the aim of ensuring that 
the Group as a whole is managed effectively and transparently. The 
report which follows provides more detail of the workings of the 
Board, including the matters reserved to it and to the evaluation 
process which we use to review (and where necessary improve)  
its effectiveness. 

Our remuneration policy was put to shareholders for the first time 
at the Annual General Meeting in 2014, receiving strong support 
from our shareholders. No further changes are proposed to the 
policy and this will next be presented to shareholders for approval 
in 2017. You can find details of the remuneration policy, and our 
implementation of it, in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on 
pages 43 to 53. 

The Audit Committee maintains its central role in monitoring  
the Group’s systems of internal controls and risk framework and  
a separate report on the work of the Audit Committee can be 
found on pages 41 to 42.

The views of our shareholders on governance issues are welcomed 
and play an important role in shaping our structures and our 
reporting of them. We aim to reflect their feedback and advice  
in our reporting.

We will continue to seek to ensure that the Board has an 
appropriate mix of skills and experience. This will remain a 
paramount consideration when recruiting new Directors to the 
Board at the appropriate time and is a key measure in ensuring 
that our governance structures remain appropriate for the Group. 
The Group continues to strive to reflect the communities in which 
we work and to have regard to the benefits of a diverse workforce. 
We always seek to provide information on this, and details of many 
of our other community and social initiatives can be found in the 
Corporate Social Responsibility Report on pages 29 to 32.

Ian Russell
Chairman
22 March 2016

Chairman’s Introduction to Corporate Governance
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Board of Directors

IAN RUSSELL, CBE
Chairman

ASHLEY HIGHFIELD
Chief Executive Officer

DAVID KING
Chief Financial Officer

MARK PAIN
Non-Executive

Biography

A Chartered Accountant, 
Ian was previously the 
Chief Executive of Scottish 
Power following a career 
in finance with HSBC, 
Mars Limited and KPMG.

Ashley was previously  
Managing Director  
and Vice President  
of Microsoft, Director  
of New Media and 
Technology at the BBC 
(where he oversaw the 
launch of the iPlayer)  
and Managing Director  
of Flextech (now Virgin 
Media) Interactive.

David is a Chartered 
Accountant. Previously 
he was CEO of Time  
Out Group and Chief 
Financial Officer at  
BBC Worldwide.

Mark is a Chartered 
Accountant and  
former Group Finance 
Director at Barrett 
Developments plc  
and Abbey National 
Group plc.

Term of Office

Joined the Board in 2007. Joined the Board in 
November 2011.

Joined the Board 
in June 2013.

Joined the Board in 2009.

Independent

Not applicable. Not applicable. Not applicable. Yes.

External Appointments

Chairman of HICL 
Infrastructure Company 
Limited. Non-Executive 
Director of British 
Polythene Industries plc, 
the Mercantile Trust plc 
and Black Rock Income 
Strategies. Adviser to 
Clyde Bergemann  
Power Group.

Non-Executive Director  
of William Hill plc and 
Governor of the British 
Film Institute until 
December 2015. Non-
executive Chair of The 
News Media Association 
since December 2015.

Non-executive Director of 
the Regulatory Funding 
Company.

Non-Executive Director 
of Yorkshire Building 
Society, Aviva Insurance 
Limited (a subsidiary of 
Aviva Group), Ladbrokes 
plc and Chairman of 
London Square plc.

Committee Membership and Other Roles

Chairman of the 
Nomination Committee.

Not applicable. Not applicable. Senior Independent 
Director, Chairman of 
the Audit Committee 
and member of the 
Nomination and 
Remuneration 
Committees.
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RALPH MARSHALL
Non-Executive

CAMILLA RHODES
Non-Executive

STEPHEN  
VAN ROOYEN 
Non-Executive

KJELL AAMOT
Non-Executive

PETER MCCALL
Company Secretary

Ralph is an Executive 
Director of Usaha Tegas 
Sdn. Bhd.

Camilla was the former 
Chief Executive Officer of 
News Magazines Ltd and 
Managing Director of 
Times Newspapers and 
News Group Newspapers, 
News International.

Stephen has held a 
number of senior roles  
at Sky since joining in  
2006 and is currently  
Chief Marketing, Sales  
& Digital Officer. He was 
previously Director of 
Strategy at Virgin Media 
and has also worked at 
News International and 
Accenture in both Australia 
and the UK. Stephen will 
step down from the Board 
at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting.

Kjell was formerly the 
Chief Executive Officer of 
Schibsted ASA, the largest 
Scandinavian newspaper 
publisher.

Peter joined Johnston 
Press plc as Company 
Secretary and 
Corporate Counsel  
in 2009. Previously 
Company Secretary  
of Kenmore Property 
Group Ltd and Deputy 
Company Secretary  
of British Energy 
Group plc.

Joined the Board in 2008. Joined the Board in 2009. Joined the Board in 2013. Joined the Board in 2010. Not applicable.

No. Yes. Yes. Yes. Not applicable.

Serves on the Boards  
of several companies 
including Astro All Asia 
Networks plc as Executive 
Deputy Chairman, KLCC 
Property Holdings Berhad 
and others which are listed 
on the Bursa Malaysia 
Securities Berhad.

No other  
appointments held.

Non-executive Director  
of Sky Bet.

Advisor to FSN Capital  
and Cexense (both based 
in Norway).

No external 
appointments held.

Member of the  
Nomination Committee.

Chair of the 
Remuneration 
Committee. Member  
of the Nomination and 
Audit Committees.

Member of the 
Nomination and 
Remuneration 
Committees. 

Member of the Audit  
and Nomination 
Committees and will  
join the Remuneration 
Committee after the 
Annual General Meeting 
in 2016.

Secretary to the Audit, 
Nomination and 
Remuneration 
Committees.
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Corporate Governance
THE ROLE OF THE BOARD
The Board, in its commitment to effectively operate and lead the Company held six Board meetings in 2015. Where necessary, the 
Chairman meets privately with the Non-Executive Directors before scheduled Board meetings. If unable to attend a meeting, Directors 
are encouraged to give their views and comments on matters to be discussed to the Chairman in advance. Attendance at meetings 
throughout the year by each of the Directors is shown below. All Directors are encouraged to share the benefit of their knowledge and 
experience and the Board’s evaluation process assesses their contribution each year.

Throughout the year the Board has played a key role in monitoring and evaluating the development of the Group’s Strategy. The 
Company’s business model is described on pages 11 to 14. The Board reviews the performance of management in meeting the agreed 
objectives and goals and monitors appropriate remuneration levels. The Group’s management development and succession plans are 
scrutinised by the Board to ensure that the skills and competencies of management correspond to the Group’s requirements. At least 
one Board meeting each year is wholly devoted to strategy and to the consideration of a plan for the long-term growth and development 
of the Group. This is reviewed and discussed as appropriate at the other Board meetings held during the year.

The Board’s primary task is to ensure that the Company (and its wider group of subsidiaries) have sufficient financial resources and talent 
in order to meet its core objectives by:
• reviewing and approving the overall Group strategy and direction;
• approving the financial statements, as well as revenue and capital budgets; 
• setting, implementing and maintaining audit processes and risk management policies, to ensure the effective operation of the Company;
• the approval of material agreements and projects; and
• reviewing and approving of remuneration policies. 

In addition to the normal agenda at Board meetings, which is described below, the Directors usually consider one or more operational  
or special topics at each meeting. During the last 12 months such topics have included:
• business risks;
• regulatory trends and developments;
• newsroom and sales transformation projects; 
• strategy for paid-for-newspapers;
• website development;
• development plans for major titles;
• advertising revenues;
• display advertising;
• property portfolio;
• strategy for information technology;
• digital revenues and publishing;
• talent and human resource requirements;
• the Company’s final salary pension scheme;
• new product offers;
• disaster recovery plans; and
• health and safety.

The authority of the Directors is specified in relevant legislation and in the Company’s Articles of Association which include powers 
concerning the issue and buy back of the Company’s shares, subject to the authority of its shareholders. At its Annual General Meeting  
in 2015 the Company sought authority to make purchases of its own shares. Board members also have respective commitments to the 
Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees. In 2015 there were four scheduled meetings of the Audit Committee and of the 
Nomination Committee, and the Remuneration Committee held five meetings.
 
BOARD ATTENDANCE
The following table indicates Director’s attendance during the year:

Scheduled meetings
Board

 (6)
Audit Committee 

(4)

Nomination 
Committee 

(4)

Remuneration 
Committee 

(5)

Ian Russell 6 – 4 –

Ashley Highfield 6 – – –

David King 6 – – –

Mark Pain 6 4 4 5

Ralph Marshall 6 – 4 –

Camilla Rhodes 6 4 4 5

Kjell Aamot1 6 4 3 –

Stephen van Rooyen2 4 – 3 4

1 Missed one Audit Committee Meeting due to travel delays.
2 Missed two Board meetings, one Nomination Committee meeting and one meeting of the Remuneration Committee due to conflicting personal or business 

commitments. In the case of the Committee meetings each was held on the same day as one of the two Board meetings which Mr van Rooyen was unable  
to attend.

During the year, the Company kept the membership of the Board and Committees under review. The Company believe that the current 
mix of individuals was appropriate throughout the year and that the Committees worked well. There were no changes to the composition 
of the Board during the year. Mr van Rooyen will step down as a Director at the Company’s forthcoming Annual General Meeting.
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Board Responsibilities
The Board maintains a formal schedule of matters specifically reserved to it for discussion and decision making, including future strategy, 
acquisitions and disposals, dividend policy, approval of the Annual Report and Accounts, capital expenditure and contractual commitments 
in excess of certain limits, trading and capital budgets and Group borrowing facilities. The schedule was reviewed during 2015. At each 
meeting during the year, the Board considered and scrutinised management reports from the Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial 
Officer, the Digital and Product Director and the Group Managing Director. Each report addresses performance against a number of key 
strategic objectives as well as providing additional information regarding business performance and market and other key issues. The 
minutes of Board and Committee meetings are circulated to all Board members. The Company Secretary is responsible to the Board for  
the timeliness and quality of information provided to it. Day-to-day management of the Group, including implementation of strategy and 
operational decisions relating to digital and print publishing, online products, printing and human resources are delegated to management. 
The Executive Management Committee, consisting of the Executive Directors and nine other senior managers (two of whom are women 
and seven of whom are men) from across the Group meets weekly to review performance and consider operational issues.

The Board acknowledges the division of responsibilities for running the Board and managing the Company’s business. Ian Russell served 
as Non-Executive Chairman throughout the year. The Chairman is responsible for the leadership of the Board, for setting the Board’s 
agenda and ensuring that adequate time is available for discussion of all agenda items, in particular strategic issues as well as ensuring 
effective communication with shareholders. It is also primarily his responsibility to promote a culture of openness and debate by 
facilitating the effective contribution of Non-Executive Directors in particular and ensuring constructive relations between Executive and 
Non-Executive Directors. Mr Russell stood down as chair of Remploy Limited during the year. There were no other significant changes to 
the external commitments of the Chairman during the year.

As part of their role, Non-Executive Directors constructively challenge and help develop proposals on strategy. In addition to at least one 
Board meeting each year being dedicated to strategy. Key strategic objectives are reported to the Board in the executive reports which 
they receive and they are given regular reports and presentations on key strategic initiatives and issues. They satisfy themselves on the 
integrity of financial information and that internal controls and systems of risk management are robust and defensible. The work and 
reports of the Audit Committee are used to assist the Board in this process. Through the Remuneration Committee they are responsible 
for determining appropriate levels of remuneration of Executive Directors and, through the Nomination Committee, have a prime role  
in appointing and, where necessary, removing Executive Directors and in succession planning.

Mark Pain served as Senior Independent Director throughout 2015. The Senior Independent Director is available to address any concerns 
that shareholders may have that have not been resolved through the normal communication channels of the Chairman or Executive 
Directors. Throughout 2015, the Audit Committee was chaired by Mark Pain, the Nomination Committee was chaired by Ian Russell, and 
the Remuneration Committee by Camilla Rhodes. The terms of reference of each of the Board’s Committees were reviewed by the Board 
during 2015 and the terms are displayed on the Company’s website. Membership of each Committee is noted on pages 34 and 35.

BOARD BALANCE AND INDEPENDENCE
Of the Company’s current eight Directors, two are Executive and the remainder Non-Executive, of whom four (Mark Pain, Camilla Rhodes, 
Kjell Aamot and Stephen van Rooyen) are regarded as independent. Throughout the year, the Company complied with the requirement 
of the Code, that at least half of the Board (excluding the Chairman) should consist of independent Non-Executive Directors. Ralph 
Marshall was appointed to the Board as the nominee Director of Usaha Tegas which owns 10.63% of the Company’s issued ordinary share 
capital. He is therefore not regarded as independent. Details of each Director are provided on pages 34 and 35. The Board will pursue  
a process to renew its membership during 2016 and as part of this, Stephen van Rooyen will step down from the Board at the end of  
the Company’s 2016 Annual General Meeting. The terms and conditions of appointment of the Non-Executive Directors are available  
for inspection at the Company’s registered office during office hours and for at least 15 minutes prior to the Company’s Annual General 
Meeting at the place where that meeting is held.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The reports of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee can be found on pages 41 and 42 and 43 to 53 respectively.

Nomination Committee
Reporting to the Board, the Nomination Committee’s duties include regularly reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board, 
seeking suitably skilled and experienced candidates as Non-Executive Directors with sufficient time to devote to the role, and overseeing  
all Board appointments. In doing so the Committee also considers the Company’s succession planning for Executive Directors and senior 
managers, to ensure that adequate plans are in place to protect against the loss of key staff, as well as reviewing the composition of the Board 
and its committees. The Committee is satisfied with the effectiveness of the management succession plans currently in place. The Board has 
now recommenced the process for renewal of its membership and anticipates the appointment of at least one new Non-Executive Director 
during 2016 following the decision of Mr van Rooyen not to seek re-election at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. In considering 
candidates to fill Board vacancies, the Nomination Committee has regard to the benefits of, and the need to encourage, diversity (including 
gender) within the Board’s membership and this is a specific consideration of the recruitment process and is included in the Committee’s 
terms of reference. The Company operates a diversity policy which commits it to equal opportunity, fairness and respect for all and opposes 
discrimination on grounds of gender, gender reassignment, age, marital or family status, race, nationality, ethnic origin, disability, religion or 
belief or sexual orientation, or other factors that are immaterial to a person’s ability to do their job. The Board does not presently set measurable 
objectives for diversity amongst Board members (including a target for female Board membership). Once the requirements of a vacant role 
have been determined, the Committee may appoint external recruitment consultants to assist with the search who will also consider diversity 
in identifying suitable candidates. External recruitment consultants engaged for this purpose have no other connection with the Company.  
The Committee will continue to monitor the Company’s diversity policy. The Company Secretary acts as secretary to the Committee. 

Induction and Professional Development
The Company has a detailed induction programme which it makes available for new Directors. This can be tailored to specific 
requirements and includes visits to a range of the Group’s operations where appropriate, and meetings and discussions with senior 
management and advisers.
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Corporate Governance continued

BOARD COMMITTEES CONTINUED
All Board members have access to independent advice on any matters relating to their responsibilities as Directors and as members of 
the various Committees of the Board. The assistance of the Company Secretary is available to all Directors for all matters connected to 
their duties. Directors receive regular reports from Executive Management. They are also sent regular updates on industry-related issues.

Training
Director training is undertaken as required during the year including industry-specific governance and technical issues. It is the Company’s 
policy that each Non-Executive Director should seek to visit at least two of the Group’s centres each year. During a site visit they receive a 
presentation and a tour of the relevant business. Individual Directors also make arrangements to attend a range of seminars presented by 
professionals throughout the year. When the Non-Executive Directors meet without the Executive Directors present, the balance of skills 
on the Board (which includes training needs) is one of the standard topics for the Board to consider, both individually and collectively.

Board Performance Evaluation
Under the provisions of the Code, evaluation of the boards of FTSE 350 companies (which does not include the Company) should be 
conducted externally every three years. The Board decided that it was appropriate to undertake an externally facilitated evaluation during 
2014 and engaged Armstrong Bonham Carter to undertake this. The findings of the evaluation were reported last year and formed the 
basis of an action plan conducted in 2015. During 2015 the Board also conducted a rigorous evaluation of its own performance and that  
of each of its Committees. This involved the completion of a self-assessment questionnaire by Directors covering the performance of  
the Board, individual Directors, the Company Secretary and Board Committees. Other topics included the conduct of meetings, the 
provision of information, relationships, strategy, training, progress against the outcomes from the 2014 evaluation exercise and the overall 
effectiveness of the Board. The composition and chairmanship of each Committee was reviewed together with its fulfilment of its  
role as outlined in its terms of reference, its reporting and overall performance.

The topics which the evaluation exercise addressed provided the Board with an analysis of the performance of its key duties and, as has 
been the case with previous evaluation exercises, identified a number of specific areas where change could be beneficial to the Company 
and to the conduct of the Board and/or one or more Committees. These are being used to assist in the planning of the Board’s business. 
Although specific areas were identified for change, overall the process was positive and confirmed the effectiveness of the Board and 
relevant Committees as well as the contributions of individual Directors. As a separate measure, the Non-Executive Directors meet 
without the Chairman present at least annually to review his performance.

Dialogue with Institutional Shareholders
The Board encourages and seeks to build a mutual understanding of objectives between the Company and its institutional shareholders. 
As part of this process, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer make twice-yearly presentations to institutional shareholders 
and meet with shareholders to discuss any issues of concern and obtain feedback. In addition, shareholders can request a meeting with 
the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer throughout the year to highlight any significant concerns.

The Chairman personally contacts the leading shareholders in the Company on at least an annual basis to address any concerns and 
discuss any issues. The Board receive a report with regard to any discussion with shareholders and also have circulated to them the 
written feedback that follows the full-year and the half-year results presentations. Brokers’ reports and analysts’ briefings, when available, 
are included in the Board papers sent to the Directors in advance of meetings. The Board receives a quarterly update on the shareholder 
register with a summary of the main movements in shareholdings since the previous report. It also receives regular updates from the 
Company’s Brokers, Panmure Gordon and Liberum.

Members of the Board offer to meet with institutional shareholders to consider Corporate Governance matters. All the Non-Executive 
Directors are prepared to meet with shareholders to understand their views more fully or to address concerns. 

The Company also has certain obligations concerning the provision of information to providers of its debt and will liaise with those 
providers or agents representing them when appropriate.

Annual General Meeting
The Board seeks to encourage shareholders to attend its Annual General Meeting. It is the policy of the Board that all Directors should 
attend the Annual General Meeting and be available to answer shareholders’ questions unless unable to do so. The Company uses the 
Annual General Meeting to communicate with private investors and encourages their participation. All Directors attended the Annual 
General Meeting in 2015. In 2015, the notice of the Annual General Meeting and related papers were sent to shareholders more than 
20 days before the meeting.

Share Capital
Information on the Company’s share capital is provided in Note 24 of the financial statements.

Board Re-election
Under the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association, all Directors are subject to election at the first Annual General Meeting  
after their appointment and thereafter to re-election every three years. The Company is not currently a member of the FTSE 350 index  
of companies and is therefore not required to comply with the provision of the Code which requires all directors of companies in that 
index to be subject to annual re-election. However, the Board considers that it is appropriate that all Directors who wish to continue in 
office stand for annual re-election (as they have done since 2013), and accordingly the Board has recommended that resolutions will be 
proposed at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting for the re-election of all of the current Directors who have indicated that they wish 
to continue in office. As reported elsewhere in this report, Mr van Rooyen will not stand for re-election. The Nomination Committee have, 
following the formal evaluation process described above, considered the performance of each of those Directors who wish to stand for 
re-election at the 2016 Annual General Meeting and are satisfied that those individuals’ performance continue to be effective and that 
they have demonstrated a clear commitment to their roles. 
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Separately during the course of the year, the Non-Executive Directors met without Ian Russell to review his performance as Chairman  
and were satisfied that he continues to provide the necessary leadership and effectiveness for the role and has demonstrated an ongoing 
commitment to it.

Financial Reporting
The Board is committed to presenting appropriate information about the Group’s financial position by complying with best practice  
and all standards issued by the International and UK Accounting Standards Boards relating to the disclosures which are included  
in this Annual Report.

Internal Control
The Board has applied principle C.2 of the Code by establishing a continuous process for identifying, evaluating and managing the 
significant risks the Group faces and establishing a sound risk management and internal control system. The Board regularly reviews  
the process, which has been in place from the start of the year to the date of approval of this report and which is in accordance with 
Guidance on Risk Management and Internal Control and Related Financial and Business Reporting published by the Financial Reporting 
Council. The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal control and for reviewing its effectiveness. Such a system is designed  
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.

In compliance with Provision C.2.1 of the Code, the Board regularly and robustly assesses the principal risks facing the Company and 
reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and system of internal control and did so during 2015 and on an ongoing basis. 
The Code’s requirements have been integrated into the Company’s current risk management process to enable the appropriate Board 
reviews to be undertaken to allow continued compliance. The Board’s monitoring covers all controls, including financial, operational  
and compliance controls and risk management, and is based principally on reviewing reports from management to consider whether 
significant risks are identified, evaluated, managed and controlled and whether any significant weaknesses or emerging issues are 
promptly remedied or indicate a need for more extensive monitoring. The Board has also performed a specific assessment prior to the 
completion of this Annual Report. This assessment considers all significant aspects of internal control arising during the period covered  
by the report including the work of the Finance Department. The Audit Committee assists the Board (which maintains responsibility in 
this regard) in discharging its review responsibilities.

During the course of its review of the system of internal control, the Board has not identified or been advised of any failings or weaknesses 
which it has determined to be significant in the context of the Group. Therefore a confirmation in respect of necessary actions has not 
been considered appropriate. The key elements of the ongoing continuous process during the period under review have been:
• Formal Board reporting on a bi-monthly basis of the Group’s performance and on any emerging risks and issues. The Company’s 

management accounts break down the results of the Group’s operations. All significant variations against budget and the previous 
year are fully examined. The day-to-day responsibility for managing each of the Group’s operations rests with experienced senior 
executives and the Group has a clear organisational structure which includes appropriate delegation of authority (which was reviewed 
in 2015). The Executive Directors ensure that regular contact is maintained with all senior executives. The following issues are amongst 
those formally reserved to the Board:
– approval for unbudgeted capital expenditure over £1 million and for other investment decisions; 
– approval of the annual budget for the forthcoming financial year. This includes detailed and comprehensive budgets covering each 

operating business;
– reporting of the key operational departments’ future strategy as part of the operational topics considered at Board meetings during 

the year; and
– review by the Audit Committee (with subsequent reporting to the Board) on a six-monthly basis of the work performed by the 

Finance Department (including in respect of internal audit issues with respect to internal financial controls, the programme for 
which is agreed in advance). This work is supported by the Group’s financial accounting centre which ensures a consistent and 
compliant approach to the processing of transactions and ensures a uniform control process across the Group’s operations. 

The Company conducted a detailed internal review of risk during 2015 which has formed the basis for ongoing internal monitoring and 
review of risk. The Group’s key risks are regularly considered by the Executive Management Committee and members of that Committee 
have responsibility for individual risks and the identification of emergent risks. The Board is provided with regular updates in respect of 
these. The Audit Committee has an oversight and monitoring role in relation to risk management and reviews the form of internal 
controls which the Company operates. It reports its findings to the Board on a regular basis following its meetings. The Board maintains 
ultimate responsibility for the monitoring and management of risk throughout the Group. Due to the changing nature of the Group, the 
range of risks that it faces and in order to ensure that resources are properly deployed to identify, monitor and mitigate risk, the Company 
has determined that it requires external support to assist it in effective internal audit and, as a result is engaging with external firms to 
assist with this work. The Group has an ongoing process to embed best practice into all the Group’s operations and to deal with areas  
of improvement which come to management’s and the Board’s attention.

In addition, senior management set policies, procedures and standards as detailed in the Group’s policy guidelines. These were reviewed 
in 2015 and tailored versions have been issued to the businesses in the specific locations where applicable. 

The guidelines include policies on:
• finance including cash/treasury controls and authorisation levels;
• trading;
• customer service;
• commercial and competition;
• technology;
• property management;
• human resources including pension administration, disability and health and safety; 
• environmental issues and energy management;
• legal and regulatory compliance; and
• business continuity. 
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Corporate Governance continued

BOARD COMMITTEES CONTINUED
FAIR, BALANCED AND UNDERSTANDABLE REPORT
A key governance requirement of the Group’s financial statements is for the Annual Report and Accounts to be fair, balanced and 
understandable. The preparation of the Annual Report and Accounts requires the co-ordination of information from throughout the 
Group to a demanding timetable which runs in parallel with the formal audit process undertaken by Deloitte LLP. The report has been 
prepared by the Company’s management and then reviewed by the Audit Committee and subsequently the Board. In order to provide 
comfort to the Audit Committee and the Board, contributors to the report have been provided with guidance as to the requirements of 
the Company. The content of the report is subject to a verification exercise and to review by senior management. The Board has reviewed 
the Annual Report and Accounts and the reports of management regarding its preparation and believes that the explanation and 
disclosures set out on pages 1 to 112 provide the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s performance, business 
model and strategy. Accordingly, having taken all matters considered by the Board and brought to its attention during the year into 
account, each of the Directors considers that the Annual Report taken as a whole is fair, balanced and understandable and provides 
shareholders with the requisite information for evaluating the performance and current strategy of the Company. 

LIQUIDITY AND GOING CONCERN
Following the bond buy-back in August 2015, the Group now has gross debt of £220.0 million (refer to the Financial Review – cash flow 
and net debt for a reconciliation between gross debt and net debt). Cash on balance sheet at 2 January 2016 was £40.6 million, and the 
Group has access to a £25.0 million revolving credit facility (RCF) which remains undrawn. The bond (senior secured notes) has a five-year 
maturity due 2019, and the Group’s RCF matures on 23 December 2018. 

Subject to shareholder approval, the Group committed to pay £22.0 million for the i newspaper on 10 April 2016 from cash reserves,  
with a further £2.0 million in April 2017. 

The Group’s policy is to ensure it has committed funding in place sufficient to meet foreseeable peak borrowing requirements. 

Based on its review, and after considering reasonably possible downside sensitivities, the Board is of the opinion that the Group has 
adequate financial resources to meet operational needs for the foreseeable future, and have concluded that it is appropriate to prepare 
the financial statements on a going concern basis.

VIABILITY STATEMENT
In accordance with provision C.2.2. of the Code, the directors have assessed the prospects of the Group over a longer period than the  
12 months required to determine the going concern basis for the preparation of the Group’s financial statements. 

The directors have reasonable expectations that the Group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due 
over the three-year time period of their assessment.

The directors have determined that the period of three years from the balance sheet date is appropriate for the purposes of conducting 
this review. This period was selected with reference to the Group’s strategy and planning cycle. The Board formally reviews strategy twice  
a year in May and September, with a view to informing the subsequent annual budget setting. The budget forms year one of the three 
year plan, with projections for years two and three.

The annual budget provides a more detailed reflection of the groups immediate plans and is reviewed and approved by the Board before 
the start of the financial year. 

In setting the annual budget and three year plan the Board considers the current trading position and the principal risks and 
opportunities identified by the Group. In particular:
• The opportunity to invest and grow its audiences and its digital revenue streams;
• The ability of the Group to continue to reduce costs, to mitigate the continuing decline in print based circulation and advertising 

revenues;
• The level of capital expenditure required to support investment in growth, and the level of restructuring costs needed to support 

further cost reduction initiatives;
• The funding required to support the recovery plan of the historic closed defined benefit pension scheme obligations; and
• The cash generated to meet bond interest commitments as they fall due.

The Group operates in an industry which is undergoing a sustained period of significant structural change. This is driven in part by new 
competitors and new methods of accessing content which are provided by rapidly-changing technology and which are in turn facilitating 
very significant and ongoing changes in consumer behaviour. The Group’s ability to adapt to this constantly changing environment will 
determine its prospects over the three year period.

In reviewing its plan the Group conducts sensitivity analysis, to understand the impact of continued or accelerated decline in revenues,  
as well as considering what actions the Group might take to mitigate those risks. The future assessments and plans adopted by the Board 
are subject to change and a level of market uncertainty. As a result of the risks and uncertainties faced by the business (including those 
outlined in the Principal Risks & Uncertainties section) the outcomes reflected in its plan cannot be guaranteed. In the event of sustained 
decline in print revenues that cannot be matched or mitigated through digital revenue growth, or cost reduction, then the Group’s ability 
to secure new sources of debt capital will be adversely affected. The Board will continue to oversee the development of the strategy, the 
market and the performance of the business, across the three year period, and the business’s preparation for the replacement of the 
£220m high yield bond, due no later than June 2019. 
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Report of the Audit Committee
THE ROLE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board from the Non-Executive Directors of the Company. The Audit Committee’s terms of 
reference include all matters indicated by Disclosure and Transparency Rule 7.1 and the Code. The terms of reference are considered annually 
by the Audit Committee and are approved by the Board. A copy of the current terms of reference is available on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee is responsible for:
• monitoring the integrity of the financial statements of the Group and any formal announcements relating to the Group’s financial 

performance and reviewing significant financial reporting judgements contained therein;
• reviewing the effectiveness of the Group’s internal financial controls and the Group’s internal control and risk management systems 

and making proposals to the Board as to the need, or otherwise, for changes to those systems;
• making recommendations to the Board, for a resolution to be put to the shareholders for their approval in general meeting, on the 

appointment of the external auditors and the approval of the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors;
• reviewing and monitoring the external auditors’ independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process, taking into 

consideration relevant UK professional and regulatory requirements;
• reviewing (with subsequent reporting to the Board) of the conclusions of the Group’s external auditor in its annual audit and review  

of the half-year results. These reviews include discussion of any control weaknesses or issues identified by the auditors;
• developing and implementing the Group’s policy on the engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit services, taking into 

account relevant guidance regarding provision of non-audit services by the external audit firm; 
• reviewing the arrangements by which staff may, in confidence, raise concerns about possible improprieties in matters of financial 

reporting or other areas; and
• monitoring the risk assessment process involving all senior managers of the Group’s businesses in addition to the Executive Directors. 

The Group’s risk matrix is reviewed on a regular basis throughout the year by both the local operational and senior management. Risks  
are examined at regular executive meetings both locally and at Group level. These risk assessment sessions are held at each operation  
and will evaluate and address the risks identified. The results of these assessments are addressed in the Executive Directors’ reports to the 
Board. During 2015, the areas which senior management considered included Group strategy, customer care metrics, talent, newsprint, 
editorial reorganisation, national advertising sales, display advertising, sales force restructuring, revenue growth and digital strategy, 
management resources and reorganisation, newspaper sales and property.

The Audit Committee is required to report its findings to the Board, identifying any matters on which it considers that action or improvement  
is needed and making recommendations on the steps to be taken. The Committee’s Terms of Reference permit it to oversee the selection 
process for appointing new auditors should it determine, or it becomes necessary, to do so.

Composition of the Audit Committee
The Committee is normally comprised of three independent Non-Executive Directors.

The Audit Committee is chaired by Mark Pain, a Chartered Accountant, who is considered by the Board to have recent and relevant 
financial experience and expertise for that role, and fulfils the requirement that the Committee includes at least one financially qualified 
member. All Audit Committee members are expected to be financially literate. Camilla Rhodes and Kjell Aamot, both of whom hold or 
have previously held board and/or executive management level posts in major media organisations, are also members. Details of each 
Director can be found on pages 34 and 35.

Membership of the Committee is reviewed at regular intervals by the Chairman of the Committee and the Chairman of the Board,  
who is not a member of the Audit Committee. 

Meetings
The Audit Committee is required to meet not less than three times per year and has an agenda linked to events in the Group’s financial 
calendar. The agenda is predominantly cyclical and is therefore approved by the Audit Committee Chairman on behalf of his fellow 
members. Each Audit Committee member has the right to require reports on relevant matters of interest in addition to the cyclical items.

The Audit Committee meetings are attended by the Chief Financial Officer and the Group Head of Finance at the invitation of the 
Committee, and the Company Secretary, who acts as Secretary to the Committee, with minutes being circulated to all Committee 
members. The Chairman and Chief Executive Officer are also invited to attend if required to do so by the Committee. Towards the close  
of relevant meetings, all executives (with the exception of the Company Secretary) leave in order for the Committee to have appropriate 
discussion with the external auditor (who also attends by invitation). The Audit Committee Chairman also has one or more private 
meetings with the external audit partner during the course of the year to discuss any relevant issues.

The Committee meets once during the year with the Company’s external auditor to discuss and agree the audit programme for  
the forthcoming year, together with any proposed non-audit work. Any significant non-audit work by the auditor is approved by the 
Committee (or by the Committee Chairman on its behalf) in advance of any engagement letter being signed.
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THE ROLE OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE CONTINUED
Overview of the Actions Taken by the Audit Committee to Discharge its Duties
Two of the scheduled meetings in 2015 were held during the year-end audit and one was held during the interim review. Two of the 
meetings during 2015 considered reports on the Group’s system of internal controls. These, together with the system in operation are 
described in the Internal Control section.

At its fourth meeting of the year the Committee carried out a review of the Group’s key business risks and amendments to its system of 
reviewing and monitoring risk. The Committee is actively involved in the ongoing review of risk and internal controls by the main Board. 
For additional information see the section on Internal Control on page 39.

In considering the financial statements for the period ended 2 January 2016, the following significant issues were addressed: 
• bond accounting; 
• carrying value of publishing titles;
• pension liabilities; and
• viability statement.

Papers in relation to each of these topics were presented to the Audit Committee by management and also provided to the auditors  
for their consideration and opinion. They were subsequently discussed at meetings of the Audit Committee who made a final 
recommendation on their treatment to the Board as part of its process of approving the Company’s financial statements. 

Other matters considered included structural changes to the Group, business reorganisations and cost reduction plans, acquisition  
of Love News Media Limited, property (including assets held for sale) and certain technical updates. 

External Auditor
At the meeting to review the Annual Report and Accounts, the Committee formally considers the non-audit services provided by the 
Group’s external auditor and the effectiveness of the audit process. It is the Company’s policy that any non-audit work to be performed  
by the auditor, where fees on a cumulative basis exceed £50,000 in any financial year, must be approved by the Audit Committee. The 
Group’s policy requires that services and/or advice that require auditing are not undertaken by the external auditor. If non-audit fees  
for a financial year exceed the audit related fees for a year, then Board approval must be given. Where appropriate, non-audit work for 
which the auditor is considered is the subject of an appropriate tender exercise.

To assess the effectiveness of the external auditor, the Audit Committee reviewed the:
• arrangements for ensuring the external auditor’s independence and objectivity;
• external auditor’s fulfilment of the agreed audit plan and any variations from the plan;
• robustness and perceptiveness of the auditor in their handling of the key accounting and audit judgements; and
• content of the external auditor’s reporting on internal control.

During 2015 the Company has used several professional firms for different projects. Taxation compliance and advisory work relating  
to the Company’s subsidiaries in the Republic of Ireland was undertaken by a professional firm other than the Group’s auditor.

The Committee oversaw the appointment of Deloitte LLP in 2002 and has a primary responsibility for the appointment, re-appointment 
and removal of the auditor. The Committee conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of the external audit process as part of its work 
during the year. The Committee reviewed the auditor’s plan for the year, noting the role of the senior statutory audit partner and key audit 
staff, the arrangements for day-to-day management of the audit, if there were any conflicts of interest and the extent of non-audit services 
provided by the auditor. The Company’s auditors may be engaged to undertake non-audit work in limited circumstances when it is 
considered beneficial, in the opinion of the Committee, that their knowledge and/or expertise are deployed by the Company. Non-audit 
related services provided in 2015 consisted of professional advice in relation to taxation compliance services, other taxation advisory 
services and pension scheme audit services with total fees of of £199,000 (see Note 5). The advice was provided by partners and staff who 
had no involvement in the audit of the financial statements. The Committee is satisfied that the objectivity and independence of the 
external audit is safeguarded. The Committee has considered the likelihood of a withdrawal of the external auditor from the market and 
noted that there are no contractual obligations to restrict the choice of external auditor.

The Committee has recommended to the Board the re-appointment of the external auditor. On the recommendation of the Audit 
Committee, the Directors will be proposing the re-appointment of Deloitte LLP at the Annual General Meeting in 2016. In making that 
recommendation, the Committee considered the performance of the external auditor in previous years and took account of their 
knowledge of the Group and of the fact that the Group remains in a considerable period of change, through which continuity of auditor was 
felt to be important. The audit partner rotated at the commencement of the 2012 interim review and will continue to rotate every five years, 
subject to Deloitte LLP’s ongoing appointment. Although the Company has no current plans to retender the contract for audit services  
it reserves the right to do so and will comply with a requirement to retender such contract to which it is or may be subject in the future.

Report of the Audit Committee continued
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Directors’ Remuneration Report – Annual Statement
Dear Shareholder
I am pleased to present the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the period ending 2 January 2016. In this year’s report, I will provide an 
update on the remuneration of the Executive Directors over the last 12 months with details of base salaries and benefits received; annual 
bonuses paid; long-term incentives with performance periods ending in the year and new awards made; plus the usual tables providing 
information on executive and non-executive contracts, their shareholding and other information as required by the reporting rules.  
In addition, details of the 2016 annual bonus plan and awards to be made under the Performance Share Plan are included.

The Company’s Remuneration Policy (the “Policy”), approved by shareholders in 2014, has not changed, so this year we have not reproduced it in 
this report; the full policy is contained in the 2014 Annual Report, available on the Company’s website http://www.johnstonpress.co.uk/investors/
reports-results-presentations.

The Remuneration Committee met five times in 2015 in order to discuss and agree key remuneration issues, with a major focus during 
the year on the incentivisation and retention of key people, considered essential to the medium and long-term transformation of the 
Company. We have endeavoured to address the very real possibility of losing key talent during the next couple of years, which is a crucial 
period for returning to growth. Thus, during 2015 the Remuneration Committee focused on the following: 
• Positioning base salaries of senior executives competitively.
• Reviewing alternative long-term incentive arrangements for below Board senior executives.
• Determining long-term incentive awards for the Executive Directors and key individuals.
• Approving and adopting a new Restricted Share Plan for positions below Executive Directors.
• Approving bonus payments due under the 2015 Annual Bonus Plan and agreeing the Annual Plan for 2016.

BASE SALARIES
Increases to the base salaries of the Executive Directors were implemented from 1 January 2015 and reported in last year’s Annual Report. 
Potential increases for 2016 will be considered in the context of and at the same time as the annual salary review for the rest of the 
business, which is now expected to take place later in the year. 

ANNUAL BONUS
2015 was another challenging year for the newspaper industry in general. Johnston Press continued to respond to these challenges 
through restructuring, cost savings, new initiatives and investment in Digital products. Annual incentives were designed to reward revenue 
growth and maintain financial performance, along with an appropriate mix of non-financial targets to drive audience and advertiser 
satisfaction and loyalty. Despite progress in many areas, results for the key targets included in the annual bonus plan were disappointing, 
resulting in restricted bonuses for the Executive Directors and the Company’s Executive Management and Senior Leadership Team who 
were subject to the same bonus plan. 

A key measure for bonus was EBITDA with a specific minimum to be achieved. This target was not reached, so in line with the terms  
of the bonus plan described in last year’s report, the bonus for the other measures was halved. Total bonus paid to the Chief Executive 
Officer was 5.9% of salary and to the Chief Financial Officer was 5.7% of salary. As the resulting amounts are relatively small, for 
administrative reasons they will be paid fully in cash, with no deferral into shares.

The 2016 Annual Bonus Plan applying to the Executive Directors and the Senior Leadership Team was approved in early January 2016. 
Maximum potential bonus for the Chief Executive Officer remains 120% of salary, and for the Chief Financial Officer 100%. This year’s 
performance measures are exclusively financial, aimed at focusing the senior team on improving profitability, growing revenue and 
paying down the Group’s debt; details are provided in the table on page 49. 

LONG-TERM INCENTIVES
Awards under the Johnston Press Performance Share Plan were made to the Executive Directors and a limited number of key senior 
executives in 2015. The face value of awards to the Executive Directors was 100% of base salary. These awards may vest after three years, 
subject to certain performance conditions being met. The two performance conditions relate to Earnings Per Share performance and 
Total Shareholder Return relative to a Comparator Group of listed Media companies; details of these new awards are shown in the Table 
on pages 51 and 52. 

During the year, awards made under the Performance Share Plan in 2012 to executives, reached the end of their three-year performance 
periods. The Earnings Per Share and relative Total Shareholder Return conditions for vesting were tested. These conditions were not met 
and these awards have therefore lapsed; details are shown in the table on page 51.

Overall, the Committee believes the incentive outcomes reflect the Company’s financial performance over the period.

REMUNERATION POLICY FOR 2016
We are not proposing any changes to our policy but intend to carry out a thorough review in advance of our second binding policy  
vote in 2017. In line with the United Kingdom Corporate Governance Code, the proposed future Policy will be submitted to shareholders  
three years after its original approval in 2014, namely in 2017. Any proposed changes will be subject to prior consultation with major 
shareholders at that time.

http://www.johnstonpress.co.uk/investors/reports-results-presentations
http://www.johnstonpress.co.uk/investors/reports-results-presentations
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE MEMBERS
In accordance with Company policy, all directors who wish to continue in office will stand for re-election at the Annual General Meeting 
(AGM). Stephen van Rooyen, who has been a member of the Committee since 2013, will stand down at that time. I would like to take the 
opportunity to thank Stephen for his advice and hard work over the past three years. I am pleased to say that Kjell Aamot will join the 
Committee following the AGM.

SHAREHOLDER SUPPORT
I am pleased to confirm that the resolution to approve the Company’s Annual Report on Remuneration, proposed at the AGM in 2015, 
received the support of 87.94% of the votes cast. On behalf of the Board I would like to offer my thanks for your continued support.

Yours sincerely

Camilla Rhodes
Chair of the Remuneration Committee

The Directors’ Remuneration Policy Report sets out the remuneration policy operated by the Group in respect of Executive Directors  
and has been prepared in accordance with The Large and Medium-sized Companies and Groups (Accounts and Reports) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2013 (the “Act”) and also in accordance with the requirement of the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct Authority. The 
Company’s Remuneration Policy (“the Policy”) was developed taking into account the principles of the UK Corporate Governance Code 
2012 and the views of our major shareholders and describes the policy to be applied in relation to the current financial year and future 
financial years. The Policy was put to a binding shareholder vote at the 2014 AGM held on 27 June 2014, and, received shareholder 
approval. The ‘Effective Date’ of the Policy was the date of the AGM, held on 27 June 2014. The Policy, approved by shareholders in 2014, 
has not changed, so this year we have not reproduced it in this report; the full Policy is contained in the 2014 Annual Report, available  
on the Company’s website http://www.johnstonpress.co.uk/investors/reports-results-presentations.

The Companies Act 2006 requires the auditor to report to the shareholders on certain parts of the Directors’ Remuneration Report and to 
state whether, in their opinion, those parts of the report have been properly prepared in accordance with the Regulations. The parts of the 
Annual Report on Directors’ Remuneration that are subject to audit are indicated in that report. The Annual Statement by the Chair of the 
Remuneration Committee and extracts of the Directors’ Remuneration Policy Report are not subject to audit.

http://www.johnstonpress.co.uk/investors/reports-results-presentations
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Directors’ Remuneration Policy Report
The Company’s Remuneration policy has not changed from, nor are any changes proposed to, the policy that was approved by 
shareholders at the 2014 AGM. The policy is not, therefore, reproduced in full here – only those elements that require updating annually; 
the full policy detail is included within the 2014 Annual Report available on the Group website http://www.johnstonpress.co.uk/investors/
reports-results-presentations.

REMUNERATION SCENARIOS FOR EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
A significant portion of remuneration received by Executive Directors is dependent on Company performance. The graph below illustrates 
2016 reward scenarios for the Executive Directors under three performance scenarios: Minimum, Target and Maximum. 

£549
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£542

42%
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£1,602

Minimum Target Maximum Minimum Target

Chief Executive Chief Financial Officer

Maximum

Fixed Annual Bonus Long-Term Share Awards
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25%
16%

34%
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Chart labels show proportion of the total package comprised of each element.

Notes:
(i)  Minimum comprises fixed pay. Fixed pay is the sum of basic salary (as at 2 January 2016), benefits (2015 value) and 2016 pension. Fixed pay is constant across all  

three scenarios.
(ii)  For Target it is assumed 50% of the 2016 maximum bonus opportunity is paid and 25% of PSP awards granted with a face value of 125% of salary vest. 
(iii)  For Maximum, it is assumed full bonus payment for 2016 is made and PSP vests in full.
(iv)  No account has been taken of any changes in the Company’s share price.

SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LOSS OF OFFICE
Ashley Highfield’s service contract is terminable by either party on 12 months’ notice. In line with the Company’s policy for new hires 
introduced in 2013, David King’s contract is terminable by either party on six months’ notice. Executive Directors’ service contracts will  
be available for inspection at the AGM.

All Non-Executive Directors have letters of appointment which are terminable at will, subject to a notice period. It is the Committee’s 
policy that any future Non-Executive Board appointments will be made on the same terms. A copy of the standard letter of appointment 
for the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors is displayed on the Company’s website in the Investor Centre section.

The service agreement date or effective date of current appointment and notice periods for each Executive and Non-Executive Director 
are as follows:

Date of service 
agreement/

effective date of 
current 

appointment 
Notice period 
by Company

Notice period 
by Director

Ashley Highfield 27 July 2011 1 year 1 year
David King 16 May 2013 6 months 6 months
Ian Russell 12 March 2015 3 months 3 months
Camilla Rhodes 13 July 2015 3 months 3 months
Ralph Marshall 27 June 2014 1 month 1 month
Mark Pain 1 May 2015 3 months 3 months
Kjell Aamot 1 August 2013 1 month 1 month
Stephen van Rooyen1 1 June 2013 1 month 1 month

1 Mr van Rooyen will step down as a director at the end of the Annual General Meeting in 2016.

For Executive Directors, the Company may in its absolute discretion at any time after notice is served by either party, terminate a Directors’ 
contract by paying an amount in lieu of the notice period equivalent to basic salary and the value of contractual benefits, including pension.

http://www.johnstonpress.co.uk/investors/reports-results-presentations
http://www.johnstonpress.co.uk/investors/reports-results-presentations
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SERVICE CONTRACTS AND LOSS OF OFFICE CONTINUED
Executive Directors’ contracts of employment may be terminated, at the option of the Company, by giving 12 months’ notice for Ashley 
Highfield and six months’ notice for David King. The Company may also terminate the Executive’s employment forthwith in certain 
circumstances including any serious breach of his obligations under the relevant contract of employment. The Executive Directors’ service 
contracts do not provide any entitlement to the provision of liquidated damages or any special provisions relating to a change of control. 

Executive Directors are entitled to accept up to two Non-Executive Director appointments outside the Company provided that the 
Chairman’s permission is obtained. The Remuneration Committee decides whether any fees for such positions are retained by the 
Director. In addition, the Executive Directors are entitled to accept any positions connected with the newspaper industry or any business 
in which the Company holds an investment. 

HOW SHAREHOLDER VIEWS ARE TAKEN INTO ACCOUNT
The Remuneration Committee considers shareholder feedback received in relation to the AGM each year and guidance from shareholder 
representative bodies more generally. This feedback, plus any additional feedback received during any meetings from time to time, is 
then considered as part of the Company’s annual review of remuneration policy. Leading shareholders were consulted on the approach 
to long term incentive provision in 2016.

CONSIDERATION OF EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE IN THE GROUP
The Company does not actively consult with employees on Directors’ remuneration. However, the Committee reviews the remuneration 
policy and remuneration recommendations for other members of the executive management as it is designated to consider. Pay and 
benefits elsewhere in the Group are determined by senior management and approved by the Executive Management Committee. The 
Committee receives reports in respect of these reviews as part of updates in respect of remuneration across the Group. The Committee 
takes this into account when setting the remuneration policy for Executive Directors.
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Annual Report on Directors’ Remuneration
Unaudited Information
Implementation of Policy for 2016
Base Salaries
Base salaries for Executive Directors are normally reviewed annually by the Committee. They were last reviewed with effect from 1 January 
2015 and have not been increased since then. They will be considered later in 2016, in the context of and at the same time as any general 
review of base salaries for the other employees in the Company, which is now expected to take place later in the year.

Base salaries for the Executive Directors as at 3 January 2016 remain £430,000 for Ashley Highfield and £275,000 for David King. 

Chairman and Non-Executive Directors’ Fees
The Chairman’s and Non-Executive Directors’ fees were last reviewed in 2008 and have not been increased since then. The current fee 
levels at the start of 2016 are:
• Chairman’s fee of £130,000 p.a.; and
• Non-Executive Director base fee of £40,000 p.a.

Supplementary fees:
• Senior Independent Director – £7,500 p.a.;
• Audit Committee Chair – £7,500 p.a.; and
• Remuneration Committee Chair – £7,500 p.a.

Non-Executive Directors’ fees for 2016 will be payable quarterly.

Benefits and Pension
Benefits are provided in line with the information set out in the Policy.

Ashley Highfield receives, annually, a pension contribution of 25% of his base salary and is entitled to a match of any individual 
contributions up to 5% of salary. David King receives a pension contribution of 12% of his base salary. These are cash payments for the 
Directors to purchase pension.

Annual Bonus
For 2016, the annual bonus opportunity for Ashley Highfield remains 120% of salary and for David King remains 100% of salary. 

The following table lays out the performance measures that will apply for the Executive Directors along with the respective weightings  
(as percentages of salary). A sliding scale or target shall apply for each metric.

Ashley Highfield David King

Financial
EBITDA 60% 50%
Advertising revenue 36% 30%
Net debt reduction  24% 20%

Total 120% of salary 100% of salary

Should the minimum target not be achieved for EBITDA, the amount payable in respect of other measures shall be halved, irrespective  
of achievement of the relevant targets for those measures. 

The targets and individual objectives themselves are deemed to be commercially sensitive and will not be disclosed prospectively. 
However, the Committee will seek to provide retrospective disclosure of the targets and performance against them in next year’s 
remuneration report.

Long-Term Incentives
Performance Share Plan
Awards are expected to be made in 2016 under the Performance Share Plan to Executive Directors and will be made in accordance  
with limits set out in the Remuneration Policy. For 2016, the intention is to make an award with a face value of 125% of salary to each 
Director. The level of the award is higher than in previous years and in-line with policy). The Committee has determined that awards at  
this level are appropriate in order to ensure that the Company’s senior leadership are appropriately incentivised during a key phase in the 
Company’s transformation. Challenging performance conditions will have to be met for any vesting to take place. Relative TSR and EPS 
growth metrics will apply; they will be measured over three years and have equal weighting. The relative TSR performance condition  
for the 2016 PSP awards will measure the Company’s TSR performance against a comparator group comprising the FTSE All-Share Media 
companies (excluding any FTSE 100 companies) as at the date of grant. For a ranking below median, none of this element of the award 
would vest. For a median ranking 25% of this element of the award would vest, rising on a straight-line basis to full vesting of this element 
for a ranking at or above upper quartile. No vesting can occur unless the Remuneration Committee is satisfied that the outcome is 
commensurate with the underlying financial performance of the Company. The performance range for the EPS target includes the 
acquisition of the i. The 2016 targets will be based on ‘Core’ EPS. None of this part of the award will vest if 2018 Core EPS is less than 15p; 
25% will vest for Core EPS of 15p rising up to full vesting for Core EPS of 17p or higher.
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CONSIDERATION OF EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE IN THE GROUP CONTINUED
Core EPS is based on the earnings of the current assets in operation and the i excluding IAS 19 charges, impairment charges and the 
mark-to-market movement on the Group’s Bonds. Core EPS is calculated after charging cash exceptional restructuring costs, reflecting 
the plan to reduce those costs. To the extent there are any material divestments which impact Core EPS, the Remuneration Committee, 
acting fairly and reasonably, will seek to adjust the EPS targets relating to the 2016 awards to take account of the change in earnings 
profile. In doing so, the Committee will take into account the materiality and timing of the event and seek to ensure that the revised 
targets are no less or more challenging than the original targets. For information, the 2015 Core EPS is 14.1p which is derived from adjusted 
profit after tax and exceptional items of £14.8 million.

Membership of the Remuneration Committee
Camilla Rhodes has been Chair of the Committee since the 2013 AGM. The members of the Committee throughout 2015 are listed in the 
table below. All members of the Committee are Independent Non-Executive Directors. No Director plays a part in any decision making 
directly relating to their own remuneration.

The members of the Committee and their year of appointment to the Committee were:

Name
Year of 

appointment

Camilla Rhodes (Chair) 2010
Mark Pain 2010
Stephen van Rooyen 2013

Mr van Rooyen will step down as a director at the end of the Annual General Meeting in 2016. Kjell Aamot will become a member of the 
Committee at that time.

During 2015, the Committee met on five occasions. At those meetings base salaries of Executive Directors were discussed but not 
increased, the targets and quantum of annual performance-related bonuses for Executive Directors were agreed, the vesting outcome  
of the Group’s long-term incentive schemes and the bonus payments in respect of 2015 were reviewed, as were awards to be granted 
under the Group’s Performance Share Plan and the performance measures applying. The Committee also approved the establishment  
of a Restricted Share Plan. Executive Directors are not eligible to participate in this plan.

The Committee has the delegated responsibility for reviewing the Board policy on remuneration for the Executive Management 
Committee (which includes the two Executive Directors) and setting all aspects of remuneration, including the total remuneration 
package for all Executive Directors and the Chairman of the Board.

The Committee’s terms of reference, which were reviewed in 2015, set out the responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee and are 
available on the Company’s website and on request.

Advice to the Committee
No member of the Committee has any personal financial interest (other than as a shareholder), conflicts of interest arising from cross 
directorships or day-to-day involvement in running the business. Other Directors attend meetings when invited by the Committee and 
the Company Secretary acts as Secretary to the Remuneration Committee. The Company’s Director of Human Resources also attends 
meetings by invitation. No Director plays a part in any discussion about his or her own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee was advised during the year by New Bridge Street (NBS), a trading name of Aon plc. Neither NBS nor any 
other part of Aon plc provided other services to the Company during 2015. NBS attended three of the meetings of the Committee during 
the year and provided advice on a wide range of issues, including the design of the Restricted Share Plan. Total NBS fees incurred for 
advising the Remuneration Committee in 2015 were £74,000 excluding VAT. NBS also provided share plan implementation services to  
the Company. The terms of engagement between the Company and NBS are displayed on the Company’s website. NBS are members of 
the Remuneration Consultants Group and are signatories to its Code of Conduct. The Committee monitors the relationship with external 
advisers on a regular basis and remains confident that NBS is independent and that no conflicts of interest exist.

Statement of Shareholder Voting at 2014 AGM
At last year’s AGM, the 2014 Directors’ Remuneration Report received the following votes from ordinary shareholders: 

2014 Annual Report on Remuneration

Total number of 
votes % of votes cast

For1 59,821,681 87.94%
Against 8,201,848 12.06%
Abstentions2 502,849 –

Total (excluding abstentions) 68,023,529 –

1  Including discretionary.
2  Abstentions are not included in calculating percentages of votes cast for and against.
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Audited Information 
Single Total Figure of Remuneration for Each Director

Name of Director

Fees/basic 
salary 
£’000

Benefits1 
£’000

Annual 
bonuses2 

£’000

Long-term 
incentives3 

£’000
Pension 

£’000
Total 

£’000

Executive Directors
Ashley Highfield 2015 430 11 25 0 115 581

2014 404 11 483 645 106 1,649

David King 2015 275 11 16 – 33 335
2014 255 11 268 – 31 565

Non-Executive Directors
Ian Russell 2015 130 – – – – 130

2014 130 – – – – 130

Ralph Marshall 2015 40 – – – – 40
2014 40 – – – – 40

Mark Pain 2015 55 – – – – 55
2014 55 – – – – 55

Camilla Rhodes 2015 47 – – – – 47
2014 47 – – – – 47

Kjell Aamot 2015 40 – – – – 40
2014 40 – – – – 40

Stephen van Rooyen 2015 40 – – – – 40
2014 40 – – – – 40

Notes:
1   Benefits for the Executive Directors included healthcare insurance, car allowance, telephone and life assurance. 
2   The 2014 figure, included a one-off further opportunity payable to the Executive Directors for meeting the strategic performance measure (as described in last year’s report).
3   Ashley Highfield was granted two PSP awards in September and December 2012. Vesting of each award was subject to two conditions: earnings per share (EPS) 

growth and Total Shareholder Return (TSR), compared to a group of companies in our sector. Each was measured over a three-year period. Neither condition was  
met for either award and these awards therefore have lapsed. 

2015 Annual Bonus Out-turn
The 2015 Annual Bonus Plan for the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer was based upon the following measures. Under the 
rules of the Plan, if the specified EBITDA minimum was not reached, the bonus opportunity for all other measures was halved, which was 
the case for 2015.

% of salary

Ashley 
Highfield David King

EBITDA 48% 40%
Advertising revenue 36% 30%
Audience engagement 12% 10%
Advertiser satisfaction 12%  –
Reader satisfaction 12% –
Net debt – 20%
Maximum bonus potential 120% 100%

Bonus due (% of salary)

Measure Result Outcome Ashley Highfield David King

EBITDA £56 million The EBITDA minimum of £57.5 million was 
not achieved. Therefore the bonus outcome 
for all other measures is halved.

0% 0%

Advertising revenue £151.5 million Below minimum. 0% 0%
Audience engagement: Print circulation and 

Digital pages/month read
-12.5%
<120m

Targets were -11% and 130m. 0% 0%

Advertiser satisfaction: Overall satisfaction and 
Net Promoter Score

69%
-11%

Targets were 67% and -13%. 4.9% –

Reader satisfaction: Digital and Print Net 
Promoter Scores (NPS)

n/a
-12%

Targets were -26% and -9%. Result for reader 
satisfaction is n/a as NPS group changed 
mid-year.

0.9% –

Net debt reduction £179.4m Target was £180m. – 5.7%

Total 5.8% 5.7%
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CONSIDERATION OF EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE IN THE GROUP CONTINUED
Accordingly, the following bonus payments will be made in respect of 2015 performance. The Committee decided that there should be 
no deferral into shares, given relatively small payments and the associated administration.

Ashley Highfield David King

Cash Deferred Cash Deferred

£25,241 – £15,593 –

Long-Term Incentives Vesting in Relation to Performance Ending in 2015
Two separate awards made to Ashley Highfield in 2012 under the Performance Share Plan were subject to EPS and TSR performance 
conditions measured over three years, with 50% of the total award based on each. Neither condition was met for either award and both 
awards therefore lapse.

Share Awards Granted in 2015

Scheme

Basis of 
award 

granted
Shares 

awarded
Face value of 

award12

Maximum 
vesting (% of 

face value)

Percentage vesting
 for threshold 
performance Vesting period

Ashley Highfield Deferred 
Share 

Bonus 
Plan

50% of 
2013 

annual 
bonus

20,565 40,000 N/A N/A. Deferred bonus, 
subject to continued 

employment.

Awards will normally vest 
to participants on the 

third anniversary of the 
payment of the cash 

element of the relevant 
bonus subject to 

continued employment.

Ashley Highfield Deferred 
Share 

Bonus 
Plan

50% of 
2014 

annual 
bonus

169,345 241,740 N/A N/A. Deferred bonus, 
subject to continued 

employment.

Awards will normally vest 
to participants on the 

third anniversary of the 
payment of the cash 

element of the relevant 
bonus subject to 

continued employment.

David King Deferred 
Share 

Bonus 
Plan

50% of 
2013 

annual 
bonus

8,569 16,667 N/A N/A. Deferred bonus, 
subject to continued 

employment.

Awards will normally vest 
to participants on the 

third anniversary of the 
payment of the cash 

element of the relevant 
bonus subject to 

continued employment.

David King Deferred 
Share 

Bonus 
Plan

50% 
of 2014 
annual 
bonus

93,891 134,030 N/A N/A. Deferred bonus, 
subject to continued 

employment.

Awards will normally vest 
to participants on the 

third anniversary of the 
payment of the cash 

element of the relevant 
bonus subject to 

continued employment.

Ashley Highfield PSP 100% 
of 2015 

salary

277,598 430,000 100% 25% under TSR element.
25% under EPS element.

Performance measured 
over three years. Awards 

will vest on the third 
anniversary of grant, 

subject to performance 
conditions and 

continued employment.

David King PSP 100% 
of 2015 

salary

177,533 275,000 100% 25% under TSR element.
25% under EPS element.

Performance measured 
over three years. Awards 

will vest on the third 
anniversary of grant, 

subject to performance 
conditions and 

continued employment.

1 The applicable share price on the date of the award is as follows: for the Deferred Share Bonus plan 194.50 pence in respect of awards relating to 2013 and  
142.75 pence in respect of awards relating to 2014; and for the PSP 154.9 pence.
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Share grants in respect of bonus for 2013 were not made in 2014 because of a prolonged restricted period, and were subsequently made 
on 26 May 2015 at the values shown in the table below.

The relative TSR performance condition for the 2015 PSP awards measures the Company’s TSR performance against a comparator group 
comprising the FTSE All-Share Media companies (excluding any FTSE 100 companies) as at the date of grant. For a ranking below median, 
none of this element of the award will vest. For a median ranking 25% of this element of the award will vest, rising on a straight-line basis 
to full vesting of this element for a ranking at or above upper quartile.

The EPS range for the 2015 award is based on EPS growth over the three financial years: 2015 to the end of 2017. 25% of this part of the 
award will vest for underlying basic EPS (after adding back exceptional costs) in 2017 of 27.5p with full vesting for achieving 29.5p or better. 
The Committee is satisfied that the above target range is sufficiently stretching in light of internal and external expectations.

Deferred Share Bonus Plan awards are granted in the form of nil cost options.

Outstanding Share Awards
The table below sets out details of the Executive Directors’ outstanding awards under the Performance Share Plan (PSP), Deferred Share 
Bonus Plan (DSBP) and the Value Creation Plan (VCP), including those awards made in 2015 and shown in the previous table.

Name of Director Type of award1

Date of 
award

Applicable 
share price 

at grant 
(pence)2

Number  
of shares at 

2 January 
2016

Lapsed 
during the 

period

Exercised 
during the 

period

Number  
of shares at 

3 January 
2015

Date from 
which 

exercisable Expiry date

Ashley Highfield

PSP (recruitment award) 11/11/11 68.9p 363,244 – (363,244) – N/A N/A

PSP 14/09/12 79.13p 482,506 (482,506) – – N/A N/A

PSP (matching shares) 21/12/12 208.99p 12,488 (12,488) – – N/A N/A

PSP 05/06/13 250.79p 138,759 – – 138,759 05/06/16 04/06/23

PSP (matching shares) 12/12/14 159.75p 50,078 – – 50,078 12/12/17 11/12/24

PSP 26/05/15 154.9p – – – 277,598 26/05/18 25/05/25

DSBP 06/06/12 92.1p 14,377 – – 14,377 15/03/15 14/03/17

DSBP 22/05/13 225.14p 42,196 – – 42,196 15/04/16 14/04/18

DSBP3 17/07/14 194.5p 20,565 – – 20,565 15/07/17 14/07/19

DSBP3 26/05/15 142.75p – – – 169,345 01/04/18 31/03/20

VCP 22/09/14 231p 3,176,315 – – 3,176,315 23/06/17 23/06/18

David King

PSP 05/06/13 250.79p 69,379 – – 69,379 05/06/16 04/06/23

PSP 26/05/15 154.9p – – – 177,533 26/05/18 25/05/25

DSBP3 15/07/14 194.5p 8,569 – – 8,569 15/07/17 14/07/19

DSBP3 26/05/15 142.75p – – – 93,891 01/04/18 31/03/20

VCP 22/09/14 231p 1,588,157 – – 1,588,157 23/06/17 23/06/18

1  Outstanding awards under the Performance Share Plan are subject to three-year EPS and TSR conditions, each with equal weighting. Following an amendment  
to the scheme rules in 2015 awards which vest may now be exercised up until the tenth anniversary of the date of award.

2  Where applicable share prices as at the date of grant have been adjusted to take account of the Capital Refinancing Plan and the Share Capital Consolidation 
conducted in 2014.

3 Awards under the Deferred Share Bonus Plan are in respect of 50% of 2013 and 2014 annual bonus, deferred into shares in the form of nil-cost options. Share grants  
in respect of bonus for 2013 were not made in 2014 because of prolonged restricted period, and were subsequently made on 26 May 2015 at the values shown in the 
table above. In respect of Awards for 2013, the ‘Date of Award’ reflects the date of the payment of the cash element of bonus (with the Deferred Share Bonus Award 
subsequently being made on 26 May 2015). Note that these awards were reported last year in anticipation of being made.
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Annual Report on Directors’ Remuneration continued

CONSIDERATION OF EMPLOYMENT CONDITIONS ELSEWHERE IN THE GROUP CONTINUED
Table of Directors’ Share Interests
The share interests of each person who was a Director of the Company during the year as at 2 January 2016 (together with interests held 
by his or her connected persons) were as follows:

Legally owned PSP awards
Deferred Share Bonus 

awards  SAYE VCP

Total legally 
owned at 
2 January 

2016

% of salary 
held under 

Share-
holding 
Policy1

3 January 
2015 Unvested Vested Unvested Vested Unvested Vested Unvested Vested

2 January 
2016

% salary at 
2 January 

2016

Executive Directors
Ashley Highfield 152,847 466,435 – 232,106 14,377 4,703 – 3,176,315 – 345,023 39.3%
David King 11,000 246,912 – 102,460 – – – 1,588,157 – 20,000 3.56%

Non-Executive Directors
Ian Russell 248,902 – – – – – – – – 248,902 n/a
Ralph Marshall 39,836 – – – – – – – – 39,836 n/a
Mark Pain 34,148 – – – – – – – – 34,148 n/a
Camilla Rhodes 22,746 – – – – – – – – 22,746 n/a
Kjell Aamot 59,724 – – – – – – – – 59,724 n/a
Stephen van Rooyen 9,767 – – – – – – – – 9,767 n/a

1   Holdings expressed as % of salary based on share price at 04.01.2016 of 49 pence (the opening price on this date which was the first day of share trading on the 
London Stock Exchange in 2016). On 14 May 2015 Ashley Highfield exercised his PSP award over 363,244 ordinary shares of 1 pence each in the Company, he then sold 
171,068 of the shares acquired to satisfy his resultant tax liabilities. There has been no change in shareholding since the end of the year up to the date of this report.

Executive Directors are expected to retain 50% of shares which vest under executive share plans, after allowing for sufficient sales of 
shares to meet tax liabilities, until a holding to the value of 200% and 150% of salary has been achieved by the Chief Executive Officer  
and Chief Financial Officer respectively.

Payments for Loss of Office
There were no payments for loss of office made to Executive Directors in 2015. 

Payments to Past Directors
With the exception of pension payments, no payments to past Directors were made in 2015.

Unaudited Information
Change in Remuneration of the Chief Executive
This table shows the change in value of salary, benefits and annual bonus for the Chief Executive Officer and other employees from 2014 
to 2015. 

Base salary
% change

Taxable 
benefits 

% change
Bonus 

% change

CEO 5% 0% (95%)
Salaried employees 2% 0% (87%)

For comparison purposes, salaried employees include all those, excluding sales employees, who are eligible for an annual performance bonus.

Relative Importance of Spend on Pay
The following table sets out the percentage change in dividends and overall spend on employee pay in 2015 compared to 2014:

2015 
£m

2014 
£m % change

Dividends – – –
Employee remuneration costs 98 108 (9%)*

* The main reason for the fall in employee spend is due to a fall in headcount and a reduction in redundancy costs.



53JOHNSTON PRESS PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2015

D
irecto

rs’ G
o

vern
an

ce
Fin

an
cial S

tatem
en

ts
S

trateg
ic R

ep
o

rt

Total Shareholder Return Chart and Chief Executive Officer’s Single Figure Remuneration History
The chart below shows the Company’s TSR performance compared with that of the performance of the FTSE Small Cap and the  
FTSE All Share Media sector. As a member of both indices, the Committee believes these are relevant to compare the Company’s 
performance against.

0

50

100

150

200

250

300

350

400
FTSE All Share Media

FTSE Small Companies

Johnston Press

2008 2009 2010 2011 2013 201520142012

Source: Datastream (Thomson Reuters)

The six-year single figure of remuneration history for the Chief Executive Officer is shown in the table below. In line with reporting 
requirements, this table will grow to a ten-year history:

Financial year 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 20142 2015

Single figure remuneration (£’000) Ashley Highfield – – 115.0 702 592 1,649 581
John Fry1 696.5 705.0 593.5 – – – –

Annual bonus outcome Ashley Highfield – – 32.5% 39.6% 16.7% 65.5% 4.9%
(% of maximum bonus) John Fry 53.3% 58.4% 36.4% – – – –

LTIP vesting outcome Ashley Highfield – – – – – 50% 0%
(% of maximum) John Fry – – – – – – –

1   John Fry, the previous Chief Executive Officer, stepped down as Director and CEO on 31 October 2011 and Ashley Highfield commenced employment on 1 November 2011.
2   The higher single figure value for 2014 reflects the first vesting opportunity for Mr Highfield under the PSP. As disclosed earlier, 50% of the awards vested and the 

figure reflects an uplift from strong share price performance (171% TSR) over the vesting period.

Approval
This report was approved by the Board of Directors on 22 March 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Camilla Rhodes
Chair, Remuneration Committee
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Directors’ Report
Johnston Press plc is incorporated as a public limited company and is registered in Scotland with the registered number 15382.  
Johnston Press plc’s registered office is Orchard Brae House, 30 Queensferry Road, Edinburgh, EH4 2HS. 

The Directors present the Annual Report and Accounts for the period ended 2 January 2016. References to ‘Johnston Press’, the ‘Group’, 
and the ‘Company’, ‘we’ or ‘our’ are to Johnston Press plc or to Johnston Press and its subsidiary companies where appropriate.

Pages 54 to 57, inclusive, of this Annual Report comprise the Directors’ report that has been drawn up and presented in accordance with 
relevant company law and the liabilities of the Directors in connection with that report shall be subject to the limitations and restrictions 
provided by such law.

Details of significant events since the balance sheet date are contained in Note 31 to the financial statements. An indication of likely 
developments in the business of the Company and details of research and development activities are included in the Strategic Report.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This Annual Report and Accounts contains certain forward-looking statements with respect to principal risks and uncertainties facing  
the Group. By their nature, these statements involve risk and uncertainty because they relate to events and depend on circumstances  
that may or may not occur in the future. There are a number of factors that could cause actual results or developments to differ  
materially from those expressed or implied by those forward-looking statements. No assurances can be given that the forward-looking 
statements are reasonable as they can be affected by a wide range of variables. The forward-looking statements reflect the knowledge 
and information available at the date of preparation of this Annual Report and Accounts and will not be updated during the year. 
Nothing in this Annual Report and Accounts should be construed as a profit forecast.

DIVIDENDS
No interim dividend was paid on the Company’s ordinary shares and the Directors recommend no final dividend for the period. The 
13.75% preference share dividend was paid in June 2015 and December 2015 following the completion of the Court approved share 
premium conversion and creation of distributable reserves (the “Capital Reduction”). 

At the Company’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) on 27 June 2014, a special resolution was approved to initiate a process to reduce the 
Company’s share premium account by £275 million. The completion of the capital reduction was confirmed by an Order of the Court of Session, 
Scotland on 29 April 2015 and registered at Companies House on 5 May 2015. This enables the Company to make distributions and provide 
gifts and loans to the Johnston Press plc Employee Share Trust (“JP EST”) to satisfy options under the Group’s share ownership schemes. 

SHARE CAPITAL AND CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Details of the issued share capital, together with details of the movements in the Company’s issued share capital are shown in Note 24. 
The Company’s issued ordinary share capital was 105,877,777 shares at 2 January 2016 and there were no changes during the period. 

As part of the refinancing completed on 28 August 2009, the Company issued warrants over 5.0% of its issued share capital to the Group’s 
lenders at that time, exercisable at any time over the five-year period ending 27 August 2014 (the “First Issue Warrants”). As part of the 
refinancing completed on 24 April 2012 (i) the exercise period for the First Issue Warrants was extended to 30 September 2017 (the “Warrant 
Expiry Date”), (ii) the Company issued further warrants over just under 2.5% of its issued share capital to the Group’s lenders at that time  
(the “Second Issue Warrants”) and (iii) the Company undertook that on or before 30 September 2012, and subject to receiving all necessary 
shareholder approvals, authorisations and powers, it would issue further warrants over just under an additional 5.0% of its issued share capital 
as at 23 April 2012 to the Group’s lenders at that time (the “Third Issue Warrants”). The Third Issue Warrants were subsequently issued on 
25 September 2012. Each of the First Issue Warrants, Second Issue Warrants and Third Issue Warrants (together the “Warrants”) were adjusted 
in 2014 in accordance with their terms to take account of the capital refinancing plan and share capital re-organisation which were 
undertaken that year. Each Warrant comprises the right to subscribe for 0.15338 ordinary shares at a price of 197.45 pence per ordinary share 
at any time prior to the Warrant Expiry Date. During the period no Warrants were exercised. Both the capital refinancing plan and capital 
reorganisation referred to above constituted Adjustment Events under the terms of the relevant Warrant Instruments. At the balance sheet 
date 30,359,979 warrants were outstanding which, in aggregate, equates to a right to subscribe for 4,656,598 ordinary shares.

The Company has one class of ordinary shares which carry no right to fixed income. Each share carries the right to one vote at general 
meetings of the Company. Each of the Company’s two classes of redeemable cumulative preference shares carry 13.75% interest but do 
not carry voting rights other than when dividends payable in respect of such shares are in arrears. The percentage of the issued nominal 
value of the ordinary shares is 0.91% of the total issued nominal value of all share capital.

There are no specific restrictions on the size of a holding or on the transfer of shares, which are both governed by the general provisions  
of the Articles of Association and prevailing legislation. The Directors are not aware of any agreements between holders of the Company’s 
shares that may result in restrictions on the transfer of securities or on voting rights.

Details of employee share schemes are set out in Note 28.

No person has any special rights of control over the Company’s share capital and all issued shares are fully paid. With regard to the 
appointment and replacement of Directors, the Company is governed by its Articles of Association (the Articles), the United Kingdom 
Corporate Governance Code issued by the Financial Reporting Council (the “Code”), the Companies Acts and related legislation. The 
Articles themselves may be amended by special resolution of the shareholders. The powers of Directors are described in the Articles  
and in a schedule of matters reserved for approval of the Board, which are summarised in the Corporate Governance Statement on  
pages 33 to 40.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDINGS
So far as the Directors are aware the only holders of 3% or more of the ordinary share capital of the Company and any other major 
shareholders, other than Directors, as at the date of this report are as follows:

% holding

Ordinary shares 
of 1p each 

number

Orbis Investment Management Ltd 13.39% 14,172,172

Ananda Krishnan Tatparanandam/Pan Ocean Management Ltd 10.63% 11,254,934

River & Mercantile Asset Management LLP 10.27% 10,875,721

Artemis Investment Management LLP 6.43% 6,810,557

Sir Raymond Stanley Tindle 6.00% 6,352,667

Majedie Asset Management Limited 5.83% 6,179,531

GLG Partners LP 4.87% 5,152,902

Revera Asset Management 5.22% 5,524,324

Crystal Amber Fund Limited 3.29% 3,485,430

All interests disclosed to the Company in accordance with DTR 5 that have occurred since 2 January 2016 can be found at our corporate 
website: www.johnstonpress.co.uk/investors.

DIRECTORS AND THEIR INTERESTS
Under the Company’s Articles of Association, each Director is subject to retirement every three years and to election at the first AGM  
after their appointment. In 2015, all the Directors who wished to continue in office offered themselves for re-election at the AGM. All 
Directors who wish to continue in office will offer themselves for re-election in 2016. As a consequence, Ian Russell, Ashley Highfield,  
David King, Mark Pain, Kjell Aamot, Ralph Marshall and Camilla Rhodes will offer themselves for re-election at the forthcoming AGM.

The Directors who held office at 2 January 2016 had the following interests in the ordinary share capital of the Company:

Ordinary shares of 1p each % of share capital 1 January 2016

Ian Russell 0.24% 248,902

Ashley Highfield 0.33% 345,023

David King 0.02% 20,000

Ralph Marshall 0.04% 39,836

Mark Pain 0.03% 34,148

Camilla Rhodes 0.02% 22,746

Kjell Aamot 0.06% 59,724

Stephen van Rooyen 0.01% 9,767

In addition to the shareholdings shown above, which are all held beneficially, and the share options as shown on page 51, Ashley Highfield 
and David King held interests in 596,388 (2014: 475,816) shares at 2 January 2016 by virtue of their status as potential beneficiaries of the 
Johnston Press plc Employee Share Trust.

Since 2 January 2016, no Director has purchased shares through the Share Incentive Plan.

No Director had any material interest in any contract, other than a service contract, with the Company or any subsidiary at any time 
during the year.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITY 
As permitted by the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”), the Company has insurance cover for the Directors against liabilities in relation  
to the Group.
 
EMPLOYEE INVOLVEMENT
It is the policy of the Group to encourage and develop all members of staff to realise their maximum potential. Wherever possible, 
vacancies are filled from within the Group and adequate opportunities for internal promotion are created. The Board is committed to  
a systematic training policy and the Company has a comprehensive training and development programme creating the opportunity  
for employees to maintain and improve their performance and to develop their potential to a maximum level of attainment. In this way,  
staff will make their best possible contribution to the organisation’s success. The Group supports the principle of equal opportunities in 
employment and opposes all forms of unlawful or unfair discrimination on the grounds of race, age, nationality, religion, ethnic or national 
origin, sexual orientation, gender or gender reassignment, marital status or disability. It is also the policy of the Group, where possible,  
to give sympathetic consideration to disabled persons in their application for employment with the Group and to protect the interests  
of existing members of the staff who are disabled.

http://www.johnstonpress.co.uk/investors
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Directors’ Report continued

GOING CONCERN 
A full description of the Group’s business activities, financial position, cash flows, liquidity position, committed facilities and borrowing 
position, together with the factors likely to affect its future development and performance, is set out in the Strategic Report, particularly 
the Financial Review, the viability statement and in the notes to the financial statements. 

FINANCING POLICY AND DERIVATIVES
The Group’s policies are set out in Notes 2, 20 and 30. These also include details of financial instruments and derivatives.

CHANGE OF CONTROL
In the event of a change of control the Revolving Credit Facility with various banks will be cancelled in full and all outstanding loans will 
become immediately due and payable. In addition, holders of Senior Secured Notes due in 2019 issued pursuant to the Notes Indenture 
(the “Bonds”) will have the right to require the Group to repurchase all or any part of the Bonds issued. Group’s lenders have the option  
to declare all amounts outstanding repayable on demand.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY
The Board acknowledges that environmental protection is one of the Group’s business responsibilities. It aims for a continuous 
improvement in the Group’s environmental performance and to comply with all relevant regulations. A documented environmental 
policy to monitor performance and to take action where appropriate is in force.

POLITICAL CONTRIBUTIONS
There were no political donations made and no contributions made to non-EU political organisations.

CLOSE COMPANY STATUS
So far as the Directors are aware the Company is not a close company for taxation purposes.

ELECTRONIC VOTING 
The Company has made provision for shareholders to vote electronically on the Resolutions to be considered at the Annual General 
Meeting and full instructions are included on the Form of Proxy, issued to shareholders with this Annual Report.

SPECIAL BUSINESS 
It is intended that four resolutions (resolutions 12 to 15) will be proposed as are set out under special business in the notice of this year’s 
Annual General Meeting. The first of these resolutions will be proposed as an ordinary resolution and the others as special resolutions.  
The full text of each resolution will be set out in the Notice of Annual General Meeting which will be distributed to shareholders shortly.

The purpose of Resolution 12 is to renew the Directors’ authority to allot shares in the Company. Paragraph (i) of Resolution 12 seeks 
authority to allot shares, and to grant rights to subscribe for or convert any security into shares in the Company up to a maximum nominal 
amount representing approximately 33.33% of the existing issued ordinary share capital of the Company. The second part of Resolution 12 
will also allow directors to allot, including the ordinary shares referred to in paragraph (i) of this resolution, ordinary shares in connection 
with a pre-emptive offer by way of a rights issue to ordinary shareholders up to a maximum nominal amount representing approximately 
66.67% of the Company’s existing ordinary share capital as at the latest practicable date prior to the publication of the Notice of Annual 
General Meeting. The Directors anticipate using this power in connection with employee share schemes or on conversion of existing 
warrants, and the authority, if approved, will expire at the end of the Annual General Meeting in 2017.

The second resolution, Resolution 13 (which is the first of the three special resolutions), relates to the power given to the Directors to allot 
equity securities for cash without the statutory pre-emption provisions of the Companies Act 2006 (the “Act”) applying. In accordance with 
best practice guidelines, this authority is limited to allotments representing in total up to 10% of the existing issued ordinary share capital 
and to allotments in connection with a rights issue. Your Directors will continue to have due regard to institutional guidelines in relation  
to any exercise of this power, in particular the requirement for advance consultation and explanation before making any non-pre-emptive 
cash issue pursuant to this authority which is (i) in excess of an amount equal to 5% of the total issued ordinary share capital of the 
Company; or (ii) in excess of 7.5% of the total issued share capital of the Company in any rolling three-year period in each case other than 
in connection with an acquisition or specified capital investment (within the meaning of the Pre-Emption Group 2015 Statement of 
Principles for the disapplication of pre-emption rights which is announced contemporaneously with the allotment, (or which has taken 
placed in the preceding six month period and is disclosed In the announcement of the allotment). The current power (which is limited  
to 5%, and which accords with normal practice), expires on the date of this year’s Annual General Meeting. The purpose of the resolution  
is to renew this power for a further year taking account of current institutional guidelines.

Resolution 14 will, if passed, give authority for the Company to make purchases of its own ordinary shares in the market. The Directors 
have no immediate intention of using such authority and would do so only if they consider it to be in the best interests of shareholders 
generally and that an improvement in earnings per share would result. This Resolution specifies the maximum number of ordinary shares 
which may be purchased (representing approximately 10% of the Company’s existing issued ordinary share capital) and the minimum 
and maximum prices at which they may be bought.
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Resolution 15 is to permit the Company to call general meetings (other than Annual General Meetings) on not less than 14 days’ notice as 
permitted by the Act. The Directors believe that having authority to do so may, in some circumstances, assist with the efficient discharge 
of the Company’s business. The Company intends to continue to provide as much notice as practicable of general meetings and would 
normally use this authority only where it would be to the advantage of shareholders as a whole.

AUDITOR
Deloitte LLP, the auditor of the Company, have expressed their willingness to continue in office. Upon the recommendation of the Audit 
Committee, resolutions to re-appoint them as the Company auditor and to authorise the Directors to determine their remuneration will 
be proposed at the forthcoming AGM. 

REGISTERED OFFICE
Orchard Brae House
30 Queensferry Road
Edinburgh 
EH4 2HS

COMPANY REGISTRATION NUMBER
SC015382

By order of the Board by:

Peter McCall
Company Secretary
22 March 2016
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Directors’ Responsibility Statement
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the financial statements in 
accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law the Directors are required  
to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the 
European Union and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation and have elected to prepare the parent company financial statements in accordance 
with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law). Under 
company law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Group and the Company and of the profit or loss of the Group and the Company for that period. 

In preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
• make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
• state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and applicable United Kingdom Accounting Standards have  

been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and explained in the Group and parent company financial statements 
respectively; and

• prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group and Company will 
continue in business. 

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Company’s and 
 the Group’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Company and the Group and 
enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006  
and, as regards the Group financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of  
the Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the financial and corporate governance information included on  
the Company’s website (www.johnstonpress.co.uk). Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination  
of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

In accordance with Section 418 of the Companies Act 2006, each Director in office at the date the Directors’ Report is approved, 
confirms that:
• so far as the Director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware; and
• he/she has taken all the steps that he/she ought to have taken as a Director in order to make himself/herself aware of any relevant 

audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors are aware of that information.

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge the:
1. financial statements, prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU, give a true and 

fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit or loss of the company and the undertakings included in the consolidation 
taken as a whole;

2. strategic report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the position of the Company and the 
undertakings included in the consolidation taken as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that 
they face; and 

3. Annual Report and financial statements, taken as a whole, are fair, balanced and understandable and provide the information 
necessary for shareholders to assess the Company’s performance, business model and strategy.

By order of the Board:

  
          

Ashley Highfield  David King
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 
22 March 2016    22 March 2016
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Independent Auditor’s Report
to the Members of Johnston Press plc

Opinion on financial statements of  
Johnston Press plc

In our opinion:
• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and of the 

parent company’s affairs as at 2 January 2016 and of the Group’s profit for the 52 week 
period then ended;

• the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union; 

• the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with 
United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, including FRS 102 “The Financial 
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”; and

• the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of  
the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the group financial statements, Article 4 of the 
IAS Regulation.

The financial statements comprise the Group Income Statement, the Group Statement of 
Comprehensive Income, the Group Statement of Financial Position, the Group Cash Flow 
Statement, the Group Statement of Changes in Equity, the Company Balance Sheet and  
the related notes 1 to 40. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the 
preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law and IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation 
of the parent company financial statements is applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including 
FRS 102 “The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland”.

Going concern and the directors’ 
assessment of the principal risks that 
would threaten the solvency or  
liquidity of the group

As required by the Listing Rules we have reviewed the directors’ statement regarding the 
appropriateness of the going concern basis of accounting contained within note 1 to the 
financial statements and the directors’ statement on the longer-term viability of the group  
on page 40. 

We have nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to:
• the directors’ confirmation on page 57 that they have carried out a robust assessment  

of the principal risks facing the group, including those that would threaten its business 
model, future performance, solvency or liquidity;

• the disclosures on pages 19 to 20 that describe those risks and explain how they are being 
managed or mitigated;

• the directors’ statement in note 1 to the financial statements about whether they 
considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in preparing 
them and their identification of any material uncertainties to the group’s ability to continue 
to do so over a period of at least twelve months from the date of approval of the financial 
statements;

• the directors’ explanation on page 28 as to how they have assessed the prospects of  
the group, over what period they have done so and why they consider that period to be 
appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that 
the group will be able to continue in operation and meet its liabilities as they fall due over 
the period of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any 
necessary qualifications or assumptions.

We agreed with the directors’ adoption of the going concern basis of accounting and we  
did not identify any such material uncertainties. However, because not all future events  
or conditions can be predicted, this statement is not a guarantee as to the group’s ability  
to continue as a going concern.

Independence We are required to comply with the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standards for 
Auditors and we confirm that we are independent of the group and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with those standards. We also confirm we have  
not provided any of the prohibited non-audit services referred to in those standards.

Our assessment of risks of material 
misstatement

The assessed risks of material misstatement described below are those that had the greatest 
effect on our audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the audit and directing the efforts  
of the engagement team:
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Risk How the scope of our audit responded to the risk

Carrying value of publishing titles.

The directors’ assessment of the value of publishing titles 
involves making assumptions about future revenue and 
profit, short and long-term growth rates, cash generation, 
the identification of appropriate cash-generating units 
(‘CGUs) and the applicable discount rate. Given the 
uncertain market environment for publishers, there are 
inherent uncertainties in the modelling of future cash  
flows which require management to exercise judgement. 
Notes 3 and 13 of the financial statements include details  
of the judgements made. An impairment of £35.2 million 
has been recognised in the year following a decline in 
operating profit. Following this, the value of the publishing 
titles on the balance sheet is £476.4 million.

We have tested and challenged the key assumptions used in the directors’ 
impairment model for the publishing titles. Our procedures included:
• challenging the assumptions regarding future print advertising decline 

rates and future digital advertising growth rates and comparing these  
to independent market analysis and to historical performance;

• testing the integrity and appropriateness of the impairment model;
• assessing management’s continuing rationale for the identification of 

the cash-generating units and challenged whether the logic behind  
this remains appropriate and also the appropriateness of the indefinite 
useful life assumption;

• involving internal valuation specialists to assess the discount rate and 
comparing it to a relevant comparator group; and 

• performing a separate sensitivity analysis on the impairment model, 
flexing key assumptions.

We then evaluated the Group’s disclosures in Note 13 that convey the 
principal risks inherent in the valuation of the Group’s publishing titles.

Accounting for retirement benefit obligations.

The net pension deficit on the Consolidated Balance Sheet, 
and as disclosed in Note 21 of the financial statements,  
has reduced in the year from £90.0 million to £27.0 million, 
and the gross liability has fallen from £567.5 million to 
£500.4 million after performing a health study to identify 
the current health of a statistical sample group of existing 
Plan members which was used to amend the mortality 
assumption used. In addition, a Deed of Amendment was 
signed by the trustees of the scheme so the IFRIC 14 surplus 
no longer needs to be recognised. 

There is significant judgement involved in the valuation  
of the retirement benefit obligations, particularly in relation  
to determining the assumptions underlying the valuation 
of liabilities of the scheme, such as the discount rate and 
inflation rates. There are also many judgements involved in 
conducting the health study and translating the results of  
a study into a mortality assumption. Management include 
this as a key source of estimation uncertainty in note 3 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements.

We evaluated the appropriateness of the principal actuarial assumptions 
used in the calculation of the Group’s pension commitments prepared  
by the Group’s actuary by using our internal actuarial experts. Our audit 
procedures included:
• assessing the assumptions used in the health exercise including 

performing a review of the firms involved and understanding the 
methodology used in the process;

• challenging the key judgements used, including the proportion of the 
pension scheme sampled, extrapolating the results over the rest of the 
population and assuming the results of the health exercise also apply  
to members’ spouses;

• benchmarking the assumptions for discount rates, mortality rates  
and interest rates against a relevant comparator group; and 

• reviewing the deed of amendment signed by the trustees and to 
conclude whether any IFRIC 14 liability needs to be recognised. 

We also analysed third party fund manager reports supporting the carrying 
value of the assets at 2 January 2016 and have performed procedures on 
the completeness and accuracy of the underlying membership data. 

Revenue recognition – presentation of advertising revenue.

62% of Group revenue is generated from advertising  
sales. The print advertising revenue decline and the digital 
advertising revenue growth are key performance indicators 
for the Group and are key metrics reported by analysts  
and commentators, thus the presentation of print and 
digital revenue is important in assessing the performance 
of the Group.

Several new digital contracts have been entered into this 
year and it is important to ensure that the accounting for 
these contracts has been applied correctly, given the focus 
on the digital revenue growth metric. The Group’s revenue 
recognition policy is disclosed in note 2.

Our procedures to test the risk of material misstatement in respect to 
revenue recognition included:
• an assessment of the key controls in the advertisement booking and 

financial systems, and performing operating effectiveness testing on 
those controls;

• using advanced data interrogation techniques, with the assistance of 
our IT specialists, that allow us to test the systems independent of the 
financial systems and calculate expected advertising revenues;

• performing a contract review on the new digital revenue contracts to 
assess compliance with IAS 18; and

• performing specific cut off procedures on digital revenue, including the 
revenue generated from digital page impressions over the year end.

Last year our report included two other risks which have not been included in our report this year:
• During the year the directors opted to amend the presentation of the results and present the primary statements using statutory 

results and discuss the non-GAAP performance measure ‘adjusted results’ in the front half, whilst including a detailed reconciliation  
of the results. As such, ‘exceptional items’ are no longer presented and this risk is no longer reported on. 

• The carrying value of the print presses is £26.1 million. In the prior year, management considered there to be an impairment indicator 
which resulted in the need for an impairment review. There was no requirement for this in the current period due to a new contract 
win mitigating circulation decline. 

The description of risks above should be read in conjunction with the significant issues considered by the Audit Committee discussed on 
page 42.
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These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,  
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Our application of materiality We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that 
makes it probable that the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would 
be changed or influenced. We use materiality both in planning the scope of our audit work 
and in evaluating the results of our work.

We determined materiality for the group to be £1.35 million (FY14: £1.05 million), which is below 
5% (FY14: 5%) of adjusted pre-tax profit and below 1% (FY14: 1%) of equity. Pre-tax profit has 
been adjusted (as shown on page 110) as this is a key measure used by investors and is the 
measure which is focused on in the front half of the Annual Report as this is how 
management monitor the business. 

We agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to the Committee all audit 
differences in excess of £50,000 (FY14: £21,000) as well as differences below that threshold 
that, in our view, warranted reporting on qualitative grounds. We have changed the threshold 
for reporting differences to the Committee following us reassessing what we consider to be 
clearly inconsequential. We also report to the Audit Committee on disclosure matters that  
we identified when assessing the overall presentation of the financial statements.

An overview of the scope of our audit Our Group audit was scoped by obtaining an understanding of the group and its 
environment, including group-wide controls, and assessing the risks of material misstatement 
at the group level. Based on that assessment, our audit incorporated the main trading 
business, Johnston Publishing Limited, certain head office companies as well as the ultimate 
parent company. 

These companies represent the principal business units and account for 100% (FY14: 100%)  
of the group’s net assets, 99% (FY14: 100%) of the group’s revenue and 98% (FY14: 100%)  
of the group’s profit before tax. They were also selected to provide an appropriate basis for 
undertaking audit work to address the risks of material misstatement identified above. Our 
audit work was executed at levels of materiality applicable to each individual entity which 
were lower than Group materiality and ranged between £0.05 million and £1.30 million.

At the parent entity level we also tested the consolidation process and carried out analytical 
procedures to confirm our conclusion that there were no significant risks of material 
misstatement of the aggregated financial information of the remaining components not 
subject to audit or audit of specified account balances.

All of our audit work was performed by one team, with no use of component auditors, and 
was led by the Senior Statutory Auditor.

Opinion on other matters prescribed  
by the Companies Act 2006

In our opinion:
• the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared 

in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and
• the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial 

year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial 
statements.

Matters on which we are required  
to report by exception

Adequacy of explanations received  
and accounting records

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:
• we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or
• adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns 

adequate for our audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
• the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting 

records and returns.

We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Directors’ remuneration Under the Companies Act 2006 we are also required to report if in our opinion certain 
disclosures of Directors’ remuneration have not been made or the part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report to be audited is not in agreement with the accounting records and 
returns. We have nothing to report arising from these matters.

Corporate Governance Statement Under the Listing Rules we are also required to review the part of the Corporate Governance 
Statement relating to the Company’s compliance with ten provisions of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code. We have nothing to report arising from our review.

Independent Auditor’s Report continued
to the Members of Johnston Press plc
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in the Annual Report

Under International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland), we are required to report to you 
if, in our opinion, information in the annual report is:
• materially inconsistent with the information in the audited financial statements; or
• apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, our knowledge  

of the Group acquired in the course of performing our audit; or
• otherwise misleading.

In particular, we are required to consider whether we have identified any inconsistencies 
between our knowledge acquired during the audit and the Directors’ statement that they 
consider the Annual Report is fair, balanced and understandable and whether the Annual 
Report appropriately discloses those matters that we communicated to the Audit Committee 
which we consider should have been disclosed. We confirm that we have not identified any 
such inconsistencies or misleading statements.

Respective responsibilities  
of Directors and auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibilities Statement, the directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they 
give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial 
statements in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing  
(UK and Ireland). We also comply with International Standard on Quality Control 1 (UK and 
Ireland). Our audit methodology and tools aim to ensure that our quality control procedures 
are effective, understood and applied. Our quality controls and systems include our dedicated 
professional standards review team and independent partner reviews.

This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 
of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the company’s members those matters we are required to state to them in an 
auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not 
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the company’s 
members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Scope of the audit of the  
financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s and the parent company’s 
circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the 
reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and the overall 
presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial 
information in the annual report to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial 
statements and to identify any information that is apparently materially incorrect based on,  
or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us in the course of performing the 
audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we 
consider the implications for our report.

David Bell CA (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom
22 March 2016
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Group Income Statement 
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016

Notes

52 weeks ended 
2 January 2016

£’000

53 weeks ended 
3 January 2015

£’000

Continuing operations
Revenue 4 245,089 268,823
Cost of sales (140,612) (151,759)

Gross profit 104,477 117,064

Operating expenses (68,216) (81,816)
Impairment and write downs (35,234) (24,535)

Total operating expenses (103,450) (106,351)

Operating profit 4, 5 1,027 10,713

Financing
Investment income 7 854 2,209
Net finance expense on pension liabilities/assets 8a (2,933) (3,330)
Change in fair value of borrowings 8b 23,918 5,063
Other – 1,662
Finance costs 8c (19,973) (40,233)

Total net financing costs 1,866 (34,629)

Profit/(Loss) before tax 2,893 (23,916)
Tax 9 8,538 8,580

Profit/(Loss) from continuing operations 11,431 (15,336)

Net profit from discontinued operations – 236

Consolidated profit/(loss) for the period 11,431 (15,100)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. The comparative period is for the 53 week period ended 
3 January 2015.

Notes
52 weeks ended 

2 January 2016
53 weeks ended 

3 January 2015

From continuing and discontinued operations
Earnings per share (p)
Earnings (£m) 12 11.3 (15.3)
Weighted average number of shares (m) 12 105.3 3,519.3

Basic 12 10.71 (0.43)

Diluted 12 10.71 (0.43)

From continuing operations
Earnings per share (p)
Earnings (£m) 12 11.3 (15.5)
Weighted average number of shares (m) 12 105.3 3,519.3

Basic 12 10.71 (0.44)

Diluted 12 10.71 (0.44)
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Group Statement of Comprehensive Income 
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016

Revaluation
reserve 

£’000

Translation
reserve 

£’000

 Retained
earnings 

£’000
Total

£’000

Profit for the period – – 11,431 11,431

Other items of comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension schemes (net of tax)1 – – 57,648 57,648

Total items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss – – 57,648 57,648

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Revaluation adjustment (2) – – (2)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations – (245) – (245)
Deferred tax on pension balances – – (10,956) (10,956)

Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss (2) (245) (10,956) (11,203)

Total other comprehensive (loss)/gain for the period (2) (245) 46,692 46,445

Total comprehensive (loss)/gain for the period (2) (245) 58,123 57,876

For the 53 week period ended 3 January 2015

Revaluation
reserve 

£’000

Translation
reserve

£’000

 Retained
earnings

£’000
Total

£’000

Loss for the period – – (15,100) (15,100)

Other items of comprehensive loss
Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Actuarial (loss) on defined benefit pension schemes (net of tax)1 – – (17,591) (17,591)

Total items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss – – (17,591) (17,591)

Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss
Revaluation adjustment (4) – 4 –
Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations – (21) – (21)
Deferred tax on exchange differences – 7 – 7

Total items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss (4) (14) 4 (14)

Total other comprehensive loss for the period (4) (14) (17,587) (17,605)

Total comprehensive loss for the period (4) (14) (32,687) (32,705)

1 Relates to actuarial gain of £57,021,000 (3 January 2015: loss of £17,560,000) for the Johnston Press Pension Plan (refer to Note 21), and a net actuarial gain of £627,000 
(3 January 2015: loss of £31,000) (refer to Note 23) for other pension related liabilities; the obligations for which are shown in provisions. 
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Group Statement of Changes in Equity 
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016

Share
capital

£’000

Share
premium

£’000

Share-
based

payments
reserve 

£’000

Revaluation
reserve

£’000

Own
shares
£’000

Translation
reserve

£’000

Retained
earnings

 £’000
Total

 £’000

Opening balances 116,171 587,702 13,780 1,733 (5,206) 9,565 (523,764) 199,981 

Total comprehensive (loss)/profit for the 
period – – – (2) – (245) 58,123 57,876

Recognised directly in equity:
Preference share dividends (Note 11) – – – – – – (152) (152)
Share-based payments charge (Note 28) – – 2,188 – – – – 2,188
Deferred tax on share-based payment 

transactions – – – – – – – –
Share capital reduction (Note 25)1 – (275,000) – – – – 275,000 –
Performance share plan exercised – – (321) – 321 – – –
Company share option plan exercised – – – – 17 – – 17
Deferred bonus plan exercised – – (18) – 18 – – –
Purchase of own shares – – – – (895) – – (895)
Release of SBP reserve for expired  

share schemes2 – – (8,666) – – – 8,666 –
Release of own shares3 – – – – 2,163 – (2,163) –

Net changes directly in equity – (275,000) (6,817) – 1,624 – 281,351 1,158

Total movements – (275,000) (6,817) (2) 1,624 (245) 339,474 59,034

Equity at the end of the period 116,171 312,702 6,963 1,731 (3,582) 9,320 (184,290) 259,015

1 During 2015 the Group reduced its share premium by £275,000,000 increasing distributable reserves, see Note 25 for full details.
2 On lapse of schemes balances held are released to distributable reserves.
3 Revaluation of own shares reserve to reflect the weighted average price of shares purchased.

For the 53 week period ended 3 January 2015

Opening balances 69,541 502,829 13,576 1,737 (5,312) 9,579 (491,526) 100,424

Total comprehensive loss for the period – – – (4) – (14) (32,687) (32,705)

Recognised directly in equity:
Preference share dividends paid (Note 11) – – – – – – (152) (152)
Share-based payments charge (Note 28) – – 907 – – – – 907
Deferred tax on share-based payment 

transactions – – (25) – – – – (25)
Share capital issued 46,630 – – – – – – 46,630
Share premium arising (Note 25) – 84,873 – – – – – 84,873
Performance share plan exercised – – (77) – 77 – – –
Company share option plan exercised – – – – 29 – – 29
Release on exercise of warrants – – (601) – – – 601 –

Net changes directly in equity 46,630 84,873 204 – 106 – 449 132,262 

Total movements 46,630 84,873 204 (4) 106 (14) (32,238) 99,557 

Equity at the end of the period 116,171 587,702 13,780 1,733 (5,206) 9,565 (523,764) 199,981 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group Statement of Financial Position
At 2 January 2016

Notes

2 January
2016 

£’000

3 January
2015

£’000

Non-current assets 
Intangible assets 13 479,047 514,324
Property, plant and equipment 14 52,713 53,334
Available for sale investments 15 970 970
Interests in associates 16 – 22
Trade and other receivables 19 2 2

532,732 568,652

Current assets
Assets classified as held for sale 17 82 1,301
Inventories 18 2,383 2,543
Trade and other receivables 19 31,628 37,262
Current tax asset 247 –
Cash and cash equivalents 40,564 30,817

74,904 71,923

Total assets 4 607,636 640,575

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 19 44,549 45,560
Current tax liabilities – 1,032
Retirement benefit obligation 21 10,016 6,489
Borrowings 20 – –
Short-term provisions 23 1,835 2,087

56,400 55,168

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 20 186,619 215,437
Retirement benefit obligation 21 16,946 83,512
Deferred tax liabilities 22 84,196 81,352
Trade and other payables 19 819 935
Long-term provisions 23 3,641 4,190

292,221 385,426

Total liabilities 348,621 440,594

Net assets 259,015 199,981

Equity
Share capital 24 116,171 116,171
Share premium account 25 312,702 587,702
Share-based payments reserve 6,963 13,780
Revaluation reserve 1,731 1,733
Own shares (3,582) (5,206)
Translation reserve 9,320 9,565
Retained earnings (184,290) (523,764)

Total equity 259,015 199,981

The financial statements of Johnston Press plc, registered in Scotland (number 15382), were approved by the Board of Directors and 
authorised for issue on 22 March 2016.

They were signed on its behalf by:

Ashley Highfield  David King
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Group Cash Flow Statement 
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016

Notes

52 weeks to
 2 January

2016 
£’000 

53 weeks to
3 January

2015 
£’000

Cash flow from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 26 41,025 6,318 
Income tax (paid)/received (816) 918 
Cash generated from discontinued operations – 571

Net cash inflow from operating activities 40,209 7,807

Investing activities
Interest received 148 49 
Dividends received 706 2,160 
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant and equipment 200 484 
Proceeds on disposal of assets held for sale 2,139 7,612 
Proceeds on disposal of investments in associates 10 –
Expenditure on digital intangible assets 13 (1,772) (1,513) 
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 14 (6,084) (7,149) 
Disposal proceeds and investing activities of discontinued operations – 5,882 
Expenditure incurred on disposal of discontinued operations (46) –

Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities (4,699) 7,525 

Financing activities
Issuance of bonds 20 – 220,500 
Placing and Rights Issue – 140,022 
Share exercises – option schemes, warrants – 662 
Purchase of own shares (895) –
Dividends paid1 11 (304) – 
Interest paid (19,658) (27,008) 
Repayment of Bond (4,900) –
Repayment of bank borrowings – (204,738) 
Repayment of loan notes – (121,798) 
Refinancing fees (equity and debt issuance costs) – (21,100) 
Purchase of foreign currency options – (159) 
Cash movement relating to own shares held – 29 
Financing fees (25) –
Settlement of share schemes 19 –

Net cash used in financing activities (25,763) (13,590) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 9,747 1,742 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period 30,817 29,075 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 40,564 30,817 

1 In 2015 the Group settled preference dividends relating to 2014 and 2015, 2014 dividends were accrued at the end of 2014.

The comparative period is for the 53 week period ended 3 January 2015.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016

1. BASIS OF PREPARATION
Johnston Press plc (“Johnston Press” or “the Group”) is a public limited liability company incorporated in Scotland under the Companies 
Act 2006 and listed on the London Stock Exchange. The registered office is Orchard Brae House, 30 Queensferry Road, Edinburgh, EH4 
2HS. The principal activities of the Group are described in the Operational Review and Financial Review sections of the Strategic Report.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) issued by the 
International Accounting Standards Board as adopted by the European Union and with those parts of the Companies Act 2006 
applicable to companies preparing their accounts under IFRS.

These financial statements have been prepared for the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016 (2014: 53 week period ended 
3 January 2015).

The significant accounting policies used in preparing this information are set out in Note 2.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the accounting policies set out in the 2014 Annual Report.  
The financial statements have also been adjusted, where appropriate, by new or amended IFRS described below.

These financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis (discussed further in the Financial Review on page 23)  
and under the historical cost basis except for the revaluation of certain properties and financial instruments, share-based payments  
and defined benefit pension obligations that are measured at revalued amounts or fair value at the end of each reporting period.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Adoption of new or amended standards and interpretations in the current year 
The following new and amended IFRSs have been adopted for the 52 week period which commenced 4 January 2015 and ended 
2 January 2016. 

Accounting standard Requirements Impact on financial statements

IFRS 10 Consolidated 
Financial Statements

Establishes a single basis – control – to determine whether an entity 
(including a structured or special purpose entity) should be included in 
the consolidated financial statements.
Provides additional guidance to assist in the determination of control in 
circumstances in which this is difficult to assess, such as control with less 
than 50% of voting rights, potential voting rights and agency 
relationships (e.g., investment managers).

None; additional disclosure 
requirements included within 
accounting policies under header 
‘Accounting for subsidiaries’.

IFRS 12 Disclosure of 
Interests in Other 
Entities

Sets out new and comprehensive disclosure requirements for all forms  
of interests in other entities including subsidiaries, joint arrangements, 
associates, structured or special purpose entities and off-balance  
sheet entities.

None.

IAS 27 Separate 
Financial Statements

Contains the accounting and disclosure requirements for investment  
in subsidiaries, joint arrangements and associates when an entity 
prepares separate financial statements. The requirements in respect  
of consolidated financial statements are superseded by IFRS 10.

None.

IAS 28 Investments in 
Associates and Joint 
Ventures

Prescribes the equity method for investments in associates and joint 
ventures, and slightly modifies the accounting required when a portion 
of an investment in an associate or joint venture is held for sale.

None.

Amendments to IFRS 
10, IFRS 11 and IFRS 12 
– Consolidated 
Financial Statements, 
Joint Arrangements 
and Disclosure of 
Interests in Other 
Entities: Transition 
Guidance

Provides additional transition relief in IFRSs 10, 11 and 12 by limiting the 
requirement to provide adjusted comparative information to only the 
preceding comparative period.

None.

Amendments to IFRS 
10, IFRS 12 and IAS 27 
– Investment Entities

Defines an investment entity and introduces an exception to 
consolidating particular subsidiaries for investment entities.

None.
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2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

Accounting standard Requirements Impact on financial statements

Amendments to  
IAS 32 – Offsetting 
Financial Assets and 
Financial Liabilities

Addresses inconsistencies in current practice when applying the 
offsetting criteria in IAS 32. The amended standard clarifies that the  
right of set-off must be legally enforceable not only in the normal course 
of business but also in the event of default or insolvency or bankruptcy  
of either the entity or all of the counterparties and that it must not be 
contingent on a future event.

None.

Amendments to  
IAS 36 – Recoverable 
Amount Disclosures 
for Non-Financial 
Assets

Clarifies the scope of certain disclosures about the recoverable amount 
of impaired assets. Additional disclosures are required when the 
recoverable amount of impaired assets is based on fair value less costs  
of disposal.

None; refer Note 13 – Intangible 
Assets where the recoverable 
amount is based on value in use 
instead of fair value less costs  
of disposal.

IFRIC 21 Levies Clarifies how an entity should account for liabilities to pay levies imposed 
by governments. 

None; refer Note 21 in relation  
to PPF levies recognised in the 
income statement.

Amendments to  
IAS 19 – Defined 
Benefit Plans: 
Employee 
Contributions 

Introduces a narrow-scope amendment to simplify the accounting for 
contributions that are independent of the number of years of employee 
service, e.g., employee contributions that are calculated according to  
a fixed percentage of salary. 

None; refer Note 21.

Annual improvements 
to IFRSs 2010-2012 
cycle

Minor amendments to IFRS 2, 3, 8, 13 and IAS 16 and 38 and IAS 24. None; minor revisions taken  
into consideration when  
applying standards.

Annual improvements 
to IFRSs 2011-2013 
cycle 

Minor amendments to IFRS 1, 3, 13 and IAS 40. None; minor revisions taken  
into consideration when  
applying standards.

New and amended IFRS issued by the IASB but not yet effective for the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
The following standards and interpretations are applicable to companies with periods beginning after 2015. These will be mandatory  
for Johnston Press plc in the 52 weeks ended 1 January 2017. 

Accounting standard Requirements Impact on financial statements

Amendments to  
IAS 16 and IAS 38 – 
Clarification of 
Acceptable Methods 
of Depreciation and 
Amortisation 

Prohibits revenue-based depreciation methods and generally  
presumes that such methods are an inappropriate basis for  
amortising intangible assets. 

None; refer Note 13 – Intangible 
Assets and Note 14 – Property,  
Plant and Equipment.

Amendments to IAS 
27 – Equity Method  
in Separate Financial 
Statements

Allows entities to use the equity method to account for investment  
in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in their separate  
financial statements.

None.

Amendments to IAS 1 
– Disclosure Initiative

Encourages companies to apply professional judgement in determining 
what information to disclose in their financial statements.

None.

Annual improvements 
to IFRSs 2012-2014 
cycle 

Minor amendments to IFRS 5 and 7, IAS 19 IAS 34. None; minor revisions taken  
into consideration when  
applying standards.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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New standards applicable to accounting periods beginning after 2016

Accounting standard Requirements Effective date

IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with 
Customers*

IFRS 15 (which replaces IAS 11 and 18 and SIC 31, 
IFRIC 13, 15 and 18) provides a single, principles-based 
five-step model that should be applied to determine 
how and when to recognise revenue from contracts 
with customers.

IFRS 15’s core principle is that revenue is recognised 
to depict the transfer of promised goods or services 
to customers in an amount that reflects the 
consideration to which an entity expects to be 
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

A five-step approach to revenue recognition  
is required:
• Identify the contract(s) with a customer.
• Identify the performance obligations  

in the contract.
• Determine the transaction price.
• Allocate the transaction price to the performance 

obligations in the contract.
• Recognise revenue when (or as) performance 

obligations are satisfied.

IFRS 15 also includes requirements for accounting 
for costs related to a contract with a customer. These 
are recognised as an asset if certain criteria are met.

The standard requires qualitative and quantitative 
disclosures in respect of revenue, contract balances, 
performance obligations, significant judgements 
and assets recognised from costs to obtain or fulfil 
a contract. 

Effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 2018.

A detailed assessment of the implications of the 
standard on the business will be undertaken 
particularly as it relates to digital marketing services 
contracts and longer term advertising agreements 
delivered across multiple platforms.

IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments (Issued 
24 July 2014)* 

IFRS 9 sets out the requirements for recognising and 
measuring financial assets, financial liabilities and 
some contracts to buy or sell non-financial items. 
IFRS 9 will supersede IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement. 

Effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 
2018; the impact is yet to be assessed. 

IFRS 16 (Issued) Leases IFRS 16 provides a comprehensive model for the 
identification of lease arrangements and their 
treatment in the financial statements of both lessees 
and lessors. It supersedes IAS 17 Leases and its 
associated interpretative guidance and applies  
a control model to the identification of leases, 
distinguishing between leases and service contracts 
on the basis of whether there is an identified asset 
controlled by the customer. 

Effective for annual periods beginning 1 January 
2019; the impact is yet to be assessed.

* Not yet EU endorsed.

Basis of consolidation
The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities controlled by the Company 
(its subsidiaries) (together referred to as “the Group”) made up to the Saturday closest to 31 December each year for either a 52 or  
53 week period. 

Accounting for subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity controlled by the Group. Control is achieved when the Company:
• has the power over the investee;
• is exposed, or has rights, to variable return from its involvement with the investee; and
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Company reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more 
of the three elements of control listed above.
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When the Company has less than a majority of the voting rights of an investee, it considers that it has power over the investee when the 
voting rights are sufficient to give the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee unilaterally. The Company considers  
all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not the Company’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it 
power, including:
• The size of the Company’s holding of voting rights relative to the size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders.
• Potential voting rights held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties.
• Rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
• Any additional facts and circumstances that indicate that the Company has, or does not have, the current ability to direct the relevant 

potential voting right held by the Company, other vote holders or other parties activities at the time that decisions need to be made, 
including voting patterns at previous shareholders meetings.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included in the Group Income Statement from the effective date 
control is obtained or up to the effective date control is relinquished, as appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the 
financial statements of subsidiaries to bring the accounting policies used into line with those used by the Group. 

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

Business combinations
The acquisition of subsidiaries is accounted for using the acquisition method. The cost of the acquisition is measured at the aggregate  
of the fair values at the date of exchange of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the Group  
in exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in the Income Statement as incurred. 

The acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition under IFRS 3, including 
publishing titles, are recognised at their fair value at the acquisition date, except for:
• deferred tax assets or liabilities related to employee benefit arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 

Income Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively; and
• non-current assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 ‘Non-Current Assets Held for Sale 

and Discontinued Operations’, are recognised and measured at fair value less costs to sell.

Investment in associates
An associate is an entity over which the Group is in a position to exercise significant influence and is neither a subsidiary nor an interest  
in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not 
control or joint control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are incorporated in these Group financial statements using the equity method  
of accounting.

Investments in associates are carried in the Group Statement of Financial Position at cost as adjusted by post-acquisition changes in the 
Group’s share of the net assets of the associate, less any impairment in the value of individual investments.

Discontinued operations
On 1 April 2014 the Group completed the disposal of the Republic of Ireland titles to Iconic Newspapers. In accordance with IFRS 5 
“Non-current assets held for sale and discontinued operations” the net results for the year are presented within discontinued operations  
in the income statement. For additional information refer to Note 10.

Publishing titles
The Group’s principal intangible assets are publishing titles. The Group does not capitalise internally generated publishing titles. Titles 
separately acquired after 1 January 1989 are stated at cost and titles owned by subsidiaries acquired after 1 January 1996 are recorded  
at the Directors’ valuation at the date of acquisition. These publishing titles have no finite life and consequently are not amortised. The 
carrying value of the titles is reviewed for impairment at least annually with testing undertaken to determine any diminution in the 
recoverable amount below carrying value. The recoverable amount is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and the value in use is 
based on the net present value of estimated future cash flows. Any impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately. When an 
impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, 
but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment 
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in the Group Income 
Statement given these assets are not carried at revalued amounts.

For the purpose of impairment testing, publishing titles are allocated to each of the Group’s cash generating units. Cash generating  
units are tested for impairment annually, or more frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable 
amount of the cash generating unit is less than the carrying amount of the unit, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of the value of publishing titles and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata on the basis of the carrying amount  
of each asset in the unit.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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Other intangible assets
Other intangible assets in respect of digital activities are amortised using the straight-line method over the expected life, of two to five 
years and are tested for impairment at each reporting date or more frequently where there is an indication that the recoverable amount 
is less than the carrying amount.

Costs incurred in the development of websites are only capitalised if the criteria specified in IAS 38 are met.

Valuation of share-based payments 
The Group estimates the expected value of equity-settled share-based payments and this is charged through the Income Statement over 
the vesting periods of the relevant awards. The cost is estimated using a Black-Scholes valuation model. The Black-Scholes calculations 
are based on a number of assumptions that are set out in Note 28 and are amended to take account of estimated levels of share vesting 
and exercise.

Revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for goods and 
services provided in the normal course of business, net of discounts, VAT and other sales related taxes. 

Print advertising revenue is recognised on publication and circulation revenue is recognised at the point of sale. Digital revenues are 
recognised on publication for advertising or delivery of service for other digital revenues. Printing revenue is recognised when the service 
is provided. 

Foreign currencies
The individual financial statements of each Group company are presented in the currency of the primary economic environment in 
which it operates (its functional currency). For the purpose of the consolidated financial statements, the results and financial position of 
each Group company are expressed in pounds sterling, which is the functional currency of the Company and the presentation currency 
for the consolidated financial statements.

In preparing the financial statements of the individual companies, transactions in currencies other than the entity’s functional currency 
(foreign currencies) are recorded at the rates of exchange prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At each period end, monetary assets 
and liabilities that are denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at the close of business on the last 
working day of the period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates 
prevailing at the date when the fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are included in profit  
or loss for the period. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit  
or loss for the period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at historical cost in respect of which 
gains and losses are recognised directly in equity. 

For the purpose of presenting consolidated financial statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign operations are translated 
at exchange rates prevailing on the period end date. Income and expense items are translated at the average exchange rates for the 
period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are classified as equity and transferred to the Group’s translation reserve. Such translation 
differences are recognised as income or as expenses in the period in which the operation is disposed of. 

Fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign entity and translated 
at the closing rate.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment balances are shown at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment. In certain cases the 
amounts of previous revaluations of properties conducted in 1996 or 1997 or the fair value of the property at the date of the acquisition  
by the Group have been treated as the deemed cost on transition to IFRS. Depreciation is provided on all property, plant and equipment, 
excluding land, at varying rates calculated to write-off cost over the useful lives. The principal rates employed are: 

Freehold land   Nil
Freehold property   2.5% reducing balance
Leasehold property  Term of lease
Computer and IT equipment 20%, 33% straight-line
Printing presses   5% straight-line
Other production equipment 6.67%, 20% straight-line
Furniture and fittings  15% reducing balance, 20% straight-line
Motor vehicles   25% straight-line

Assets classified as held for sale
Where a property or a significant item of equipment (such as a print press or property no longer required as part of Group operations)  
is marketed for sale, management is highly committed to the sale and the asset is available for immediate sale, the Group classifies that 
asset as held for sale. If the asset is expected to be sold within 12 months, the asset is classed as a current asset. The value of the asset is 
held at the lower of the net book value or the expected realisable sale value.

The Directors have estimated the sale values based on the current price that the asset is being marketed at and advice from independent 
property agents. The actual sale proceeds may differ from the estimate.
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Provisions for onerous leases and dilapidations
Where the Group exits a rented property, an estimate of the anticipated total future cost payable under the terms of the operating lease, 
including rentals, rates and other related expenses, is charged to the Income Statement at the point where the unavoidable costs of 
meeting the obligations under the contract exceed the economic benefits expected to be received under it. Where there is a break clause 
in the contract, rentals are provided for up to that point. In addition, an estimate is made of the likelihood of sub-letting the premises and 
any rentals that would be receivable from a sub-tenant. Where receipt of sub-lease rentals is considered reasonable, these amounts are 
deducted from the rentals payable by the Group under the lease and provision charged for the net amount.

Under the terms of a number of property leases, the Group is required to return the property to its original condition at the lease  
expiry date. The Group has estimated the expected costs of these dilapidations and charged these costs to the Income Statement.  
No discounting has been applied to the provision as the effect of the discounting is not considered material.

Inventories
Inventories, largely paper, plates and ink, are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost incurred in bringing materials to 
their present location and condition comprises: (a) raw materials and goods for resale at purchase cost on a first-in first-out basis; and (b) 
work in progress at cost of direct materials, labour and certain overheads. Net realisable value comprises selling price less any further costs 
expected to be incurred to completion and disposal. 

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s Statement of Financial Position when the Group becomes a party  
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets
Investments are recognised and derecognised on the trade date in accordance with the terms of the purchase or sale contract and are 
initially measured at fair value, plus transaction costs.

Available for sale financial assets
Listed and unlisted investments are shown as available for sale and are stated at fair value. Fair value of listed investments is determined 
with reference to quoted market prices. Fair value of unlisted investments is determined by the Directors. Gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value are recognised directly in equity, with the exception of impairment losses which are recognised directly in the 
Income Statement. Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, the cumulative gain or loss previously 
recognised in equity is included in the Income Statement for the period.

Dividends on available for sale equity investments are recognised in the Income Statement when the Group’s right to receive the 
payment is established.

Trade receivables
Trade receivables do not carry any interest. They are stated at their nominal value as reduced by appropriate allowance for estimated 
irrecoverable amounts. An allowance for impairment is made where there is an identified loss event which, based on previous experience, 
is evidence of a reduction in the recoverability of the cash flows. Other trade receivables are provided for on an individual basis where 
there is evidence that an amount is no longer recoverable.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at each period end date. Financial assets are impaired where there is objective 
evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future  
cash flows of the investment have been impacted. The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly 
for all financial assets with the exception of trade receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance for 
estimated irrecoverable amounts. Changes in the carrying value of this allowance are recognised in the Income Statement.

Embedded derivatives
Derivatives embedded in other financial instruments or other host contracts are treated as separate derivatives when their risks and 
characteristics are not closely related to those of the host contracts and the host contracts are not measured at fair value with the 
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity
Debt and equity instruments issued by the Group are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance 
of the contractual arrangement.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its liabilities.  
Equity instruments issued by the Group are recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Borrowings 
The borrowings of £225 million 8.625% senior secured notes due 2019 agreed as part of the June 2014 refinancing are recorded at quoted 
market fair value and classified as Level 1 according to IFRS 13. As the borrowings are shown at fair value the associated issue costs have 
been charged to the Income Statement (refer to Note 8c).

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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Trade payables
Trade payables are not interest-bearing and are stated at their nominal value.

Leases
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to the Group Income Statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the  
relevant lease. In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.  
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Where the Group is a lessor, rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

Operating profit
Operating profit is stated after charging restructuring or other exceptional costs but before investment income, other finance income, 
finance costs and the share of the results of associates.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that the Group will  
be required to settle that obligation. Provisions are measured at the Directors’ best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the 
obligation at the reporting date and are discounted to present value where the effect is material. 

Taxation
The tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from profit before tax as reported in the Income 
Statement because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items that 
are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the period end date.

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities  
in the financial statements and the corresponding tax-based values used in the computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using 
the balance sheet liability method. Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred  
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial 
recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor 
the accounting profit. 

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised. 
Deferred tax is charged or credited in the Income Statement, except when it relates to items charged or credited directly to other 
comprehensive income, in which case the deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the 
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the relevant requirements of IAS 12 are satisfied. 

Retirement benefit costs
The Group provides pensions to employees through various schemes.

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit schemes are charged to the Income Statement as an expense as they fall due. 

For defined benefit retirement benefit schemes, the cost of providing benefits is determined using the Projected Unit Credit Method, 
with actuarial valuations being carried out at each period end date. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in full in the period in which 
they occur. They are recognised outside the Income Statement and presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. Past service 
cost is recognised immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested and otherwise is amortised on a straight-line basis over 
the average period until the benefits become vested. Net-interest is calculated by applying a discount rate to the net defined benefit 
liability or asset and is recognised within finance costs.

The retirement benefit obligation recognised in the Statement of Financial Position represents the present value of the defined benefit 
obligation as adjusted for unrecognised past service cost, and as reduced by the fair value of scheme assets. Any asset resulting from this 
calculation is limited to past service cost, plus the present value of available refunds and reductions in future contributions to the scheme. 
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Critical judgements in applying the Group’s accounting policies
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management has made the following 
judgements that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements (apart from those involving 
estimations, which are dealt with below).

The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Provisions for onerous leases and dilapidations
Where the Group exits a rented property, an estimate of the anticipated total future cost payable under the terms of the operating lease, 
including rentals, rates and other related expenses, is charged to the Income Statement at the point of exit as an onerous lease. Where 
there is a break clause in the contract, rentals are provided for up to that point. In addition, an estimate is made of the likelihood of 
sub-letting the premises and any rentals that would be receivable from a sub-tenant. Where receipt of sub-lease rentals is considered 
reasonable, these amounts are deducted from the rentals payable by the Group under the lease and provision charged for the 
net amount.

Under the terms of a number of property leases, the Group is required to return the property to its original condition at the lease  
expiry date. The Group has estimated the expected costs of these dilapidations and charged these costs to the Income Statement.  
No discounting has been applied to the provision as the effect of the discounting is not considered material. 

Valuation of share-based payments
The Group estimates the expected value of equity-settled share-based payments and this is charged through the Income Statement over 
the vesting periods of the relevant awards. The cost is estimated using a Black-Scholes valuation model. The Black-Scholes calculations 
are based on a number of assumptions and are amended to take account of estimated levels of share vesting and exercise.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty
The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the period end date that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are discussed below.

Impairment of publishing titles, print presses and other intangible assets
Determining whether publishing titles are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash generating units (CGUs) to 
which these assets are allocated. Key areas of judgement in the value in use calculation include the identification of appropriate CGUs, 
estimation of future cash flows expected to arise from each CGU, the long-term growth rates and a suitable discount rate to apply to cash 
flows in order to calculate present value. The Group has identified its CGUs based on the seven geographic regions in which it operates. 
This is considered to be the lowest level at which cash inflows generated are largely independent of the cash inflows from other groups  
of assets and has been consistently applied in the current and prior periods. £35.2 million impairment loss has been recognised for the 
period ended 2 January 2016 (3 January 2015: £21.6 million) in relation to publishing titles. A future change in the composition of CGUs 
may result in a different outcome. The carrying value of publishing titles at 2 January 2016 was £476.4 million (3 January 2015: 
£511.6 million). 

Determining whether print presses are impaired requires an estimation of the value in use of each print site. The value in use calculation 
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise from the print sites and a suitable discount rate in order to 
calculate present value (Note 13).
 
£1.6 million accelerated depreciation/amortisation has been taken in relation to digital intangible assets. Details of the impairment reviews 
that the Group performs are provided in Note 13.

Valuation of pension liabilities
The Group records in its Statement of Financial Position a liability equivalent to the deficit on the Group’s defined benefit pension 
schemes. The pension liability is determined with advice from the Group’s actuarial advisers each year and can fluctuate based on  
a number of factors, some of which are outside the control of management. The main factors that can impact the valuation include:
• the discount rate used to discount future liabilities back to the present date, determined each year from the yield on corporate bonds;
• the actual returns on investments experienced as compared to the expected rates used in the previous valuation;
• the actual rates of salary and pension increase as compared to the expected rates used in the previous valuation;
• the forecast inflation rate experienced as compared to the expected rates used in the previous valuation; and
• mortality assumptions based on standard base table adjusted to reflect specific conclusions and conditions based on a study of the 

actual scheme members.

Details of the assumptions used to determine the liability at 2 January 2016 are set out in Note 21.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION
Business segments 
Information reported to the Chief Executive Officer for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance  
is focused on the two areas of Publishing (in print and online) and Contract Printing. Geographical segments are not presented as the 
primary segment is the UK which is greater than 90% of Group activities.

a) Segment revenues and results
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by reportable segment:

52 week period ended 2 January 2016 53 week period ended 3 January 2015

Publishing 
£’000

Contract
printing 

£’000
Eliminations 

£’000
Group 
 £’000

Publishing 
£’000

Contract
 printing 

£’000
Eliminations 

£’000
Group 
 £’000

Revenue
Print advertising 119,607 – – 119,607 138,087 – – 138,087
Digital advertising 31,719 – – 31,719 29,116 – – 29,116
Newspaper sales 72,461 – – 72,461 79,144 – – 79,144
Contract printing – 12,627 – 12,627 – 12,804 – 12,804
Other 7,568 1,107 – 8,675 8,177 1,495 – 9,672

Total external sales 231,355 13,734 – 245,089 254,524 14,299 – 268,823
Inter-segment sales1 – 30,182 (30,182) – – 36,727 (36,727) –

Total revenue 231,355 43,916 (30,182) 245,089 254,524 51,026 (36,727) 268,823

Operating profit/(loss)
Segment result (1,829) 2,856 – 1,027 6,443 4,270 – 10,713

Investment income 854 2,209
Net finance expense on pension  

assets/liabilities (2,933) (3,330)
Net IAS 21/39 adjustments2 23,918 6,725
Net finance costs (19,973) (40,233)

Profit/(Loss) before tax 2,893 (23,916)
Taxation (expense)/credit 8,538 8,580

Profit/(Loss) after tax for the period – 
continuing operations 11, 431 (15,336)

Profit after tax for the period – 
discontinued operations – 236

Consolidated profit/(loss) after tax  
for the period 11,431 (15,100)

1 Inter-segment sales are charged at standard internal charging rates.
2 Relates to changes in fair value of borrowings, changes in fair value of hedges, retranslation of US dollars and retranslation of euro-denominated debt. 

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 2. The segment 
result represents the (loss)/profit earned by each segment without allocation of the share of results of associates, investment income, 
finance costs (including in relation to pension assets and liabilities) and income tax expense. This is the measure reported to the Group’s 
Chief Executive Officer for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

b) Segment assets

2 January 
2016

 £’000 

3 January
2015

£’000 

Assets
Publishing 574,975 609,037
Contract printing 32,661 31,538

Total segment assets 607,636 640,575

Unallocated assets – –

Consolidated total assets 607,636 640,575

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments, the Group’s Chief Executive Officer 
monitors the tangible, intangible and financial assets attributable to each segment. All assets are allocated to reportable segments.
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4. SEGMENT INFORMATION CONTINUED
c) Other segment information

52 weeks to 2 January 2016 53 weeks to 3 January 2015

Publishing
 £’000

Contract
printing

£’000
Group 
 £’000

Publishing
£’000

Contract
printing 

 £’000
Group
£’000

Additions to property, plant and equipment 5,837 247 6,084 7,044 105 7,149
Depreciation and amortisation expense (continuing) 6,403 1,965 8,368 3,869 1,638 5,507
Impairment of property, plant and equipment – – – 2,667 – 2,667
Net impairment of intangibles 35,234 – 35,234 21,568 – 21,568

5. OPERATING PROFIT

Notes

52 weeks to
2 January

2016 
£’000

53 weeks to
3 January

2015 
£’000

Operating profit is shown after charging/(crediting):
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 14 6,553 5,313
Amortisation of intangible fixed assets 13 1,815 194
Impairment of publishing titles 13 35,234 21,568
Write down in value of fixed assets1 – 2,667
Write down of assets classified as held for sale – 300
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment:

Profit on disposal of plant and equipment 187 1,968
Profit on disposal of property 783 1,739

Cost of inventories recognised as expense 21,382 27,027
Movement in allowance for doubtful debts 19 17 (695)
Staff costs excluding redundancy costs 6 93,090 100,703
Redundancy costs 6 4,474 7,320
Long Term Incentive Plans – 4,321
Share-based payments 28 596 676
Value Creation Plan 28 993 231
Operating lease charges:

Property 27 4,617 4,938
Vehicles 27 1,395 1,752

Rentals received on sub-let property 77 91
Net foreign exchange gains (9) (39)
Pension Protection Fund levy 21 1,221 2,038
Auditor’s remuneration:
Company and Group accounts 230 159
Subsidiaries 200 240

1 2014 includes £1,500,000 relating to the Sheffield property which has a redundant press hall in its basement and £1,167,000 of redundant assets in Score Press 
Limited.

Profit on disposal of property 
The Group operates a large portfolio of properties, and regularly exits and renews leases, as well as sale and leaseback of freehold 
properties. Profits of £0.8 million for the period ended 2 January 2016 (3 January 2015: £2.0 million) from property sales were included  
in operating profit. There were seven such sales for the period ended 2 January 2016 (3 January 2015: 21).

Staff costs shown above include £1,293,000 (3 January 2015: £2,566,000) relating to remuneration of Directors. In addition to the auditor’s 
remuneration shown above, the auditor received the following fees for non-audit services.

52 weeks to
2 January

2016 
£’000

53 weeks to 
3 January

2015
 £’000

Audit-related assurance services 55 55
Taxation compliance services 60 55
Other taxation advisory services 84 37
Other services related to refinancing – 305

199 452

All non-audit services were approved by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee considers that these non-audit services have not 
impacted the independence of the audit process. In addition, an amount of £15,500 (3 January 2015: £19,000) was paid to the external 
auditor for the audit of the Group’s pension scheme.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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6. EMPLOYEES 
The average monthly number of employees, including Executive Directors, was:

52 weeks to
2 January

2016 
No.

53 weeks to
3 January

2015 
No.

Editorial and photographic 974 1,133
Sales and distribution 1,359 1,504
Production 288 355
Administration 219 250

Average number of employees 2,840 3,242

Notes

52 weeks to
2 January

2016 
£’000

53 weeks to
3 January

2015 
£’000

Staff costs:
Wages and salaries 80,196 87,133
Social security costs 7,367 8,238
Redundancy costs 5 4,474 7,320
Other pension costs1 21 3,880 4,425
Cost of share-based awards2 28 1,647 907

Total staff costs 97,564 108,023

1 Other pension costs relates to Group pension contributions to the defined contribution scheme. 
2 Deferred Share Bonus Plan contributions are fully charged to the income statement in the year to which they relate and are accrued at the respective year end. At the 

point of award the full expense has already been recognised.

Full details of the Directors’ emoluments, pension benefits and share options are included in the audited part of the Directors’ 
Remuneration Report on page 47. 

7. INVESTMENT INCOME
52 weeks to

2 January
2016

£’000

53 weeks to
3 January

2015 
£’000

Income from available for sale investments1 706 2,109
Income from other investments – 51
Interest receivable 148 49

854 2,209

1 Dividends received from Press Association recognised as available for sale investments. Dividend received on sale of a division.

8. FINANCE COSTS
a) Net finance expense on pension liabilities/assets

Note

52 weeks to
2 January

2016 
£’000

53 weeks to
3 January

2015 
£’000

Interest on assets 16,771 19,376 
Interest on liabilities (19,704) (22,706) 

Net finance expense on pension liabilities/assets 21 (2,933) (3,330) 
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8. FINANCE COSTS CONTINUED
b) IAS 21/39 items
The fair value movement on the 8.625% Senior Secured Bonds due 2019 resulted in a gain of £23.9 million (2014: £5.1 million) and was 
based on quoted market fair value. Refer to Note 20. The fair value movements on the bond are not taxable as it is accounted for under 
amortised cost within Johnston Press Bond plc.

All movements in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recorded in the Income Statement. There are no longer derivative 
financial instruments held by the Group. When held in 2014 there was a £1.3 million net charge. The retranslation of foreign denominated 
debt resulted in £nil movement (2014: net gain £2.9 million). In the current period no debt was held in foreign currencies. All euro denominated 
publishing titles were disposed of in 2014 as such there was no retranslation required in the current period.

c) Finance costs
52 weeks to

2 January
2016 

£’000

53 weeks to
3 January

2015 
£’000

Interest on bond (19,296) (12,290)
Interest on bank overdrafts and loans (374) (11,163)
Payment-in-kind interest – (5,345)
Amortisation of term debt issue costs (194) (2,389)
Financing fees (109) –

Total operational finance costs (19,973) (31,187)

Payment-in-kind interest accrual release1 – 9,181
Term debt issue costs written off on previous repaid loan services1 – (7,145)

Gain on debt extinguishment – 2,036

Refinancing fees on new capital raising2 – (11,082)

Total exceptional finance costs – (9,046)

Total finance costs (19,973) (40,233)

1 The 2014 interest accrual release of £9.2 million includes a release of the PIK accrual of £25.7 million less £6.4 million PIK payment and £10.1 million Make-Whole 
interest paid due to early debt repayment. The term debt issue costs write off of £7.1 million represents the remaining term debt issue costs after amortisation at the 
date of repayment. There was no such amount in the current year.

2 The 2014 £11.1 million refinancing fees relates to legal and professional fees associated with the refinancing that were attributable to the equity and bond issue, the 
revolving credit facility, the repayment of lending banks and noteholders and the new pension framework agreement. These have been recorded in the Income 
Statement. There was no such amount in the current year.

9. TAX
52 weeks to

2 January
 2016

£’000

53 weeks to 
3 January

2015 
£’000

Current tax
Charge for the period 200 –
Adjustment in respect of prior periods (626) (665)

(426) (665)

Deferred tax (Note 22)
Charge/(credit) for the period 6,983 (1,874)
Deferred tax adjustment in respect of prior periods relating to the bond 1,104 –
Deferred tax adjustment relating to the impairment of publishing titles in the period (7,033) (6,041)
Credit relating to reduction in deferred tax rate to 18%/19% (2014: 20.0%) (9,166) –

(8,112) (7,915)

Total tax credit for the period (8,538) (8,580)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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UK corporation tax is calculated at 20.25% (3 January 2015: 21.5%) of the estimated assessable profit for the period. The 21.5% basic tax rate 
applied for the 2015 period was a blended rate due to the tax rate of 21.0% in effect for the first quarter of 2015, changing to 20.0% from 
1 April 2015 under the 2013 Finance Act. Taxation for other jurisdictions is calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdiction.

The change in rate from 20% to 18% or 19% has been accounted for in the current year resulting in a £9.2 million tax credit in the consolidated 
income statement and £0.6 million credit in the Statement of Comprehensive Income as a result of the change to the standard rate of 
corporation tax substantively enacted by parliament. £9.5 million of the tax credit has arisen on recognising the publishing title intangible 
assets deferred tax balance at the reduced corporate tax rate of 18%. Refer to the deferred tax note 22 for detail breakdown of the rate 
change impact.

A deferred tax adjustment relating to the bond accounting treatment has been charged in the period, in respect of the prior year. The 
accounting treatment of the bond differs in the Group, compared to the subsidiary, which gives rise to the deferred tax liability. Within the 
Group accounts the bond is mark-to-market. At a subsidiary reporting level the bond is accounted for under the amortised cost method 
(FRS 102 – section 10). Refer to the deferred tax note 22 for further detail.

The tax credit for the period can be reconciled to the profit/(loss) per the Income Statement as follows:

52 weeks to
2 January

2016 
£’000 %

53 weeks to
3 January

2015
£’000 %

Profit/(Loss) before tax 2,893 100.0 (23,916) 100.0

Tax at 20.25% (3 January 2015: 21.50%) 586 20.3 (5,142) 21.5
Tax effect of items that are not deductible or not taxable in determining taxable profit (169) (5.8) (2,729) 11.4
Tax effect of investment income (142) (4.9) (321) 1.3
Effect of other tax rates (122) (4.2) (81) 0.3
Unrecognised deferred tax assets (3) (0.1) 358 (1.5)
Effect of reduction in deferred tax rate (9,166) (316.9) – –
Adjustment in respect of prior year bond accounting 1,104 38.2 – –
Adjustment in respect of prior years (626) (21.6) (665) 2.8

Total tax credit (8,538) (295.2) (8,580) 35.9

10. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
There were no significant discontinued operations in the period.

In the Prior year the Group disposed of the Republic of Ireland titles to Iconic Newspapers, part of Mediaforce Limited. In accordance with 
IFRS 5 ‘Non-Current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations’, the results and cash flows of this ‘disposal group’ were reported 
separately from the performance of continuing operations. The net profit from discontinued operations for the period ended 2 January 
2016 was £nil (2014: £0.3 million). 

11.  DIVIDENDS
52 weeks to

2 January
2016

£’000

53 weeks to
3 January

2015
£’000

Amounts recognised as distributions to equity holders in the period:

Preference dividends 
13.75% Cumulative preference shares (13.75p per share) 104 104
13.75% ‘A’ preference shares (13.75p per share) 48 48

152 152

Under the provisions of the Bond, the Company’s ability to pay dividends in respect of ordinary shares is restricted until certain conditions, 
including that the net leverage is below 2.25% EBITDA, are met. No ordinary dividend is proposed for the period ended 2 January 2016 
(3 January 2015: £nil).

Following the completion of the £275 million capital reduction in May 2015 (note 25) the Group has paid preference dividends relating  
to 2014 and resumed the regular June and December payments on each class of preference share.
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12. EARNINGS PER SHARE
The calculation of earnings per share is based on the following profit/(loss) and weighted average number of shares:

Continuing and discontinued operations
52 weeks to

2 January
2016

£’000

53 weeks to
3 January

2015
£’000

Earnings
Profit/(loss) for the period 11,431 (15,100)
Preference dividend1 (152) (152)

Earnings for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 11,279 (15,252)

000’s 000’s

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share2 105,281 3,519,319

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
– warrants and employee share options – –
– PSP and deferred bonus shares – –

Number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 105,281 3,519,319

Earnings per share (p)
Basic 10.71 (0.43)
Diluted3 10.71 (0.43)

1 In line with IAS 33, the preference dividend and the number of preference shares are excluded from the calculation of earnings per share.
2 The weighted average number of ordinary shares are shown excluding treasury shares.
3 Diluted earnings per share are presented when a company could be called upon to issue shares that would decrease net profit or increase loss per share. 

Continuing operations
2 January

2016
£’000

3 January
2015

£’000

Earnings
Profit/(Loss) for the period 11,431 (15,336)
Preference dividend1 (152) (152)

Earnings for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 11,279 (15,488)

000’s 000’s

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purposes of basic earnings per share2 105,281 3,519,319

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares
– warrants and employee share options – –
– PSP and deferred bonus shares – –

Number of shares for the purposes of diluted earnings per share 105,281 3,519,319

Earnings per share (p)
Basic 10.71 (0.44)
Diluted3 10.71 (0.44)

1 In line with IAS 33, the preference dividend and the number of preference shares are excluded from the calculation of earnings per share.
2 The weighted average number of ordinary shares are shown excluding treasury shares.
3 Diluted earnings per share are presented when a company could be called upon to issue shares that would decrease net profit or increase loss per share. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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13.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Publishing

titles 
£’000

Digital
intangible

assets 
£’000

Total
£’000

Cost
Opening balance 1,149,123 3,013 1,152,136
Additions 67 1,705 1,772

Closing balance 1,149,190 4,718 1,153,908

Accumulated impairment losses and amortisation
Opening balance 637,561 251 637,812
Amortisation for the period – 1,815 1,815
Impairment losses for the period 35,234 – 35,234

Closing balance 672,795 2,066 674,861

Carrying amount
Opening balance 511,562 2,762 514,324

Closing balance 476,395 2,652 479,047

Publishing titles
The carrying amount of publishing titles by cash generating unit (CGU) is as follows:

3 January
2015 

£’000
Impairment

£’000
Addition

£’000

2 January 
2016 

£’000

Scotland 52,127 – – 52,127
North 217,231 (22,273) – 194,958
Northwest 47,860 (1,560) – 46,300
Midlands 120,082 (10,973) – 109,109
South 38,375 – 67 38,442
Northern Ireland 35,887 (428) – 35,459

Total carrying amount of publishing titles 511,562 (35,234) 67 476,395

The addition in the period, relates to the acquisition of Love News Media Limited the publisher of the Brighton & Hove Independent 
which was acquired on 3rd July 2015. The title, including its popular associated website: www.brightonandhoveindependent.co.uk and 
@BrightonIndy twitter following complements the South portfolio of assets. This title now allows the Group to serve customers along  
the Sussex coast.

The Group tests the carrying value of publishing titles held within the publishing operating segment for impairment annually or more 
frequently if there are indications that they might be impaired. The publishing titles are grouped by CGUs, being the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identifiable cash flows independent of the cash inflows from other groups of assets.

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations. The key assumptions for the value in use 
calculations are:
• expected changes in underlying revenues and direct costs during the period; 
• growth rates; and
• the discount rate.

The Group prepares discounted cash flow forecasts using:
• the Board approved budget for 2016 and the projections for 2017 and 2018, which reflect management’s current experience and 

future expectations of the markets the CGUs operate in. Changes in underlying revenue and direct costs are based on past practices 
and expectations of future changes in the market. These include changes in demand for print and digital, circulation, cover prices, 
advertising rates as well as movement in newsprint and production costs and inflation;

• capital expenditure cash flows to reflect the cycle of capital investment required;
• net cash inflows for future years are extrapolated beyond 2018 based on the Board’s view of the estimated annual long-term growth 

rate of 1.0%; and
• management estimate discount rates using post-tax rates that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and 

the risks specific to the CGUs. The post-tax discount rate applied to the future cash flows for the period ended 2 January 2016 was 
10.0% (2015 pre-tax discount rate of 12.1%, 2014: 12.0%). The post-tax discount rate reflects management’s view of the current risk profile 
of the underlying assets being valued with regard to the current economic environment and the risks that the regional media industry 
is facing. The present value of the cash flows is then compared to the carrying value of the asset to determine if there is any 
impairment loss. 

http://www.brightonandhoveindependent.co.uk
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13.  INTANGIBLE ASSETS CONTINUED
The total impairment charge recognised for the period ended 2 January 2016 was £35.2 million (3 January 2015: £21.6 million).  
The impairment charge in the period relates to the North of England, Midlands and Northern Ireland.

The Group has conducted sensitivity analysis on the impairment test of each CGUs carrying value. A decrease in the long-term growth 
rate of 0.5%, beyond 2018, would result in a further Group impairment of £17.7 million and an increase in the discount rate of 0.5%  
would result in an additional impairment of £20.1 million.

Growth rate
sensitivity

£’000

Discount 
rate

sensitivity 
£’000

Scotland 0 0
North (8,955) (10,197)
Northwest (2,128) (2,424)
Midlands (4,904) (5,584)
South 0 0
Northern Ireland (1,684) (1,918)

Total potential impairment from sensitivity analysis (17,671) (20,123)

While the value in use of the North, Northwest, Midlands and Northern Ireland CGUs have decreased during the period, the values in use 
of Scotland and South CGUs have increased. After applying the sensitivities, no impairment would arise in the Scotland and South CGUs 
as their values in use would continue to remain higher than their respective carrying values.

Digital intangible assets
Digital intangible assets primarily relate to the new design, additional functionality and ongoing commercial enhancements to the 
Group’s local websites and the development of a Customer Relationship Management (CRM) capability. The websites form the core 
platform for the Group’s digital revenue activities whereas the CRM capability will enable the Group to accelerate the growth of its 
subscriber base. These assets are being amortised over a period of two to five years. Amortisation for the year has been charged through 
cost of sales.

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Note

Freehold 
land and 
buildings 

£’000

Leasehold 
buildings 

£’000

Plant and 
machinery 

£’000

Motor 
Vehicles

 £’000
Total 

£’000

Cost
At 3 January 2015 60,786 6,132 122,460 2,672 192,050
Additions – 484 5,600 – 6,084
Disposals – (27) (2,114) (1,790) (3,931)
Transfers to assets held for sale 17 (226) – (38) – (264)
Reclassification – (2) 2 – –
Exchange differences 27 (61) 91 7 64

At 2 January 2016 60,587 6,526 126,001 889 194,003

Depreciation
At 3 January 2015 38,656 2,079 95,309 2,672 138,716
Disposals – (27) (2,101) (1,790) (3,918)
Charge for the period 480 338 5,735 – 6,553
Transfers to assets held for sale 17 (103) – (22) – (125)
Exchange differences 15 (49) 91 7 64

At 2 January 2016 39,048 2,341 99,012 889 141,290

Carrying amount
At 3 January 2015 22,130 4,053 27,151 – 53,334

At 2 January 2016 21,539 4,185 26,989 – 52,713

During the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016, the Group recognised an accelerated depreciation charge of £0.3 million (2014: £2.7 million). 
The write-down arises from decisions to rationalise facilities and are calculated based on fair value less costs of sale as quoted by external 
valuers. The impaired assets belong to the Group’s publishing segment and the impairments have been included in the Income 
Statement in exceptional items.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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15.  AVAILABLE FOR SALE INVESTMENTS
The Group’s available for sale investments are:

3 January 
2016 

£’000

3 January 
2015

£’000

Listed investments at fair value 2 2
Unlisted investments
Cost 4,494 4,494
Provision for impairment (3,526) (3,526)

Unlisted investments carrying amount 968 968

Total investments 970 970

Listed investments at fair value represents investments in listed equity securities that present the Group with opportunity for return 
through dividend income and trading gains. The Group holds a strategic non-controlling interest of 3.53% in Press Association Group 
Limited. These shares are not held for trading and accordingly are classified as available for sale. The fair values of all equity securities are 
based on quoted market prices.

The fair value of unlisted investments is determined by the Directors, as set out in the accounting policies in Note 2 under ‘Available for 
sale financial assets’.

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
During the year the decision was made by the shareholders to wind up Classified Periodicals Ltd. On closure a repayment of £10,000  
of share capital was received by the Group, there are no further associates after the transaction.

17.  ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE 

Note

Freehold
 land and 
buildings 

£’000

Leasehold 
buildings 

£’000

Plant and 
machinery

 £’000
Total 

£’000

Cost
At 3 January 2015 5,498 3,096 1,899 10,493
Disposals (5,553) (3,096) (1,900) (10,549)
Transfers in from property, plant and equipment 14 226 – 38 264

At 2 January 2016 171 – 37 208

Depreciation
At 3 January 2015 4,384 3,091 1,717 9,192
Disposals (4,382) (3,091) (1,718) (9,191)
Transfers in from property, plant and equipment 14 103 – 22 125

At 2 January 2016 105 – 21 126

Carrying amount
At 3 January 2015 1,114 5 182 1,301

At 2 January 2016 66 – 16 82

Assets classified as held for sale consists of land and buildings in the UK and Republic of Ireland that are no longer in use by the Group 
and print presses that have ceased production. All of the assets are being marketed for sale and are expected to be sold within the 
next year.

Non-current assets are transferred to assets held for sale when it is expected that their carrying amounts will be recovered principally 
through disposal and a sale is considered likely. They are held at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs of sale. 

18. INVENTORIES
2 January

 2016 
£’000

3 January
2015

 £’000

Raw materials 2,383 2,543
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19. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
Trade and other receivables 

2 January 
2016 

£’000

3 January 
2015

£’000

Current:
Trade receivables 24,360 26,938 
Allowance for doubtful debts (1,860) (1,843) 

22,500 25,095 
Prepayments 3,836 6,729 
Other debtors 5,292 5,438 

Total current trade and other receivables 31,628 37,262

Non-current: 2 2

Total trade and other receivables 31,630 37,264

Trade receivables 
The average credit period taken on sales is 43 days (3 January 2015: 44 days). No interest is charged on trade receivables. The Group has 
provided for estimated irrecoverable amounts in accordance with the accounting policy described in Note 2. 

Before accepting any new credit customer, the Group obtains a credit check from an external agency to assess the potential customer’s 
credit quality and then defines credit terms and limits on a by-customer basis. These credit terms are reviewed regularly. In the case  
of one-off customers or low value purchases, pre-payment for the goods is required under the Group’s policy. The Group reviews trade 
receivables past due but not impaired on a regular basis and considers, based on past experience, that the credit quality of these 
amounts at the period end date has not deteriorated since the transaction was entered into and so considers the amounts recoverable. 
Regular contact is maintained with all such customers and, where necessary, payment plans are in place to further reduce the risk of 
default on the receivable. 

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with a carrying amount of £8.9 million (3 January 2015: £9.9 million) which 
are past due at the reporting date but for which the Group has not provided as there has not been a significant change in credit quality 
and the Group believes that the amounts are still recoverable. The Group does not hold any security over these balances. The weighted 
average past due period of these receivables is 25 days (3 January 2015: 23 days). 

Ageing of past due but not impaired trade receivables
2 January 

2016 
£’000

3 January 
2015

 £’000

0 – 30 days 5,569 8,110 
30 – 60 days 1,436 1,443 
60 – 90 days 746 106 
90+ days 1,187 279 

Total 8,938 9,938 

Movement in the allowance for doubtful debts
2 January 

2016 
£’000

3 January 
2015

 £’000

Balance at the beginning of the period 1,843 2,538 

Bad debts written off during the year uncollectible 254 (1,009) 
Amounts provided for during the year as uncollectible (204) 343 
Foreign exchange translation gains and losses (33) (29) 

Movement in the period (Note 5) 17 (695) 

Balance at the end of the period 1,860 1,843 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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In determining the recoverability of a trade receivable, the Group considers any change in the credit quality of the trade receivable from 
the date credit was initially granted up to the balance sheet date. The concentration of credit risk is limited due to the customer base 
being large and unrelated. Accordingly, the Directors believe that there is no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance 
for doubtful debts. 

Ageing of impaired trade receivables
Impaired trade receivables are those that have been provided for under the Group’s bad debt provisioning policy, as described in the 
accounting policy in Note 2. The ageing of impaired trade receivables is shown below. 

2 January
 2016 

 £’000

3 January
 2015 

£’000

0 – 30 days 341 558
30 – 60 days 37 262
60 – 90 days 531 283
90+ days 951 740

Total 1,860 1,843

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade and other receivables at the balance sheet date approximate to their fair value. 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents totalling £40,564,000 (2014: £30,817,000) comprise cash held by the Group and short-term bank deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less. The carrying amount of these assets approximates their fair value. 

Trade and other payables

2 January 
2016 

£’000

3 January
 2015 

£’000

Current:
Trade creditors and accruals 34,291 30,554 
Accrual for redundancy costs 2,381 6,090 
Other creditors 7,877 8,916 

Total current trade and other payables 44,549 45,560

Non-current trade and other payables 819 935

Trade creditors and accruals principally comprise amounts outstanding for trade purchases and ongoing costs. The average credit period 
taken for trade purchases is 42 days (3 January 2015: 15 days). The Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure all 
payables are paid within the agreed credit terms.

The redundancy accrual has been made for terminations agreed ahead of the year end and to be paid during 2016.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of trade and other payables at the balance sheet date approximate to their fair value.
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20. BORROWINGS 
The borrowings at 2 January 2016 are recorded at quoted market fair value and classified as Level 1 according to IFRS 13. As the borrowings 
are shown at fair value the associated issue costs against the 8.625%. Senior secured notes 2019 have been charged to the Income 
Statement (refer to Note 8c). 

As disclosed in the 2015 interim report it was the Company’s intention to buy back £5 million of the Bond. This was completed in August 
2015 when funds became available at 98%. 

2 January 
2016 

£’000

3 January 
2015 

£’000

Bank loans – –
Private placement loan notes – –
Payment-in-kind interest accrual – –
8.625% Senior secured notes 20191 186,619 215,437

Total borrowings excluding term debt issue costs 186,619 215,437
Term debt issue costs – –

Total borrowings 186,619 215,437

1 8.625% Senior secured notes 2019 breakdown.

2 January 
2016 

£’000

3 January 
2015 

£’000

Outstanding principal amount 220,000 225,000
Bond discount (net) (4,400) (4,500)
Fair value gain (28,981) (5,063)

Total 186,619 215,437

The borrowings are disclosed in the financial statements as:

2 January
 2016 

£’000

3 January 
2015 

£’000

Current borrowings – –
Non-current borrowings 186,619 215,437

Total borrowings 186,619 215,437

The Group’s net debt2 is:

2 January 
2016 

£’000

3 January 
2015 

£’000

Gross borrowings as above 186,619 215,437 
Cash and cash equivalents (40,564) (30,817) 

Net debt including currency hedge instruments 146,055 184,620 
Term debt issue costs – –

Net debt excluding term debt issue costs 146,055 184,620 

2 Net debt is a non-statutory term presented to show the Group’s borrowings net of cash equivalents, fair value of foreign exchange options and term debt issue costs. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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21. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION
Characteristics of the Group’s pension related liabilities
The Johnston Press Retirement Savings Plan
The Johnston Press Retirement Savings Plan is a defined contribution Master Trust arrangement for current employees, operated by 
Zurich. Contributions by the Group are a percentage of basic salary. Employer contributions range from 1% of basic salary, for employees 
statutorily enrolled, through to 12% of basic salary for Senior Executives. Employees who were active members of the Money Purchase 
section of the Johnston Press Pension Plan on 31 August 2013 transferred from the Johnston Press Pension Plan to the Johnston Press 
Retirement Savings Plan from 1 September 2013.

The Johnston Press Pension Plan
The Johnston Press Pension Plan is a defined benefit pension plan closed to new members and closed to future accrual. There was 
formerly a defined contribution section of the Johnston Press Pension Plan which was closed in August 2013 and members’ defined 
contribution benefits were transferred to the Johnston Press Retirement Savings Plan. The assets of the Plan are held separately from 
those of the Group. The contributions are determined by a qualified actuary on the basis of a triennial valuation using the projected  
unit method and are set out in a Schedule of Contributions and Recovery Plan dated 29 July 2014.

A valuation of the Johnston Press Pension Plan as at 31 December 2012 was commissioned by the Trustees and takes account of the 
Capital Refinancing Plan. A new triennial valuation is due as at 31 December 2015 and this is to be carried out in 2016. 

In conjunction with the 2014 Capital Refinancing Plan, the Plan Trustees and the Group entered into a Pension Framework Agreement, 
agreeing, inter alia to the following:
• On implementation of the Capital Refinancing Plan in June 2014, the secured guarantee provided in favour of the Plan Trustees by  

the Group and certain of its subsidiaries in relation to any default on a payment obligation under the Johnston Press Pension Plan has 
been removed. In return for the removal of this security and the aforementioned guarantee, an unsecured cross-guarantee has been 
provided on implementation of the Capital Refinancing Plan by the Group and certain of its subsidiaries in favour of the Plan Trustees 
in relation to any default on a payment obligation under the Johnston Press Pension Plan. Each claim made under the unsecured 
cross-guarantee is capped at an amount equal to the aggregate Section 75 (s75) debt of the Johnston Press Pension Plan at the date 
any claim made by the Plan Trustees falls due.

• The deficit as at the 31 December 2012 valuation date will be sought to be addressed by 31 December 2024 by entry into a recovery 
plan providing for contributions starting at £6.3 million in 2014, £6.5 million in 2015 and £10.0 million in 2016 increasing by 3% per 
annum with a final payment of £12.7 million in 2024.

• Settlement of previously incurred PPF levies and s75 debts.
• The Johnston Press Pension Plan will be entitled to receive 25% of net proceeds from business or asset disposals up to and including 

31 August 2015 exceeding £1 million in a single transaction or £2.5 million over the course of a financial year, subject to certain 
permitted disposals, conditions in relation to financial leverage and other exceptions set out in the Framework Agreement.

• The Group will also pay additional contributions to the Johnston Press Pension Plan in the event that the 2014/2015 PPF levy and/or  
the 2015/2016 PPF levy is less than £3.2 million, equal to the amount the levy falls below £3.2 million, up to a maximum of £2.5 million.

• Additional contributions will also be payable to the Johnston Press Pension Plan in the event that the Group satisfies certain conditions 
in relation to financial leverage.

As part of the 31 December 2012 triennial valuation, this Pension Framework Agreement was reflected in the valuation documentation  
of the Johnston Press Pension Plan, and subsequently it was submitted to the Pensions Regulator. The Agreement and the required level 
of contributions are subject to review as part of the 31 December 2015 triennial valuation currently on-going. 

Irish Pension Schemes
In addition, the Group maintained a liability for two defined benefit schemes providing benefits for a small number of former employees 
in Limerick and Leinster. Both schemes are in the process of being wound up and no further Employer funding contributions are payable.
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21. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION CONTINUED
Characteristics of the Group’s pension related liabilities continued
Amounts arising from pensions related liabilities in the Group’s financial statements
The following tables identify the amounts in the Group’s financial statements arising from its pension related liabilities: 

Income statement – pensions and other pension related liabilities costs

Notes

2 January 
2016

£’000

3 January 
2015

£’000

Employment costs:
Defined contribution scheme 6 (3,880) (4,425)

Defined benefit scheme
Plan expenses (IAS19R)1 (632) (1,217)
Pension protection fund2 (1,221) (2,038)
Net finance cost on Johnston Press Pension Plan (IAS19R) 8a (2,933) (3,330)

Total defined benefit scheme (4,786) (6,585)

Total pension costs (8,666) (11,010)

¹ Relates to administrative expenses incurred in managing the pension fund.
² Relates to the payment of £722,000 to the Pension Protection Fund for the period April 15 to March 16 (April 2014 to March 2015: £2,718,000). Of this £180,000 has 

been recognised as a prepayment (refer Note 19 – Other Financial Assets and Liabilities) (2014: £380,000).

Other comprehensive income – gain/(loss) on pension

2 January 
2016

£’000

3 January 
2015

£’000

(Losses)/Gains on plan assets in excess of interest (7,610) 48,120 
Gains/(Losses) from changes to financial assumptions 8,456 (66,797)
Gains from changes to demographic assumptions 53,204 1,536
Experience losses arising on the benefit obligation – (1,838)
Additional defined benefit obligation under IFRIC 14 2,971 (2,971)

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 57,021 (21,950)
Deferred tax1 10,842 4,390

Actuarial gain/(loss) recognised in the statement of comprehensive income net of tax 67,863 (17,560)

1 Deferred tax adjustment in the period arises due to the reduction in corporate tax rate and reduction in pension deficit. A 19% deferred tax rate has been applied.

During the period the Group commissioned a review of the IAS19 assumptions used in determining the closing liability of the Johnston 
Press Pension Plan specifically focusing on demographic assumptions. A medically underwritten study was carried out by KPMG to 
identify the current health of a statistical sample group of existing Plan members, assessed via telephone interviews targeted towards 
members with the most significant liabilities in the Plan. The output was interpreted by underwriters and then analysed alongside the 
results from a postcode analysis performed in the prior year. This was translated into mortality assumptions for use in calculating the IAS19 
scheme liabilities. The methodology used was compliant with the applicable Technical Actuarial Standards in force published by the 
Financial Reporting Council. 

The study of current mortality gives an age rating of +3.0 years to the standard SAPS tables used for the IAS19 disclosure (previously this 
assumption had been set in line with 104% of Self-Administered Pension Scheme (SAPS) tables). The future mortality improvements 
model has been updated to reflect the most recent Continuous Mortality Investigation (CMI) 2015 projections and the allowance for long 
term rates of improvement of 1.25% p.a. for males and 1.0% p.a. for females remains unchanged. This is equivalent to a life expectancy at 
65 of 19.7 years (3 January 2015: 22.0 years) for males and 21.3 years (3 January 2015: 23.9 years) for females. The reduction in assumed life 
expectancy is equivalent to a reduction in liabilities of £51.0 million.

The Rules of the Plan were revised such that the Company has an unconditional right to any surplus on the eventual wind up of the Plan. 
As such the additional IFRIC 14 liability has been reversed. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016



91JOHNSTON PRESS PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2015

D
irecto

rs’ G
o

vern
an

ce
Fin

an
cial S

tatem
en

ts
S

trateg
ic R

ep
o

rt

Statement of financial position – net defined benefit pension deficit 

2 January
 2016

£’000

3 January
 2015

£’000

Amounts included in the Group Statement of Financial Position:
Fair value of scheme assets 473,413 480,479 
Present value of defined benefit obligations (500,375) (567,509)
Additional defined benefit obligation under IFRIC 14 – (2,971)

Total liability recognised (26,962) (90,001)
Amount included in current liabilities 10,016 6,489

Amount included in non-current liabilities (16,946) (83,512)

Analysis of amounts recognised of the net defined benefit pension deficit

2 January
 2016 

£’000

3 January 
2015 

£’000

Net defined benefit pension deficit at beginning of period (90,001) (78,334)

Defined benefit obligation at beginning of period (567,509) (498,640)

Income statement:
Interest cost (19,704) (22,706)

Other comprehensive income:
Experience (gains) and losses – (1,838)
Remeasurements of defined benefit obligation:
 Arising from changes in demographic assumptions 53,204 1,536
 Arising from changes in financial assumptions 8,456 (66,797)

Cash flows:
Benefits paid (by fund and Group) 25,178 20,936

Defined benefit obligation at end of the period (500,375) (567,509)

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of period 480,479 420,306 

Income statement:
Interest income on plan assets 16,771 19,376
Administration costs – (837)

Other comprehensive income:
Return on plan assets less interest (7,610) 48,120

Cash flows:
Company contributions1 8,951 14,450
Benefits paid (by fund and Group) (25,178) (20,936)

Fair value of plan assets at end of period 473,413 480,479 

Additional defined benefit obligation under IFRIC 14 – (2,971)

Net defined benefit pension deficit at end of period (26,962) (90,001)

1 Comprises annual employer contributions of £8,908,000 (3 January 2015: £6,300,000), contributions in respect of property disposals of £nil (3 January 2015: £456,000), 
contributions in respect of Irish title disposals of £nil (3 January 2015: £1,280,000), plan expenses of £43,000 (3 January 2015: £907,000), pension protection fund 
contributions of £nil (3 January 2015: £4,239,000) and s75 debt contributions of £nil (3 January 2015: £1,268,000).
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21. RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATION CONTINUED
Characteristics of the Group’s pension related liabilities continued
Amounts arising from pensions related liabilities in the Group’s financial statements continued
Analysis of fair value of plan assets

2 January 
2016

£’000

3 January 
2015

£’000

Equities 76,162 67,283
Multi-asset credit 110,464 99,678
Diversified growth funds 167,124 152,231
Liability-driven investments 115,625 148,075
Other1 4,038 13,212

Total fair value of plan assets 473,413 480,479

1 Other mainly includes cash and Protected Rights Funds.

Analysis of financial assumptions
2 January 

2016
£’000

3 January 
2015

£’000

Discount rate 3.75% 3.55%
Future pension increases

Deferred revaluations (where linked to inflation (CPI)) 2.00% 1.75%
Pensions in payment (where linked to inflation (RPI)) 2.95% 2.85%

Future life expectancy 
Male currently aged 65 19.7 years 22.0 years
Female currently aged 65 21.3 years 23.9 years

Sensitivity analysis of significant assumptions
The following tables present a sensitivity analysis for each significant actuarial assumption showing how the defined benefit obligation 
would have been affected, by changes in the relevant actuarial assumptions that were reasonably possible at the reporting date:

Changes in 
defined 
benefit 

obligation
£m

Discount rate
+0.10% discount rate 7,395
Inflation rate
+0.10% inflation rate (4,808)
Mortality
+10.0% to base table mortality rates 16,060
Pension increase exchange
Allowance for 25% take up for sections where automatically offered 380

The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in one assumption while holding all other assumptions constant, therefore interdependencies 
between assumptions are excluded. The methodology applied is consistent to that used to determine the recognised pension liability.

Other pension related obligations 
The Group has agreed to pay the expenses of the Johnston Press Pension Plan and the Pension Protection Fund (PPF) levy as they fall due. 

The Group entered into flexible apportionment arrangements in March 2014 and again in March 2015 with the agreement of the Plan 
Trustees, which resulted in a decrease in the 2014/15 and 2015/2016 PPF levy charges. The Group expects to see the full benefit of reduced 
levy charges in 2016/2017, when the increased pension contributions commence. The Company was required to pay a levy in relation to 
2014/15 amounting to £2.7 million and 2015/16 of £0.7 million. The reduction in both of these levies from the 2013/14 level of £3.2 million 
resulted in payments of £0.5 million and £2.5 million being made to the Plan in September 2014 and September 2015 respectively, in 
accordance with the Pension Framework Agreement. Current expectations for the 2016/17 PPF levy is that it will be lower again than the 
2015/16 PPF levy which will benefit the Group in full given the top-up payments to the Plan in relation to the PPF levy have now ceased. 

The Johnston Press Pension Plan (the “Plan”) is subject to a potential increase in its liabilities in the event that historic benefit equalisation 
has not taken effect for a specific group of members. The Group’s lawyers have advised that an application to court should be made for  
a declaration that normal retirement dates for these members were validly equalised as intended, and currently anticipate a successful 
outcome in the case. A court application has been made and the hearing is due to take place in May 2016. No provision has been made  
in the financial statements. Based on advice to the Trustees of the Plan, the Group anticipates the maximum obligation in relation to this 
matter (in the event that the court application is not successful) is expected to be in the region of £8 million.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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Five year history:

2 January 
2016 

£’000

3 January
 2015 

£’000

28 December 
2013 

£’000

29 December
2012 

£’000

31 December
2011 

£’000

Fair value of scheme assets 473,413 480,479  420,306 382,792 368,718
Present value of defined benefit obligations (500,375) (567,509) (498,640) (504,111) (472,708)
Additional obligation under IFRIC 14 – (2,971) – – –

Deficit in the plan (26,962) (90,001) (78,334) (121,319) (103,990)

Experience adjustments on scheme liabilities
Amount (£’000) 61,660 (67,099) 7,357 (29,332) (22,524)

Percentage of plan liabilities (%) 12.3% (11.8%) 1.5% (5.8%) (4.8%)

Experience adjustments on scheme assets
Amounts (£’000) (7,610) 48,120 39,055 8,257 (27,060)

Percentage of plan assets (%) (1.6%) 10.0% 9.3% 2.2% (7.3%)

News Media Association Pension Scheme
The Group is a member of the News Media Association (NMA) (formerly the Newspaper Society), an unincorporated body representing 
the interests of local newspaper publishers. During 2014 the Newspaper Society incorporated itself as a company limited by guarantee 
and entered into a merger with the Newspaper Publishers’ Association (a body representing the interests of publishers of national 
newspapers). As part of the merger, existing members entered into a deed of covenant in respect of the deficit to the Society’s defined 
benefit pension scheme. The members agreed to make contributions over a period of 25 years or until such time as the deficit has been 
addressed. Applying a discount rate of 12%, the Group’s best estimate of this at present value is £783k.

The first payment of £90k was made in 2015 and the discount unwound resulting in an £82k movement, the closing liability having 
reduced to £775k.

News Media Association Pension Scheme liabilities have been included within provisions (Note 23).

Other pension related liabilities
The closing provision relating to unfunded pensions for senior employees was £0.8 million (3 January 2015: £1.4 million). The unfunded 
pension provision is assessed by a qualified actuary at each period end. 

Post-retirement medical benefit pension related liabilities for former Portsmouth and Sunderland members of £0.1 million  
(3 January 2015: £0.2 million). The post retirement medical benefits represent management’s best estimate of the liability concerned. 
 
On 6 January 2015, the Trustees of the Limerick Leader Plan accepted the offer of additional funding to the Plan in consideration for the 
Trustees agreeing to proceed to wind up the Plan. The total amount of this additional funding was EUR320,000. At the end of the period 
there was £nil liability (3 January 2015: £0.2 million).

Other pension related liabilities have been included within provisions (Note 23).



94 JOHNSTON PRESS PLC ANNUAL REPORT AND ACCOUNTS 2015

22. DEFERRED TAX
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the Group and movements thereon during the current and 
prior reporting periods.

Share-based
 payments 

£’000

Properties
 not eligible 

£’000

Accelerated 
tax 

depreciation
 £’000

Intangible 
assets 
£’000

Pension
 balances1

£’000

Bond 
balances

£’000

Other
timing 

differences
 £’000

Total 
£’000

At 28 December 2013 (222) 5,751 (3,984) 108,336 (15,695) – (575) 93,611
Charge/(Credit) to income statement 58 (987) (1,925) (6,041) 1,768 – (788) (7,915)
Charge/(Credit) to equity 25 – – – (4,390) – – (4,365)
Currency movements – – – 21 – – – 21

At 3 January 2015 (139) 4,764 (5,909) 102,316 (18,317) – (1,363) 81,352

Effect of change in tax rates on income 
statement – (443) 253 (9,529) 855 (302) – (9,166)

Effect of change in tax rates on equity – – – – (578) – – (578)
Charge to equity – – – – 11,534 – – 11,534
(Credit)/Charge to income statement – (328) 844 (7,033) 1,224 4,938 305 (50)
Adjustment to prior year charged to income 

statement – – – – – 1,104 – 1,104

At 2 January 2016 (139) 3,993 (4,812) 85,754 (5,282) 5,740 (1,058) 84,196

Including the effect of the change in tax rates, the deferred tax movements credited through the income statement in the period total 
£8.1 million. Deferred tax movements charged to the Statement of Other Comprehensive Income (SOCI) in the period total £11.0 million. 

Certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances (before offset) for 
financial reporting purposes:

2 January 
2016 

£’000

3 January 
2015

 £’000

Deferred tax liabilities 95,487 107,078
Deferred tax assets (11,291) (25,726)

84,196 81,352

Temporary differences arising in connection with interests in associates are insignificant.

23. PROVISIONS
Onerous 

leases 
and 

dilapidations 
£’000

News Media 
Association 

Pension 
Scheme1

 £’000

Other 
pension 
related 

liabilities1

 £’000
Total

 £’000

At 3 January 2015 3,668 783 1,826 6,277
Charge to income statement 892 – 46 938
Actuarial valuation loss – – (604) (604)
Utilisation of provision (834) (8) (293) (1,135)

At 2 January 2016 3,726 775 975 5,476

The provisions are disclosed in the financial statements as:

Current provisions 1,745 90 – 1,835
Non-current provisions 1,981 685 975 3,641

Total provisions 3,726 775 975 5,476

1 For details of pension see Note 21. 

Onerous leases and dilapidations
Where the Group exits a rented property, an estimate of the anticipated total future cost payable under the terms of the operating lease, 
including rentals, rates and other related expenses is provided for at the point of exit as an onerous lease.

Under the terms of a number of property leases, the Group is required to return the property to its original condition at the lease expiry 
date. The Group has estimated the expected costs of leases expiring or expected to be terminated and has also assessed the entire 
portfolio and made provisions depending on the state of the property and the duration of the lease and likely rectification requirements.

All amounts are expected to be utilised within the next ten years.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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24. SHARE CAPITAL 
In summary:

2 January
2016 

£’000

3 January
 2015

£’000

Issued
Ordinary shares 
105,877,777 ordinary shares of 1p each (3 January 2015 and 2 January 2016) 1,059 1,059

Total ordinary shares 1,059 1,059

Deferred shares
690,294,608 deferred shares of 9p each 62,126 62,126
Second class deferred shares
5,293,888,850 deferred shares of 0.98p each 51,880 51,880

Total deferred shares and second class deferred shares 114,006 114,006

Preference shares
756,000 13.75% cumulative preference shares of £1 each 756 756
349,600 13.75% ‘A’ preference shares of £1 each 350 350

Total preference shares 1,106 1,106

Total issued share capital 116,171 116,171

The Group has only one class of ordinary shares which has no right to fixed income. All the preference shares carry the right, subject to the 
discretion and ability of the Group to distribute profits, to a fixed dividend of 13.75% and rank in priority to the ordinary shares. Given the 
discretionary nature of the dividend right, the preference shares are considered to be equity under IAS 32.

Share warrants
The Company has issued share warrants over a total of 12.5% of its issued share capital to former lenders (with 5.0% issued 28 August 
2009, 2.5% issued 24 April 2012 and 5.0% issued 21 September 2012). Each of the share warrants have the right to subscribe for 0.1533799 
ordinary shares at an exercise price of £1.9745 per share and expire on 30 September 2017. The warrant instruments will be settled by the 
Company delivering a fixed number of ordinary shares and receiving a fixed amount of cash in return and so qualify as equity under IAS 
39. The Binomial Option pricing model was used to assess the fair value of the share warrants issued in the financial year that they were 
issued. At the balance sheet date 30,359,979 warrants were outstanding.

During the period, no ordinary shares of 1 pence each were issued following the exercise of share warrants (2014: 4,833,738), generating  
no cash for the Group (2014: £483,374). 

25. SHARE PREMIUM 
2 January 

2016
£’000

3 January 
2015 

£’000

Opening balance 587,702 502,829
Share premium generated under the Group savings related share option scheme – 64
Placing shares – 2,188
Rights issue – 91,798
Capitalised costs associated with raising new capital – (9,181)
Fractional shares – 4
Share capital reduction (275,000) –

Closing balance 312,702 587,702

At the Group’s Annual General Meeting on 27 June 2014, a special resolution was approved to initiate a process to reduce the Group’s 
share premium account by £275 million. The completion of the capital reduction was confirmed by an Order of the Court of Session, 
Scotland on 29 April 2015 and registered at Companies House on 5 May 2015. Refer to Note 39 for further details on the effect of the 
capital reduction. 
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26. NOTES TO THE CASH FLOW STATEMENT 

Notes

2 January
 2016 

£’000

3 January 
2015 

£’000

Operating profit 1,027 10,713

Adjustments for non cash items:
Impairment of publishing titles 13 35,234 21,568
Write-down of print presses1 – 2,667
Write-down in carrying value of assets held for sale – 300

36,261 35,248
Amortisation of intangible assets 13 1,815 194
Depreciation charges 14 6,553 5,306
Charge for share-based payments 28  2,188 907
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment (968) (1,979)
Pensions administrative expenses – 837
Disposal of interest in associates 12 –
Currency differences (249) (34)

45,612 40,479
Operating items before working capital changes:
Net pension funding contributions – cash 21  (8,928) (14,450)
Movement in long-term provisions (29) 613

Cash generated from operations before workings capital changes 36,655 26,642

Working capital changes:
Decrease in inventories 160 2
Decrease/(Increase) in receivables 2,905 (2,528)
Increase/(Decrease) in payables/including restructuring payables and redundancy accruals1 1,305 (17,798)

Cash generated from operations 41,025 6,318

1 Refer to adjusting items as per the reconciliation of Statutory and Adjusted Numbers on page 110 to 112.

Cash and cash equivalents (which are presented as a single class of assets on the face of the Statement of Financial Position) comprise 
cash at bank and other short-term highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less.

27. COMMITMENTS, GUARANTEES AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Lease commitments
The Group has entered into non-cancellable operating leases in respect of motor vehicles and land and buildings, the payments for which 
extend over a period of years.

Note

2 January 
2016

 £’000

3 January 
2015

 £’000

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense in the year 5 6,012 6,690

At the period end date, the Group had outstanding commitments for future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating 
leases which fall due as follows:

2 January 
2016

£’000

3 January 
2015 

£’000

Within one year 5,347 6,024
In the second to fifth years inclusive 16,376 18,020
After five years 18,324 23,901

Total future minimum lease payments 40,047 47,945

The Group has entered into agreements with certain printers for periods up to 2015 at competitive prices and to secure supply. At the 
period end, the commitment to purchase printing capacity over this period was nil (2014: £0.6 million).

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its office properties and motor vehicle fleet. Leases are 
negotiated for an average term of ten years in the case of properties and four years for vehicles. The rents payable under property leases 
are subject to renegotiation at various intervals specified in the lease contracts. The Group pays insurance, maintenance and repairs of 
these properties. The rents payable for the vehicle fleet are fixed for the full rental period. 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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Assets pledged as security 
Under the new capital refinancing agreement completed on 23 June 2014, the Group and all its material subsidiaries have entered into 
new security arrangements in connection with the new bond issued and the new revolving credit facility. The security provided includes 
fixed and floating charges over all or substantially all of the assets of certain members of the Group and share security over shares of 
certain members of the Group.

Contingent liabilities
Johnston Press Pension Plan 
The Johnston Press Pension Plan (the “Plan”) is subject to a potential increase in its liabilities in the event that historic benefit equalisation 
has not taken effect for a specific group of members. The Group’s lawyers have advised that an application to court should be made for  
a declaration that normal retirement dates for these members were validly equalised as intended, and currently anticipate a successful 
outcome in the case. A court application has been made and the hearing is due to take place in May 2016. No provision has been made  
in the financial statements. Based on advice to the Trustees of the Plan, the Group anticipates the maximum obligation in relation to this 
matter (in the event that the court application is not successful) is expected to be in the region of £8 million.

Iconic Newspapers Limited
On 1 April 2014, the Group entered into a sale agreement with Iconic Newspaper Limited for the sale of the trade and assets of the Group’s 
regional newspapers in the Republic of Ireland, including its Donegal titles, for £7.1 million. As a condition to the sale, Johnston Press plc 
agreed to provide a guarantee in respect of the performance of certain obligations of the entities within the Group making the disposal  
of the trade and assets up to a maximum aggregate limit of £3 million. That guarantee will be effective for up to 36 months following 
completion of the sale.

28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
Group Savings-Related Share Option Scheme
The Group operates a Savings-Related Share Option Scheme. This has been approved by the Inland Revenue and allows options to be 
granted to eligible employees who save amounts deducted from post-tax income monthly under arrangements with the relevant plan 
managers for a period of either three, five or seven years. The Savings-Related Share Option Schemes up to and including 2010 are 
operated by Computershare Plan Managers. The 2013 scheme is operated by Yorkshire Building Society and under a change in HMRC 
rules is for a period of three or five years. The right to exercise is at the discretion of the employee within six months following the end of 
the period of saving.

Options outstanding under the Savings-Related Scheme at the period end:
2 January 2016 3 January 2015

Option grant date
Number of

shares
Issue price 

per share
Number of

 shares
Issue price 
per share

27 September 2007 – – 992 3263.40p 
26 September 2008 4,691 541.95p 5,361 541.95p 
25 September 2009 2,844 412.22p 28,729 412.22p
28 September 2010 76,167 227.01p 91,762 227.01p 
27 September 2013 512,728 191.34p 738,091 191.34p 

The Group recognised a net charge of £122,000 for the period ended 2 January 2016 (3 January 2015: charge of £292,000) related to 
equity-settled share-based payment transactions for the Savings-Related Share Option Scheme.

The above options were granted at the closing mid-market price on the day prior to the invitation being sent to employees on 
3 September 2007, 1 September 2008, 1 September 2009, 1 September 2010 and 30 August 2013 respectively. This follows the approval  
of the revised Sharesave Scheme at the Annual General Meeting in April 2007. A discount of 20% to the average mid-market price was 
applied to the issues up to and including 2009. No discount was applied to the 2010 issue and a discount of 10% was applied to the  
2013 issue.

There were no options granted under the Savings-Related Share Option Scheme in either 2011, 2012, 2014 or 2015.
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28. SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS CONTINUED
Performance Share Plan
The Group makes awards to Executive Directors and certain senior employees on an annual basis under the Performance Share Plan.  
The awards vest after three years if certain performance criteria are met during that period. If the scheme conditions are met at the 
vesting date participants have ten years from the date of grant to exercise the option.

Awards outstanding under the Performance Share Plan at the period end:
2 January 2016 3 January 2015

Grant date Vesting dates
Number of 

shares
Market price 

on award
Number of 

shares
Market price 

on award

21 April 2011 21 April 2014 – – 70,714 106.66p 
11 November 2011 11 November 2014 – – 363,244 68.90p 
14 September 2012 14 September 2015 – – 810,532 79.13p 
21 December 2012 21 December 2015 – – 12,488 209.0p 
5 June 2013 5 June 2016 399,621 250.79p  399,621 250.79p 
12 December 2014 12 December 2017 50,078 159.75p  50,078 159.75p 
26 May 2015 26 May 2018 1,534,374 154.90p – –
24 September 2015 24 September 2018 42,104 93.90p – –

The Group recognised a net charge of £449,000 for the period ended 2 January 2016 (3 January 2015: net charge of £102,000) related  
to equity-settled share-based payment transactions for the Performance Share Plan.

Company Share Option Plan
The Group granted options to certain senior managers to purchase shares in the Group at a certain market price, under the Company 
Share Option Plan. The awards vest after three years provided the employee remains employed by the Group.

Options outstanding under the Company Share Option Plan at the period end:

2 January 2016 3 January 2015

Grant date Vesting dates
Number of 

shares
Market price

on award
Number of 

shares
Market Price

on award

28 June 2012 27 June 2015 244,367 73.00p 306,485 73.00p
5 June 2013 4 June 2016 317,796 250.79p 396,573 250.79p

The Group recognised a net charge of £110,000 for the period ended 2 January 2016 (3 January 2015: net charge of £196,000) related to 
equity-settled share-based payment transactions for the Company Share Option Plan.

Deferred Share Bonus Plan
It is the Group’s policy that a proportion of any bonus paid to Executive Directors and certain senior employees is paid in shares deferred 
for three years. Awards which vest under the plan may only be satisfied using shares purchased in the market. 425,337 (3 January 2015: 
95,243) shares were outstanding in relation to Deferred Share Bonus Plan awards.

The Group recognised a net charge of £nil for the period ended 2 January 2016 (3 January 2015: £85,000) related to equity-settled bonus 
payments for the Deferred Share Bonus Plan.

Value Creation Plan
A Value Creation Plan (VCP) scheme was approved by shareholders at the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 27 June 2014. Awards 
under the scheme were granted on 22 September 2014 to Executive Directors and certain senior employees, a further award was granted 
on 26 May 2015 with a shortened vesting period to coincide with the original scheme vesting dates. Subject to share price performance, 
half the awards will vest on 23 June 2017 with the other half vesting on 23 June 2018 (provided the employee remains with the Company).

Options outstanding under the Value Creation Plan at the period end:

Grant date Number of shares Market price on award Vesting dates

22 September 2014 7,243,559 231.0p 23 June 2017
26 May 2015 697,229 231.0p 23 June 2017

The Group recognised a net charge of £993,000 for the period ended 2 January 2016 (3 January 2015: £232,000) related to equity-settled 
share-based payment transactions for the Value Creation Plan.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
Associated parties
The Group did not undertake any related party transactions during the current or preceding period.

Transactions with Directors
There were no material transactions with Directors of the Company during the year, except for those relating to remuneration and 
shareholdings, disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report.

For the purposes of IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures, management below the level of the Company’s Board are not regarded as  
related parties.

The remuneration of the Directors at the year-end, who are the key management personnel of the Group, is set out in aggregate in the 
audited part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report on page 43.

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
a) Capital risk management
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as going concerns while maximising the return 
to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which includes the borrowings disclosed in Note 20, cash and cash equivalents and 
equity attributable to equity holders of the parent, comprising issued share capital, reserves and retained earnings as disclosed in Note 24 
and in the Group Statement of Changes in Equity.

b) Gearing ratio
The Board of Directors formally reviews the capital structure of the Group when considering any major corporate transactions. As part of 
these reviews, the Board considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on the recommendations 
of the Board, the Group will balance its overall capital structure when appropriate through new share issues and share buy-backs as well 
as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

The gearing ratio at the period end is as follows:
2 January

2016 
£’000

3 January
2015

£’000

Debt 186,619 215,437
Cash and cash equivalents (40,564) (30,817)

Net debt (excluding the impact of cross-currency hedges) 146,055 184,620
Equity 259,015 199,981
Gearing ratio 36.1% 48.0%

Debt is defined as long and short-term borrowings as detailed in Note 20. Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group 
attributable to equity holders of the parent.

c) Externally imposed capital requirements
The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

d) Significant accounting policies
Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of measurement and 
the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial liability and equity instrument 
are disclosed in Note 2 to the financial statements.

e) Categories of financial instruments
2 January

2016 
£’000

3 January
2015 

£’000

Financial assets (current and non-current)
Trade receivables 22,500 25,095
Cash and cash equivalents 40,564 30,817
Available for sale financial assets 970 970

Financial liabilities (current and non-current)
Trade payables (17,112) (7,510)
Borrowings (186,619) (215,437)
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
f) Financial risk management objectives
The Group’s treasury function supports the business and monitors and, with Group finance, manages the financial risks relating to the 
operations of the Group through assessment of the exposures by degree and magnitude of risk. These risks include market risk (including 
currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk, liquidity risk and cash flow interest rate risk.

The use of financial derivatives is governed by the Group’s policies approved by the Board and guidelines agreed with the Group’s lenders 
that must be operated within. The Group does not enter into or trade in financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, 
for speculative purposes.

The Group finance function reports regularly to the Executive Directors and the Board.

g) Market risk
The Group’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates (refer to section i) and foreign currency exchange 
(refer to section h).

At a Group and Company level, market risk exposures are assessed using sensitivity analyses.

There have been no significant changes to the Group’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and measures risk.

h) Foreign currency risk management
The Group undertakes certain operational transactions denominated in foreign currencies, hence exposures to exchange rate 
fluctuations arise.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities at the reporting date are as follows:

Liabilities Assets

2 January
2016 

£’000

3 January
2015 

£’000

2 January
 2016 

£’000

3 January
2015 

£’000

Euro
Trade receivables – – 384 –
Cash and cash equivalents – – 1,473 2,632
Trade payables (589) (475) – –

US dollar
Cash and cash equivalents – – 64 456
Trade payables (182) (30) – –

Foreign currency sensitivity
The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% change in pounds sterling against the euro and a 5% change in pounds sterling 
against the US dollar. These percentages are the rates used by management when assessing sensitivities internally and represent 
management’s assessment of the possible change in foreign currency rates.

The Group does not hedge the euro income or deposits or trade payables because the risk of foreign exchange movements is not 
deemed to be significant.

The sensitivity analysis of the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk at the reporting date has been determined based on the change 
taking place at the beginning of the financial year and held constant throughout the reporting period. A positive number indicates an 
increase in profit or loss and other equity where pounds sterling strengthens against the respective currency. For a 5% weakening of the 
sterling against the relevant currency, there is an equal and opposite impact on profit or loss and other equity, and the balances below 
reverse signs.

Euro currency impact US dollar currency impact

5% strengthening of pounds sterling (GBP)

2 January
2016

£’000

3 January
 2015

£’000

2 January
 2016

£’000

3 January
 2015

£’000

Profit or loss (81) (124) 6 (12)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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i) Interest rate risk management
As mentioned in Note 20 (Borrowings), the Group issued 8.625% senior secured notes (Bond) which has fixed the interest costs for the 
Group borrowings and is viewed appropriate by the Executive Directors and the Board. As a result the Group no longer has the need  
to use financial derivatives.

In addition the Group’s new undrawn Revolving Credit Facility (RCF) carries a floating interest rate if utilised. 

Measurement
Financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are grouped into 3 levels based on the extent  
to which the fair value is observable. The levels are classified as follows:

Level 1: fair value is based on quoted prices in active markets for identified financial assets and liabilities.

Level 2: fair value is determined using directly observable inputs other than level 1 inputs.

Level 3: fair value is determined on inputs not based on observable market data.

The available for sale investments are classified as Level 3 financial instruments. There have been no transfers between the various levels  
of the fair value hierarchy during the period.

j) Credit risk management
Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the Group. The Group 
has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties as a way of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. The 
Group’s policy on dealing with trade customers is described in Notes 2 and 19.

The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored. As far as possible, the aggregate value  
of transactions is spread across a number of approved counterparties.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers, spread across diverse industries and geographical areas. On-going credit 
evaluation is performed on the financial condition of accounts receivable.

The Group does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties having similar 
characteristics, the latter being defined as connected entities, other than with some of the larger advertising agencies. In the case of the 
latter, a close relationship exists between the Group and the agencies and appropriate allowances for doubtful debts are in place. The 
credit risk on liquid funds and derivative financial instruments is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings 
assigned by international credit-rating agencies, and the funds and financial instruments are held with a number of banks to spread 
the risk.

The following table shows the total estimated exposure to credit risk for all of the Group’s financial assets, excluding trade receivables 
which are discussed in Note 19:

2 January 2016 3 January 2015

Note

Carrying 
value 
£’000

Exposure to
credit risk 

£’000 

Carrying 
value 
£’000

Exposure to 
credit risk 

£’000

Available for sale investments 15 970 – 970 –
Cash and cash equivalents 40,564 – 30,817 –

41,534 – 31,787 –

k) Liquidity risk management
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Board of Directors, which has agreed an appropriate liquidity  
risk management framework for the management of the Group’s short, medium and long-term funding and liquidity management 
requirements. The Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves, banking facilities and borrowing facilities by 
continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities. Included  
in Note 20 is a description of additional undrawn facilities that the Group has at its disposal to further reduce liquidity risk.

Liquidity risk is further discussed in the Financial Review on page 23.

31. POST BALANCE SHEET EVENTS
On 12 February 2016 the Group announced its intention to purchase i, part on the Independent Group, for a total consideration  
of £24 million, £22 million payable on completion and £2 million payable in April 2017. The purchase was approved by shareholders  
on 21 March 2016 and is expected to complete on 10 April 2016.

There have been no other post-balance sheet events requiring disclosure.
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Group Five-Year Summary1

2 January
 20161,2

£’000

3 January
 20151,2

£’000

28 December 
20131

£’000

29 December 
20121

£’000

31 December 
20111

£’000

Income statement
Revenue 245,089 268,823 302,799 328,691 373,845

Operating (loss)/profit on ordinary activities3 1,027 10,713 (245,670) 40,441 (106,979)
Share of associates’ operating profit – – 2 6 10

(Loss)/Profit before interest and taxation 1,027 10,713 (245,668) 40,447 (106,969)
Net finance costs 1,866 (34,629) (41,167) (47,212) (36,834)

(Loss)/Profit before taxation 2,893 (23,916) (286,835) (6,765) (143,803)
Taxation 8,538 8,580 74,869 12,376 54,866

(Loss)/Profit for the year 11,431 (15,336) (211,966) 5,611 (88,937)

Statistics
Earnings4 11,279 (15,488) (212,118) 5,459 (89,089)
Weighted average number of shares4 105, 281 3,520,000 647,804 621,759 625,712

Basic earnings/(loss) per share 10.71 (0.44) (32.74p) 0.88p (14.24p)

Operating profit3 to turnover 0.4% 4.0% (81.1%) 12.3% (28.5%)

Balance sheet
Intangible assets 479,047 514,324 541,360 742,294 742,851
Property, plant and equipment 52,713 53,334 54,181 127,223 171,154
Investments 970 992 992 990 984
Derivative financial instruments – – – 2,742 –

532,730 568,650 596,533 873,249 914,989

Net current assets/(liabilities) 18,506 15,824 (14,737) 16,829 (340,805)

Total assets and current assets/(liabilities) 551, 236 584,474 581,796 890,078 574,184
Non-current liabilities (288,580) (215,439) (314,999) (334,362) (454)
Long-term provisions (3,641) (169,054) (169,714) (281,799) (289,366)

Net assets 259,015 199,981 97,083 273,917 284,364

Shareholders’ funds
Ordinary shares 115,065 115,065 68,435 63,975 63,975
Preference shares 1,106 1,106 1,106 1,106 1,106
Reserves 142,844 83,810 27,542 208,836 219,283

Capital employed 259,015 199,981 97,083 273,917 284,364

1 All periods related to 52 trading weeks with the exception of 3 January 2015 which was a 53-week period.
2  Adjusted for the adoption of IAS19R and for the disposal of the Republic of Ireland business on 1 April 2014.
3  Before exceptional and IAS21/39 items.
4  In line with IAS 33, the preference dividend and the number of preference shares are excluded from the calculation of earnings per share.
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Company Balance Sheet
As at 2 January 2016

Notes

2 January
 2016 

£’000

3 January
2015 

£’000

Fixed assets
Tangible 33 187 209
Investments 34 353,528 376,434

353,715 376,643

Current assets
Debtors – due within one year 35 411,148 530,509
Debtors – due after more than one year 35 627 816
Cash at bank and in hand 10,061 12,472

421,836 543,797
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 36 (45,020) (165,085)

Net current assets 376,816 378,712

Total assets less current liabilities 730,531 755,355
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 37 (216,287) (221,193)
Provisions for liabilities 38 (839) (1,443)

Net assets 513,405 532,719

Capital and reserves
Called-up share capital
Ordinary 24 115,065 115,065
Preference 24 1,106 1,106

116,171 116,171
Reserves 39 397,234 416,548

Shareholders’ funds 40 513,405 532,719

The comparative numbers are as at 3 January 2015.

The financial statements of Johnston Press plc, registered in Scotland (number 15382), were approved by the Board of Directors on 
22 March 2016 and were signed on its behalf by:

 
Ashley Highfield  David King
Chief Executive Officer  Chief Financial Officer 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.
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32. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Basis of accounting and preparation
The separate financial statements of the Company are presented as required by the Companies Act 2006. The company meets the 
definition of a qualifying entity under FRS 100 (Financial Reporting Standard 100) issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly, 
in the 52 weeks ended 2 January 2016 the company has decided to adopt FRS 102 and has undergone transition from reporting under 
United Kingdom Accounting Standards to FRS 102 as issued by the Financial Reporting Council. Accordingly, the financial statements 
have therefore been prepared in accordance with FRS 102 (Financial Reporting Standard 102) ‘The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland’ as issued by the Financial Reporting Council. This transition is not considered to have had  
a material effect on the financial statements.

The Company’s result for the period, determined in accordance with the Act, was a loss of £20,955,000 (3 January 2015: loss of 
£47,078,000). The financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for financial instruments, unlisted 
investments and share-based payments as explained in the principal accounting policies adopted set out below.

The 2016 period was for the 52 weeks ended 2 January 2016 with the prior year being for the 53 weeks ended 3 January 2015.

Going concern 
The Directors have, at the time of approving the financial statements, a reasonable expectation that both the Company and the Group 
have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting in preparing the financial statements. Further detail is contained in Note 1 within the section on ‘going concern’.

Tangible fixed assets
Tangible fixed asset balances are shown at cost, net of depreciation and any provision for impairment. Depreciation is provided on  
all property, plant and equipment, excluding land, at varying rates calculated to write-off cost over the useful lives. The principal rates 
employed are:

Plant and machinery   20% straight-line basis

Investments
Investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment. Unlisted investments are shown at 
Directors’ valuation. Upward revaluations are credited to the revaluation reserve. Downward revaluations in excess of any previous upward 
revaluations are taken to the Profit and Loss Account.

Borrowings
Interest-bearing loans and bank overdrafts are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs. Finance charges, including 
premia payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are charged to the Profit and Loss Account using the effective 
interest method and are added to the carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which 
they arise. Fees incurred in negotiating borrowings are held on the Balance Sheet and amortised to the Profit and Loss Account over the 
term of the underlying debt.

Taxation
Current tax, including UK corporation tax and foreign tax, is provided at amounts expected to be paid (or recovered) using the tax rates 
and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the period end date where 
transactions or events that result in an obligation to pay more tax in the future or a right to pay less tax in the future have occurred  
at the period end date. Timing differences are differences between the Company’s taxable profits and its results as stated in the  
financial statements that arise from the inclusion of gains and losses in tax assessments in periods different from those in which  
they are recognised in the financial statements.

Deferred tax is measured at the average tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which the timing differences are expected 
to reverse, based on tax rates and laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the period end date.

Share-based payments
The Company issues equity settled share-based benefits to certain employees. These share-based payments are measured at their fair 
value at the date of grant and the fair value of expected shares is expensed to the Profit and Loss Account on a straight-line basis over the 
vesting period. Fair value is measured by use of the Black-Scholes model, as amended to take account of the Directors’ best estimate of 
probable share vesting and exercise.

Dividends
Dividends payable to the Company’s shareholders are recorded as a liability in the period in which the dividends are approved. In the 
Company’s financial statements, dividends receivable from subsidiaries are recognised as assets in the period in which the dividends  
are approved.

Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Balance Sheet when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of that instrument.

Notes to the Company Financial Statements
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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The Company’s activities and funding structure give rise to some exposure to the financial risks of changes in interest rates and foreign 
currency exchange rates. The Company uses interest rate swaps and cross-currency interest rate swaps to manage these exposures.  
The Company does not use derivative financial instruments for speculative purposes.

Changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments are recognised directly in the Profit and Loss Account.

Full details of the Group policy are summarised on Note 30.

Retirement benefit obligations
The Company participates in a Group-wide scheme, the Johnston Press Pension Plan, which has a defined benefit section (providing 
benefits based on final pensionable pay) and a defined contribution section (see Note 21). The assets of the scheme are held separately 
from those of the Company. The pension costs for the defined contribution section are charged to the Profit and Loss Account on the 
basis of contributions due in respect of the financial year. In relation to the defined benefit section of the scheme, the Company is unable 
to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities on a consistent and reliable basis and therefore, as required by FRS 17, the 
Company accounts for this scheme as a defined contribution scheme. As a result, the amount charged to the Profit and Loss Account  
in respect of the defined benefit section represents the contributions payable to the scheme in respect of the period.

33. TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

Plant and
machinery 

£’000

Cost
At 3 January 2015 240
Additions 9
Disposal (9)

At 2 January 2016 240

Depreciation
At 3 January 2015 31
Charge for the period 31
Disposal (9)

At 2 January 2016 53

Carrying amount 
At 3 January 2015 209

At 2 January 2016 187

34. INVESTMENTS 

Subsidiary
undertakings 

£’000 

Unlisted
investments 

£’000
Total

 £’000

Cost
At the start of the period 1,106,997 3,526 1,110,523
Amounts relating to share-based payments 850 – 850

At the end of the period 1,107,847 3,526 1,111,373

Provisions for impairment

At the start of the period (730,563) (3,526) (734,089)
Provision for impairment of investment in subsidiaries (23,756) – (23,756)

At the end of the period (754,319) (3,526) (757,845)

Net book value 
At the start of the period 376,434 – 376,434

At the end of the period 353,528 – 353,528

An impairment charge has been reflected in the financial statements of the Group. Full details are explained in Note 13. Inevitably this 
affects the value of the investments held by the parent company and the element of the impairment of intangible assets relating to the 
investments held by the Company only has been processed as an impairment of investments.
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34. INVESTMENTS CONTINUED
The Company’s subsidiary undertakings are as follows:

Name of company
Country of incorporation 
and operation

Proportion of
ownership interest Nature of business

Johnston Press Bond Plc England 100% Financing
Johnston Publishing Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers
Johnston Press Ireland Ltd1 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers
Isle of Man Newspapers Ltd1 Isle of Man 100% Newspaper publishers 
Score Press Ltd Scotland 100% Holding company
Score Press Ireland1 Republic of Ireland 100% Holding company
The Scotsman Publications Ltd Scotland 100% Newspaper publishers 
Ackrill Newspapers Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers
Anglia Newspapers Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Angus County Press Ltd1 Scotland 100% Newspaper publishers 
Blackpool Gazette & Herald Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers
Derry Journal Ltd1 Northern Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers 
East Lancashire Newspapers Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers
East Midlands Newspapers Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers
Galloway Gazette Ltd1 Scotland 100% Newspaper publishers 
Halifax Courier Holdings Ltd England 100% Holding company
Halifax Courier Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Isle of Man Courier Holdings Ltd1 Isle of Man 100% Holding company
Johnston (Falkirk) Ltd Scotland 100% Newspaper publishers
Johnston Letterbox Direct Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers
Lancashire Evening Post Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers
Lancashire Publications Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers
Lancaster & Morecambe Newspapers Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers
Love News Media Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Morton Newspapers Ltd1 Northern Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers and 

printers
Northeast Press Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Northamptonshire Newspapers Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Portsmouth & Sunderland Newspapers Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Portsmouth Publishing & Printing Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers and 

printers
Premier Newspapers Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Sheffield Newspapers Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers and 

printers
South Yorkshire Newspapers Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers
Stornoway Gazette Ltd1 Scotland 100% Newspaper publishers 
Strachan & Livingston Ltd Scotland 100% Newspaper publishers
Sussex Newspapers Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers
The Scotsman Publications Limited1 Scotland 100% Newspaper publishers
The Tweeddale Press Ltd1 Scotland 100% Newspaper publishers 
Wilfred Edmunds Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers
Yorkshire Post Newspapers Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Yorkshire Regional Newspapers Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers
Yorkshire Weekly Newspaper Group Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers
Bedfordshire Newspapers Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Caledonian Offset Limited England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Central Counties Newspapers Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Century Newspapers Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Century Press & Publishing Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
F Johnson & Co Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Johnston Publishing (North) Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Lincolnshire Newspapers Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Lincolnshire Standard Group1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Local Press Ltd England 100% Holding company
Minthill Ltd England 100% Holding company
Montrose Press Review1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
MRP Holdings Ltd England 100% Holding company
North Notts Newspapers Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Northampton Web Ltd1 England 100% Contract printers
Peterboro’ Web Ltd England 100% Contract printers
Regional Independent Media Acquisition Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Regional Independent Media Funding 1 Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Regional Independent Media Funding 2 Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Regional Independent Media Group Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 

Notes to the Company Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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ownership interest Nature of business

Regional Independent Media Holdings Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Regional Interactive Media Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Southern Web Offset Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
T R Beckett Ltd England 100% Newspaper publishers 
The Reporter Ltd1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Welland Valley Newspapers1 England 100% Newspaper publishers 
Kilkenny People Publishing Ltd1,2 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers
Leinster Express Newspapers Ltd1,2 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers 
Leinster Leader Ltd1,2 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers 
Leitrim Observer Ltd1,2 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers 
Limerick Leader Ltd1,2 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers
Donegal Democrat Ltd1,2 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers 
Longford Leader Ltd1,2 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers 
Kilkenny People Holding Ltd1 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers
Leader Print Ltd1 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers
Leinster Express Printing Unlimited Company1 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers
Limerickman Unlimited Company1 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers
Munster Tribune Unlimited Company1 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers
The Nationalist Newspaper Unlimited Company1 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers
Thomas Roe Unlimited Company1 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers
Wellbrook Press Unlimited Company1 Republic of Ireland 100% Newspaper publishers

1   Held through a subsidiary.
2   As part of the disposal of the Republic of Ireland business In 2014, the newspaper titles, trades and certain assets of the Company’s subsidiaries were sold to Iconic 

Newspapers Limited.

There is no difference in the proportions of ownership interest shown above and the voting power held. All investments in subsidiary 
undertakings are held at cost less, where appropriate, provisions for impairment.

All subsidiaries have been included within the consolidated accounts.

35. DEBTORS

2 January
2016

£’000 

3 January
2015

£’000

Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 395,599 518,812
Group relief receivable 14,516 10,360
Trade and other debtors and prepayments 1,033 1,337

411,148 530,509

Amounts falling due after more than one year
Deferred tax asset – see below 627 816

The following are the major deferred tax assets recognised by the Company and movements thereon during the year:

Accelerated tax 
depreciation 

£’000

Pension
 balances 

£’000

Other timing 
differences 

£’000
Total 

£’000

At the start of the period 2 289 525 816

Charge to equity relating to unfunded pensions – (122) – (122)
Charge to profit and loss account (3) – (54) (57)
Prior year adjustment (2) – – (2)
Effect of change in tax rates on equity – (8) – (8)

At the end of the period (3) 159 471 627
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36. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR

2 January
 2016 

£’000 

3 January
 2015 

£’000

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 41,000 159,337
Other taxes and social security costs 147 420
Trade creditors 1,334 783
Accruals and deferred income 2,539 4,545

45,020 165,085

37. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

2 January 
2016 

£’000 

3 January
 2015 

£’000

Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings 215,600 220,500
Accruals and deferred income 687 693

216,287 221,193

38. PROVISIONS FOR LIABILITIES

2 January 
2016 

£’000 

3 January
 2015 

£’000

Unfunded pensions 839 1,443

The unfunded pension provision is assessed by a qualified actuary at each period end. Refer to Note 21 for further details.

39. RESERVES
 

Share 
premium 

£’000

Share–based 
payments

 reserve 
£’000

Retained 
earnings 

£’000

Own 
shares 
£’000

Total 
£’000

Opening balance 587,702 13,785 (179,733) (5,206) 416,548
Loss for the period – – (20,955) – (20,965)
Dividends (Note 11) – – (152) – (152)
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension schemes – – 483 – 483
Provision for share-based payments – 2,188 – – 2,188
Capital reduction (275,000) – 275,000 – –
Release of share-based payment reserve for funds no longer 

required – (8,666) 6,503 2,163 –
PSP plan exercised – (321) – 321 –
Deferred bonus shares exercised – (18) – 18 –
Company share option plan exercised – – – 17 17
Own shares purchased – – – (895) (895)

At the end of the period 312,702 6,968 81,146 (3,582) 397,234

The own shares reserve represents the cost of shares in Johnston Press plc purchased in the market and held by the Johnston Press plc 
Employee Share Trust (the “JP EST”) to satisfy options under the Group’s share options schemes (see Note 28). The number of ordinary 
shares held by the JP EST as at 2 January 2016 was 596,388 (3 January 2015: 473,944). 

At the Company’s Annual General Meeting on 27 June 2014, a special resolution was approved to initiate a process to reduce the 
Company’s share premium account by £275 million. This was approved by the Court of Session in May 2015. The capital reduction 
eliminated the accumulated deficit of £179.7 million on the Company’s profit and loss account and create positive distributable reserves  
of £95.3 million. This enabled the Company to pay out dividends in respect of its two classes of preference shares in the 2015 year and  
in respect of unpaid dividends from 2014. Refer to the table below for further details.

Notes to the Company Financial Statements continued
For the 52 week period ended 2 January 2016
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Capital reduction – Share premium

3 January 
2015 

£’000 

Capital 
reduction 

£’000

Post-capital 
reduction

£’000

Share premium 587,702 (275,000) 312,702
Retained earnings (179,733) 275,000 95,267

407,969 – 407,969

40. SHAREHOLDERS’ FUNDS 

2 January 
2016 

£’000 

3 January
 2015 

£’000

(Loss)/profit for the year after taxation (20,955) (47,078)
Actuarial gain on defined benefit pension schemes 483 –
Dividends (Note 11) (152) (152)
Provision for share–based payments (Note 28) 2,188 907
Group savings-related share option scheme – 68
Placing shares – 2,188
Rights issue – 91,798
Refinancing costs – (9,181)
Options exercised 17 29
Own shares purchased (895) –
Proceeds of issue of ordinary shares – 46,630

Net increase/(decrease) in shareholders’ funds (19,314) 85,209

Opening shareholders’ funds 532,719 447,510

Closing shareholders’ funds 513,405 532,719
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ADJUSTING ITEMS – OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION
Consolidated Income Statement – Reconciliation of Statutory and Adjusted Numbers

52 weeks ended 2 January 2016 53 weeks ended 3 January 2015

Notes
Statutory

 £’000s
Adjusting items

£’000s
Adjusted

£’000s
Statutory

 £’000s
Adjusting items

£’000s
Adjusted

£’000s

Advertising revenue
Print advertising A 119,607 (1,553) 118,054 138,087 (4,042) 134,045
Digital advertising A 31,719 (1,091) 30,628 29,116 (1,869) 27,247

Total advertising revenue 151,326 (2,644) 148,682 167,203 (5,911) 161,292

Non advertising revenue
Newspaper sales A 72,461 (78) 72,383 79,100 (1,308) 77,792
Contract printing A 12,627 – 12,627 12,820 (200) 12,620
Leaflet, sundry and other A 8,675 (103) 8,572 9,700 (1,441) 8,259

Total other revenue 93,763 (181) 93,582 101,620 (2,949) 98,671

Total continuing revenues 245,089 (2,825) 242,264 268,823 (8,860) 259,963

Cost of sales B (132,243) 2,616 (129,627) (146,259) 5,874 (140,385)
Operating costs (103,450) (103,450) (106,351) (106,351)

Restructuring costs C 9,362 10,896
Impairment of publishing titles D 35,234 24,535
Other E 3,484 11,495

Total adjustments 48,080 48,080 46,926 46,926

Total operating costs (103,450) 48,080 (55,370) (106,351) 46,926 (59,425)

Total costs (235,693) 50,696 (184,997) (252,610) 52,800 (199,810)

EBITDA 9,396 47,871 57,267 16,213 43,940 60,153

Depreciation and amortisation F (8,369) 1,668 (6,701) (5,500) 11 (5,489)

Operating profit/(loss) 1,027 49,539 50,566 10,713 43,951 54,664
Investment income 854 – 854 2,209 – 2,209
Net finance expense on pension 

assets/liabilities G (2,933) 2,933 – (3,330)  3,330 –
Fair value gain on borrowings H 23,918 (23,918) – 5,063 (5,063) –
Other – – – 1,662 (1,662) –
Finance cost I (19,973) 84 (19,889) (40,233) 9,046 (31,187)

Finance costs 1,866 (20,901) (19,035) (34,629) 5,651 (28,978)

Profit/(Loss) before tax 2,893 28,638 31,531 (23,916) 49,602 25,686

Tax 8,538 (14,959) (6,421) 8,580 (14,978) (6,398)

Profit/(Loss) from continuing 
operations 11,431 13,679 25,110 (15,336) 34,624 19,288

Net profit/(Loss) from 
discontinued operations – – – 236 – 236

Consolidated profit/(Loss) for the 
period 11,431 13,679 25,110 (15,100) 34,624 19,524

Non-GAAP measures
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A Revenue
Revenue adjustment split for 52 weeks ending 2 January 2016

Statutory
 £’000s

Week 53
£’000s

A1

Closed titles
£’000s

A2

Digital brands
 £’000s

A3

Letterbox
£’000s

A4

Total 
adjusting

£’000s
Adjusted

£’000s

Advertising revenue
Print advertising 119,607 – (1,553) – – (1,553) 118,054
Digital advertising 31,719 – (16) (1,075) – (1,091) 30,628

Total advertising revenue 151,326 – (1,569) (1,075) – (2,644) 148,682

Non advertising revenue
Newspaper sales 72,461 – (78) – – (78) 72,383
Contract printing 12,627 – – – – – 12,627
Other 8,675 – (103) – – (103) 8,572

Total other revenue 93,763 – (181) – – (181) 93,582

Total continuing revenues 245,089 – (1,750) (1,075) – (2,825) 242,264

Revenue adjustment split for 53 weeks ending 3 January 2015

Statutory
 £’000s

Week 53
£’000s

A1

Closed titles
£’000s

A2

Digital brands
 £’000s

A3

Letterbox
£’000s

A4

Total 
adjusting

£’000s
Adjusted

£’000s

Advertising revenue
Print advertising 138,087 (1,200) (2,842) – – (4,042) 134,045
Digital advertising 29,116 (300) (4) (1,565) – (1,869) 27,247

Total advertising revenue 167,203 (1,500) (2,846) (1,565) – (5,911) 161,292

Non advertising revenue
Newspaper sales 79,100 (1,200) (108) – – (1,308) 77,792
Contract printing 12,820 (200) – – – (200) 12,620
Other 9,700 – (166) – (1,275) (1,441) 8,259

Total other revenue 101,620 (1,400) (274) – (1,275) (2,949) 98,671

Total continuing revenues 268,823 (2,900) (3,120) (1,565) (1,275) (8,860) 259,963

A1 Week 53
In the comparative figure there are revenue adjustments for week 53 of £2,900k, 2014 was a 53-week period and as such an additional 
weeks’ worth revenue and cost will have been recognised.

A2 Closed titles
As part of the review of the Group’s portfolio, 17 small titles were closed or merged in the second half of the year. Total revenue of £1,750k 
(2014: £3,120k) has been adjusted.

A3 Digital brands
Revenue of £641k (2014: £774k) for DealMonster and £434k (2014: £792k) for Business Directory has been adjusted for the closure of these 
businesses in the second half of the period. 

A4 Letterbox direct
In the comparative period £1,275k for Letterbox Direct (LD). The leaflet delivery section of LD was outsourced to Mediaforce in October 2014.
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B Cost of sales
Cost of sales associated with Closed Titles of £1,893k (2014: £2,300k), DealMonster £633k (2014: £682k), Business Directory £90k (2014: £117k) 
have been adjusted for. In the comparative figure £1,500k and £1,275k have been adjusted for week 53 and the outsourcing of LD respectively.

C Restructuring costs
In order to transform the Group from a traditional print-based business into a digital content provider serving local audiences significant 
cost reduction activities have been required. Restructuring largely includes £4.5 million relating to reorganisations announced in Q4 of 
2015, this continues into 2016. Other restructuring costs include early lease termination costs, empty property costs, dilapidations and 
dual-running office cost of £0.8 million (2014: £1.3 million), and other associated legal and consulting fees of £4.0 million (2014: £2.3 million).

Full year business restructuring cash cost amounted to £3,999k (2014: £2,294) and redundancy cash cost amounted to £8,469k (2014: £17,210k).

D Impairment of publishing titles
An impairment of £35,234k has been recognised in relation to publishing titles. In 2014 £24,535k was recognised for the impairment  
of publishing titles. 

E Other
Other cost include Pension Protection Fund Levy costs of £1,221k (2014: £2,038k). During 2015 the pension regulators requested cash 
payment for the Pension Protection Fund Levy of £0.7 million. The pension levy was charged at the capped rate, reflecting historic  
high gearing. The charge has fallen and is expected to reduce as reduced gearing and flexible apportionment is reflected in the  
levy assessment.

Long-term incentive plans of senior management totalling £1,589k (2014:£5,228k).

Other costs include pension administration for closed defined benefit pension scheme, one-off legal costs and disposal gains.

F Depreciation and amortisation
Accelerated depreciation and amortisation largely relating to the consumer database.

G Net finance expense on pension assets/liabilities
Net pension interest expense of £2,933k (2014: £3,330k) required under IAS 19 has been adjusted (see Note 21).

H Fair value gain on borrowings
Fair value adjustments on external bonds held of £23,918k (2014: £5,063k) required under IAS 39 were adjusted for. 

I Finance cost
Cost of terminating financing arrangements on refinancing in 2014 were adjusted for.

Non-GAAP measures continued
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